### ASSESSMENT OF THE ROLE OF NUCLEAR POWER ON ENERGY POLICIES AND CLIMATE CHANGE MITIGATION STRATEGIES OF DEVELOPING COUNTRIES

## A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE SCHOOL OF NATURAL AND APPLIED SCIENCES OF MIDDLE EAST TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY

BY

GÖRKEM GÜNGÖR

## IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE IN EARTH SYSTEM SCIENCE

JULY 2020

## Approval of the thesis:

### ASSESSMENT OF THE ROLE OF NUCLEAR POWER ON ENERGY POLICIES AND CLIMATE CHANGE MITIGATION STRATEGIES OF DEVELOPING COUNTRIES

submitted by **GÖRKEM GÜNGÖR** in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of **Master of Science in Earth System Science Department, Middle East Technical University** by,

Prof. Dr. Halil Kalıpçılar Dean, Graduate School of <b>Natural and Applied Sciences</b>	
Prof. Dr. Bülent Akınoğlu Head of Department, <b>Earth System Science</b>	
Prof. Dr. Ramazan Sarı Supervisor, <b>Business Administration Department, METU</b>	
Examining Committee Members:	
Assoc. Prof. Dr. Ayşen Sivrikaya Department of Economics, Hacettepe University	
Prof. Dr. Ramazan Sarı Department of Business Administration, METU	
Prof. Dr. Uğur Soytaş Department of Business Administration, METU	

Date: 22.07.2020

I hereby declare that all information in this document has been obtained and presented in accordance with academic rules and ethical conduct. I also declare that, as required by these rules and conduct, I have fully cited and referenced all material and results that are not original to this work.

Name, Surname: Görkem Güngör

Signature :

#### ABSTRACT

### ASSESSMENT OF THE ROLE OF NUCLEAR POWER ON ENERGY POLICIES AND CLIMATE CHANGE MITIGATION STRATEGIES OF DEVELOPING COUNTRIES

Güngör, Görkem M.S., Department of Earth System Science Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Ramazan Sarı

July 2020, 244 pages

Nuclear energy is considered as one of the climate change mitigation options in the energy supply sector by substituting electricity generated from base load fossil fueled power plants reducing GHG emissions. Internalizing the costs of  $CO_2$  emissions provides an additional economic incentive for investment in nuclear energy both in developed and developing countries. While developed countries with stable energy demand are focused on the robustness and resilience of their energy systems, the priority of developing countries continues to be the strengthening of energy security in order to supply their increasing energy demand. Climate change is one of the major global commons problems of our society which requires long-term and ambitious strategies in order to transform the socioeconomic development to low-carbon energy pathways. The role of nuclear energy in transformation of the energy sector has been assessed by the climate change community on regional and global scales using various integrated assessment models. However there is a gap between the results of these studies and the quantitative commitments of countries for climate change mitigation in their NDCs submitted to the UNFCCC resulting in higher GHG emissions. In this study I show that the role of low-carbon energy supply options for climate change

mitigation depends on global socioeconomic development pathways especially for developing countries already facing a transition in their economies and energy systems. The role of nuclear energy for supplying the electricity required for developing countries is dependent on global socio-economic pathways supporting investment in most stringent GHG emissions scenarios. Expert elicitation was used for MCA of energy supply system modeling results by integrating  $CO_2$  emissions from power sector, flexibility of the electricity grid to supply peak load demand, change in welfare from carbon tax and transfer of revenues for subsidizing renewable energy, and the total discounted energy system costs. The results show that for the second commitment period of the Paris Agreement, the role of nuclear energy is for supporting the transition of the energy system to a low carbon future for both green transformation and regional rivalry scenarios.

Keywords: nuclear energy, climate change mitigation, energy transition, expert elicitation

## GELİŞMEKTE OLAN ÜLKELERİN ENERJİ POLİTİKALARINDA VE İKLİM DEĞİŞİKLİĞİ AZALTIMI STRATEJİLERİNDE NÜKLEER ENERJİNİN ROLÜNÜN DEĞERLENDİRİLMESİ

Güngör, Görkem Yüksek Lisans, Yer Sistemi Bilimleri Bölümü Tez Yöneticisi: Prof. Dr. Ramazan Sarı

Temmuz 2020, 244 sayfa

Nükleer enerji, sera gazı emisyonlarını azaltan baz yük fosil yakıtlı enerji santrallerinden üretilen elektriğin yerini alarak enerji tedarik sektöründeki iklim değişikliğini azaltma seçeneklerinden biri olarak kabul edilmektedir.  $CO_2$  emisyon maliyetlerinin içselleştirilmesi, hem gelişmiş hem de gelişmekte olan ülkelerde nükleer enerjiye yatırım için ek bir ekonomik teşvik sağlar. İstikrarlı enerji talebi olan gelişmiş ülkeler enerji sistemlerinin sağlamlığına ve dayanıklılığına odaklanırken, gelişmekte olan ülkelerin önceliği artan enerji talebini karşılamak için enerji güvenliğinin güçlendirilmesi olmaya devam etmektedir. İklim değişikliği, sosyoekonomik kalkınmayı düşük karbonlu enerji yollarına dönüştürmek için uzun vadeli ve iddialı stratejiler gerektiren toplumumuzun en büyük küresel ortak sorunlarından biridir. Nükleer enerjinin enerji sektörünün dönüşümündeki rolü, iklim değişikliği topluluğu tarafından çeşitli birleşik değerlendirme modelleri kullanılarak bölgesel ve küresel ölçeklerde değerlendirilmiştir. Bununla birlikte, bu çalışmaların sonuçları ile ülkelerin Birleşmiş Milletler İklim Değişikliği Çerçeve Sözleşmesine sundukları ulusal taahhütlerde iklim değişikliğinin azaltılmasına yönelik nicel taahhütleri arasında daha yüksek sera gazı emisyonu ile sonuçlanan bir boşluk vardır. Bu çalışmada, iklim değişikliğinin azaltılması için düşük karbonlu enerji arz seçeneklerinin rolünün, özellikle ekonomilerinde ve enerji sistemlerinde bir geçişle karşı karşıya olan gelişmekte olan ülkeler için küresel sosyoekonomik kalkınma yollarına bağlı olduğunu gösterdim. Nükleer enerjinin gelişmekte olan ülkeler için gerekli elektriğin sağlanmasındaki rolü, en katı sera gazı emisyonları senaryolarına yatırımı destekleyen küresel sosyoekonomik yollara bağlıdır. Enerji sektöründen kaynaklanan  $CO_2$  emisyonları, elektrik şebekesinin pik yük talebini karşılamak için esnekliği, karbon vergisinden refah değişikliği ve yenilenebilir enerjinin sübvanse edilmesi için gelir aktarımı ve toplam indirimli enerji sistemi maliyetleri entegre edilerek enerji tedarik sistemi modelleme sonuçlarının çoklu kriter analizi için uzman değerlendirmesi kullanılmıştır. Sonuçlar, Paris Anlaşması'nın ikinci taahhüt dönemi için nükleer enerjinin rolünün, hem yeşil dönüşüm hem de bölgesel rekabet senaryoları için enerji sisteminin düşük karbonlu bir geleceğe geçişini desteklemek olduğunu göstermektedir.

Anahtar Kelimeler: nükleer enerji, iklim değişikliği azaltımı, enerji dönüşümü, uzman değerlendirme

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The work described in this thesis has been conducted by the author in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the MS in Earth System Science at the METU. The author gratefully acknowledges the encouragement and support of Ramazan Sari, Dean for Faculty of Economics and Administrative Sciences, and lecturer for Earth System Science Program at METU—with whom the author is working to explore the nexus of integrating social science and humanities with energy, environmental economics and policy development.

This work was supported by the IAEA CRP (No: I12006), titled "Assessments of the Potential Role of Nuclear Energy in National Climate Change Mitigation Strategies", which I contributed as a Participant along with the Local Coordinator (the Chief Scientific Investigator) Prof. Dr. Ramazan Sari. I would also like to thank Dr. Victoria Alexeeva and Dr. Bertrand Magne from IAEA, our talks about my research not only inspired me but also helped me to understand the social dimension of my work.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT
ÖZ
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS
TABLE OF CONTENTS . </td
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS
CHAPTERS
1 INTRODUCTION
1.1 Research problem 3
1.2 Literature review
1.2.1 Climate mitigation strategies
1.2.2 Low carbon energy technologies
1.2.3 Energy supply system and environmental impacts 19
1.2.3.1Input-output models20
1.2.3.2General equilibrium models
1.2.3.3Partial equilibrium models23
1.3 Turkish energy policy

	1.4	Нурс	othesis and research questions
2	RESE	EARCI	H METHODOLOGY 35
	2.1	Energ	gy and climate scenarios
	2.2	Energ	gy supply system modeling 48
	2.3	Socio	beconomic and technological data
	2.4	Robu	stness of electricity supply system 61
	2.5	Earth	system feed-backs
3	ANA	LYSIS	OF RESULTS
	3.1	Mode	eling results
	3	.1.1	Energy system costs
	3	.1.2	Electricity generation capacity
	3	.1.3	Electricity generation costs
	3	.1.4	Electricity grid flexibility
	3	.1.5	Atmospheric gas emissions
	3	.1.6	Nuclear fuel cycle costs
	3.2	Expe	rt elicitation on energy and climate policies
	3	.2.1	Literature review
	3	.2.2	Survey method
	3	.2.3	Climate change and nuclear power
	3	.2.4	Results and discussion
	3.3	Sensi	itivity analysis
	3.4	Valid	ation of the hypothesis
4	DISC	USSIC	ON AND CONCLUSION

RE	EFERENCES	179
AF	PPENDICES	
A	MESSAGE CODE FOR ENERGY SYSTEM MODELING	203
В	ENERGY LOAD REGIONS	229
С	EXPERT ELICITATION SURVEY	233
D	R CODE FOR MCA OF MODELING RESULTS	243

# LIST OF TABLES

## TABLES

Table 1.1 S	Social criteria and indicators	16
Table 1.2	Hypothesis tested in this study	34
Table 2.1	Models used for quantification of SSPs	36
Table 2.2 I	Final energy demand in SSP1 scenarios	43
Table 2.3 I	Final energy demand in SSP2 scenarios	44
Table 2.4 I	Final energy demand in SSP3 scenarios	44
Table 2.5 I	Definition of objective function variables	52
Table 2.6 I	Definition of energy demand function variables	52
Table 2.7 I	Definition of energy balance function variables	53
Table 2.8 I	Definition of energy capacity function variables	54
Table 2.9 I	Definition of river balance function variables	55
Table 2.10 I	Definition of hydro storage function variables	55
Table 2.11 I	Definition of resource function variables	55
Table 2.12	$SO_2$ emission factors from electricity generation in kton/MWyr	56
Table 2.13	$NO_x$ emission factors from electricity generation in kton/MWyr $\therefore$	56
Table 2.14	Transformation of the energy sector in annual rate of change (%/yr).	57

Tabl	e 2.15	Technology variables for power plant technologies	58
Tabl	e 2.16	Technology variables for energy conversion technologies	58
Tabl	e 2.17	Oil product production shares of oil refineries	59
Tabl	e 2.18	Technology variables for nuclear fuel cycle	59
Tabl	e 2.19	Costs of primary energy sources in US\$/kWyr	60
Tabl	e 2.20	Feasible potentials of primary renewable energy sources	60
Tabl	e 2.21	Domestic coal reserves in MWyr	61
Tabl	e 2.22	Flexibility parameters for the electricity grid	62
Tabl	e 2.23	Power change requirements for power plants (MW/hr)	63
Tabl	e 2.24	Global warming potentials for temporal scales of 20 and 100 years .	65
Tabl	e 3.1	Definition of end of horizon function variables	68
Tabl	e 3.2	Total energy system costs (billion US\$) in SSP1	69
Tabl	e 3.3	Total energy system costs (billion US\$) in SSP2	70
Tabl	e 3.4	Total energy system costs (billion US\$) in SSP3	72
Tabl	e 3.5	Cumulative revenues from emission penalty costs (billion US\$)	72
Tabl	e 3.6	Definition of cumulative constraint variables	73
Tabl	e 3.7	Total payments used for FITs (billion US\$)	75
Tabl	e 3.8	Shares of total FIT payments in revenues from emission penalties (%)	76
Tabl	e 3.9	$CO_2$ emissions from power sector (ton/MWyr)	09
Tabl	e 3.10	$CO_2$ emissions from final energy demand (ton/MWyr) 1	10
Tabl	e 3.11	Annual output for 1 GW NPP reactor unit	21
Tabl	e 3.12	Egoistic, altruistic and biospheric values	39

Table 3.13	Relations between dependent variables for egoistic values 143
Table 3.14	Relations between dependent variables for altruistic values 145
Table 3.15	Relations between dependent variables for biospheric values 146
Table 3.16	Relations between perceptions and environmental values
Table 4.1	Primary fossil energy demand (GW-year) in 2035
Table 4.2	Primary fossil energy demand (GW-year) in 2050
Table 4.3	Primary renewable energy demand (GW-year) in 2035
Table 4.4	Primary renewable energy demand (GW-year) in 2050
Table 4.5	Installed low carbon electricity capacity (GW) in 2035 176
Table 4.6	Installed low carbon electricity capacity (GW) in 2050

# LIST OF FIGURES

## FIGURES

Figure 1	.1 Classification of SRES scenarios	9
Figure 1	.2 Classification of SSPs	1
Figure 1	.3 Total final energy demand	7
Figure 1	.4 Total primary energy supply	7
Figure 1	.5 Sectoral GHG emissions	8
Figure 2	.1 Mapping of SSP and RCP conditions for scenario development . 39	9
Figure 2	.2 Input load curves for solar, wind and hydro power	0
Figure 2	.3 Energy system modeling using MESSAGE	2
Figure 2	.4 Final electricity demand normalized load curve	6
Figure 2	.5 Final natural gas for residential heat demand normalized load urve	7
Figure 3	.1 Energy system costs for RCPs in SSP1 compared to baseline 69	9
Figure 3	.2 Energy system costs for RCPs in SSP2 compared to baseline 70	0
Figure 3	.3 Energy system costs for RCPs in SSP3 compared to baseline 7	1
Figure 3	.4 Energy system costs for RCPs with FITs in SSP1 compared to aseline	4

Figure 3.5	Energy system costs for RCPs with FITs in SSP2 compared to	
baseli	ne	74
Figure 3.6 baseli	Energy system costs for RCPs with FITs in SSP3 compared to ne	75
Figure 3.7	Electricity capacity expansion in SSP1 for Baseline	77
Figure 3.8	Electricity capacity difference in SSP1 for RCP4.5	78
Figure 3.9	Electricity capacity difference in SSP1 for RCP3.4	78
Figure 3.10	Electricity capacity difference in SSP1 for RCP2.6	79
Figure 3.11	Electricity capacity expansion in SSP2 for Baseline	80
Figure 3.12	Electricity capacity difference in SSP2 for RCP6.0	80
Figure 3.13	Electricity capacity difference in SSP2 for RCP4.5	81
Figure 3.14	Electricity capacity difference in SSP2 for RCP3.4	82
Figure 3.15	Electricity capacity difference in SSP2 for RCP2.6	82
Figure 3.16	Electricity capacity expansion in SSP3 for Baseline	83
Figure 3.17	Electricity capacity difference in SSP3 for RCP6.0	84
Figure 3.18	Electricity capacity difference in SSP3 for RCP4.5	84
Figure 3.19	Electricity capacity difference in SSP3 for RCP3.4	85
Figure 3.20	Marginal cost of electricity generation for SSP1	86
Figure 3.21	Electricity supply in SSP1 for Baseline [2035]	87
Figure 3.22	Electricity supply difference in SSP1 for RCP4.5 [2035]	88
Figure 3.23	Electricity supply difference in SSP1 for RCP3.4 [2035]	89
Figure 3.24	Electricity supply difference in SSP1 for RCP2.6 [2035]	89
Figure 3.25	Electricity supply in SSP1 for Baseline [2050]	90

Figure 3.26	Electricity supply difference in SSP1 for RCP4.5 [2050] 91
Figure 3.27	Electricity supply difference in SSP1 for RCP3.4 [2050] 91
Figure 3.28	Electricity supply difference in SSP1 for RCP2.6 [2050] 92
Figure 3.29	Marginal cost of electricity generation for SSP2 93
Figure 3.30	Electricity supply in SSP2 for Baseline [2035]
Figure 3.31	Electricity supply difference in SSP2 for RCP6.0 [2035] 94
Figure 3.32	Electricity supply difference in SSP2 for RCP4.5 [2035] 95
Figure 3.33	Electricity supply difference in SSP2 for RCP3.4 [2035] 95
Figure 3.34	Electricity supply in SSP2 for RCP2.6 [2035]
Figure 3.35	Electricity supply in SSP2 for Baseline [2050]
Figure 3.36	Electricity supply difference in SSP2 for RCP6.0 [2050] 97
Figure 3.37	Electricity supply difference in SSP2 for RCP4.5 [2050] 98
Figure 3.38	Electricity supply difference in SSP2 for RCP3.4 [2050] 99
Figure 3.39	Electricity supply in SSP2 for RCP2.6 [2050]
Figure 3.40	Marginal cost of electricity generation for SSP3 100
Figure 3.41	Electricity supply in SSP3 for Baseline [2035]
Figure 3.42	Electricity supply difference in SSP3 for RCP6.0 [2035] 101
Figure 3.43	Electricity supply difference in SSP3 for RCP4.5 [2035] 102
Figure 3.44	Electricity supply in SSP3 for RCP3.4 [2035]
Figure 3.45	Electricity supply in SSP3 for Baseline [2050]
Figure 3.46	Electricity supply in SSP3 for RCP6.0 [2050]
Figure 3.47	Electricity supply in SSP3 for RCP4.5 [2050]

Figure 3.48	Electricity supply in SSP3 for RCP3.4 [2050]
Figure 3.49	Annual electricity grid flexibility to supply peak load in SSP1 106
Figure 3.50	Annual electricity grid flexibility to supply peak load in SSP2 107
Figure 3.51	Annual electricity grid flexibility to supply peak load in SSP3 108
Figure 3.52	$CO_2$ emissions from energy sector in SSP1
Figure 3.53	Kaya identity decomposition of $CO_2$ emissions in SSP1 111
Figure 3.54	$CO_2$ emissions from energy sector in SSP2
Figure 3.55	Kaya identity decomposition of $CO_2$ emissions in SSP2 113
Figure 3.56	$CO_2$ emissions from energy sector in SSP3
Figure 3.57	Kaya identity decomposition of $CO_2$ emissions in SSP3 114
Figure 3.58	$SO_2$ emissions from power generation for RCPs in SSP1 115
Figure 3.59	$NO_x$ emissions from power generation for RCPs in SSP1 116
Figure 3.60	$SO_2$ emissions from power generation for RCPs in SSP2 116
Figure 3.61	$NO_x$ emissions from power generation for RCPs in SSP2 117
Figure 3.62	$SO_2$ emissions from power generation for RCPs in SSP3 118
Figure 3.63	$NO_x$ emissions from power generation for RCPs in SSP3 119
Figure 3.64	Complete nuclear fuel life-cycle
Figure 3.65	Annual nuclear fuel cycle cost in SSP1 for Baseline
Figure 3.66	Spent nuclear fuel storage in SSP1 for Baseline
Figure 3.67	Annual nuclear fuel cycle cost difference in SSP1 for RCP4.5 . 123
Figure 3.68	Spent nuclear fuel storage difference in SSP1 for RCP4.5 124
Figure 3.69	Annual nuclear fuel cycle cost difference in SSP1 for RCP3.4 . 124

Figure 3.70	Spent nuclear fuel storage difference in SSP1 for RCP3.4 125
Figure 3.71	Annual nuclear fuel cycle cost in SSP2 for Baseline
Figure 3.72	Spent nuclear fuel storage storage in SSP2
Figure 3.73	Annual nuclear fuel cycle cost difference in SSP2 for RCP6.0 . 127
Figure 3.74	Spent nuclear fuel storage difference in SSP2 for RCP6.0 128
Figure 3.75	Annual nuclear fuel cycle cost difference in SSP2 for RCP4.5 . 128
Figure 3.76	Spent nuclear fuel storage difference in SSP2 for RCP4.5 129
Figure 3.77	Annual nuclear fuel cycle cost difference in SSP2 for RCP3.4 . 130
Figure 3.78	Spent nuclear fuel storage difference in SSP2 for RCP3.4 130
Figure 3.79	Annual nuclear fuel cycle cost difference in SSP2 for RCP2.6 . 131
Figure 3.80	Spent nuclear fuel storage difference in SSP2 for RCP2.6 132
Figure 3.81	Annual nuclear fuel cycle cost in SSP3 for Baseline
Figure 3.82	Spent nuclear fuel storage in SSP3 for Baseline
Figure 3.83	Annual nuclear fuel cycle cost difference in SSP3 for RCP6.0 . 134
Figure 3.84	Spent nuclear fuel storage difference in SSP3 for RCP6.0 135
Figure 3.85	Annual nuclear fuel cycle cost difference in SSP3 for RCP4.5 . 135
Figure 3.86	Spent nuclear fuel storage difference in SSP3 for RCP4.5 136
Figure 3.87	Annual nuclear fuel cycle cost difference in SSP3 for RCP3.4 . 137
Figure 3.88	Spent nuclear fuel storage difference in SSP3 for RCP3.4 137
Figure 3.89	Relations used in expert elicitation survey
Figure 3.90	Importance of egoistic values
Figure 3.91	Importance of altruistic values

Figure 3.92	Importance of biospheric values
Figure 3.93	Cluster model for value orientations
Figure 3.94	Gender distribution of sample population
Figure 3.95	Age distribution of sample population
Figure 3.96	Profession distribution of sample population
Figure 3.97	Degree distribution of sample population
Figure 3.98	Climate change perception for gender and age
Figure 3.99	Climate change perception for profession and degree 151
Figure 3.100	Climate change-energy trade-off and gender
Figure 3.101	Climate change-energy trade-off and profession
Figure 3.102	Nuclear energy perception for gender
Figure 3.103	Nuclear energy perception for age
Figure 3.104	Nuclear energy perception for profession
Figure 3.105	Nuclear energy perception for degree
Figure 3.106	Importance of low carbon energy sources
Figure 3.107	Importance of fossil energy sources
Figure 3.108	Safety perception of power generation technologies
Figure 3.109	Safety perception of energy conversion technologies 160
Figure 3.110	Primary fossil fuel costs for Baseline in SSP1
Figure 3.111	Low carbon fuel costs for Baseline in SSP1
Figure 3.112	Primary fossil fuel costs for RCP2.6 in SSP1
Figure 3.113	Low carbon fuel costs for RCP2.6 in SSP1

Figure 3.114	Primary fossil fuel costs for Baseline in SSP2
Figure 3.115	Low carbon fuel costs for Baseline in SSP2
Figure 3.116	Primary fossil fuel costs for RCP2.6 in SSP2
Figure 3.117	Low carbon fuel costs for RCP2.6 in SSP2
Figure 3.118	Primary fossil fuel costs for Baseline in SSP3
Figure 3.119	Low carbon fuel costs for Baseline in SSP3
Figure 3.120	Primary fossil fuel costs for RCP3.4 in SSP3
Figure 3.121	Low carbon fuels for RCP3.4 in SSP3
Figure 3.122	Energy and carbon intensity change for SSPs (%/yr)
Figure 4.1	MCA of SSP1 scenarios
Figure 4.2	MCA of SSP2 scenarios
Figure 4.3	MCA of SSP3 scenarios

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

## ABBREVIATIONS

AIM	Asia-Pacific Integrated Assessment
AIMES	Analysis, Integration and Modeling of the Earth System
AR5	Fifth Assessment Report
CBDR	Common but Differentiated Responsibilities
CCGT	Combined Cycle Gas Turbine Power Plant
CCS	Carbon Capture and Storage
CDM	Clean Development Mechanism
CGE	Computable General Equilibrium
CHP	Combined Heat and Electricity Production Power Plant
СОР	Conference of Parties
CRP	Coordinated Research Project
ЕКС	Environmental Kuznets Curve
EU	European Union
FEEM	Fondazione Eni Enrico Mattei
FGD	Flue Gas Desulphurisation
FIT	Feed-in Tariff
GAMS	General Algebraic Modeling System
GCAM	Global Change Assessment Model
GCM	General Circulation Model
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GEA	Global Energy Assessment
GHG	Greenhouse Gas
GLPK	GNU Linear Programming Kit

GTAP	Global Trade Analysis Project
HM	Heavy Metal
I/O	Input-Output
IAEA	International Atomic Energy Agency
IAM	Integrated Assessment Modeling
IAV	Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability
IEA	International Energy Agency
IGBP	International Geosphere-Biosphere Programme
IIASA	International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis
IMAGE	Integrated Model to Assess the Global Environment
INDC	Intended Nationally Determined Contribution
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
LCA	Life Cycle Assessment
LCOE	Levelized Cost of Electricity
LULUCF	Land Use, Land Use Change and Forestry
MAGICC	Model for the Assessment of Greenhouse Gas Induced Climate
	Change
MCA	Multi-criteria Analysis
MER	Market Exchange Rate
MESSAGE	Model for Energy Supply Strategy Alternatives and their Gen-
	eral Environmental Impact
NDC	Nationally Determined Contribution
NEA	Nuclear Energy Agency
NEEDS	New Energy Externalities Development for Sustainability
NEI	Nuclear Energy Institute
NGO	Non-governmental Organization
NIES	National Institute for Environmental Studies
NPP	Nuclear Power Plant

NSG	Nuclear Suppliers Group
OECD	Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development
PBL	Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency
РІК	Potsdam Institute for Climate Impact Research
PNNL	Pacific Northwest National Laboratory
POLES	Prospective Outlook on Long Term Energy Systems
PPP	Purchasing Power Parity
PSA	Probabilistic Safety Assessment
PV	Photo-Voltaic
RC	Respective Capacities
RCP	Reference Concentration Pathways
RegCM3	Third Generation Regional Climate Model
REMIND	Regionalized Model of Investments and Development
ROR	Run-off-river
SCR	Selective Catalytic Reduction
SDG	Sustainable Development Goal
SEM	Structural Equation Modeling
SPV	Special Purpose Vehicle
SRES	Special Report on Emissions Scenarios
SSP	Shared Socioeconomic Pathway
SWU	Seperative Work Unit
TAR	Third Assessment Report
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
UAE	United Arab Emirates
USA	United States of America
WITCH	World Induced Technical Change Hybrid Model

### **CHAPTER 1**

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Investments for new NPPs are considered in many developing countries as major capital investment projects and one of the strategies for national economic development and energy supply security. Nuclear energy was utilized for electricity generation first by nuclear weapon states following the end of the second world war which was spread out to other countries through cooperation for peaceful use of nuclear technologies [165]. During the oil crisis of the 1970s many countries experiencing energy security problems also shifted to nuclear energy including industrialized countries such as France and Japan and also developing countries such as India and South Korea which eventually became nuclear technology vendor countries [173]. This period is also characterized with liberation of the economies and energy sectors resulting in slowing down of NPP investments through public financing in many countries including United Kingdom [91] and Turkey [109].

The usage of nuclear energy requires strict regulations during construction and operation of NPPs due to government responsibility for protection of the public against possible accidents resulting in significant amount of radioisotope release to the environment. Therefore nuclear energy has specific economic, environmental and social impacts which are generally assessed using multi-disciplinary framework for sustainable development [105]. After signature of the Paris Agreement, signatories submitted their NDCs to the UNFCCC where nuclear energy is also considered as one of the national policies for many countries to reduce GHG emissions from the energy sector.

Nuclear energy investments are considered as one of the strategies for supporting national and local economic and industrial development. However the impact of nuclear energy on the development of the energy system, environmental protection and socioeconomic development needs further assessment in order to provide the scientific basis on the role of nuclear energy for sustainable development. Many international organizations such as the IAEA, OECD and World Bank supports infrastructure development by providing project funding under international or regional cooperation mechanisms to help developing nations address these issues.

Many countries in the world lack the incentive or the institutional capacity to develop the scientific basis in order to assess energy policies for GHG emission reductions [40]. As a result there are various academic studies from these countries focusing on the assessment of energy policies and their roles for issues such as energy security and climate mitigation. The main beneficiaries of these studies are energy policy makers and electricity market players including utilities, regulators, governmental authorities and final energy consumers. Low income countries are particularly in focus of these studies as climate change affects them the most requiring additional mechanisms for climate adaptation [67]. McCollum et al. study use MESSAGE for assessment of the synergy between energy sustainability objectives such as energy security improvement, climate change mitigation and reduction of air pollution [115]. The study concludes that there are positive benefits on energy security and human health in the near term with positive impact on climate in the medium to long term from implementation of cost effective climate-pollution-security policies.

The main stakeholders of new build NPP projects are utility investors and owners, safety authorities and market regulators together with national and regional government authorities responsible for economic development, energy security and environmental protection. Regional authorities may have positive or negative support to nuclear energy depending on their trade-offs between economic, environmental and social impacts depending on national preferences. NGOs may also have positive or negative support depending on the general mandate of their organizations and general public opinion concerning nuclear energy. The wide range of stakeholders create potential for expert elicitation with disciplinary backgrounds ranging from engineers to social scientists and legal experts [30].

The role of nuclear energy for climate change mitigation policies is not only through

the reduction of GHG emissions but also from the development pathways of the energy market effecting investments for other low carbon technologies. The effectiveness of the energy market also relies on national policies concerning energy security, air pollution, energy demand side management and transformation of the energy sector [156]. The main assumptions for energy system modeling are the costs for construction and operation of power plants, energy flows including upstream and downstream activities and GHG emissions from production activities. Simulations of energy markets provide additional opportunity to represent energy policies and pricing mechanisms which does not rely solely on optimization of internalized costs [177].

The transition of the energy system to a diversified and low carbon future also requires policies for downstream activities especially in energy services. The electricity market liberalization continues with un-bundling of energy services despite the high rate of loss and theft in many developing countries which damages the profitability of utilities. The increasing marginal prices for residential electricity and natural gas for heating favors investment in energy efficient devices and energy conservation. The regulatory policies for energy efficiency require investments especially for heat insulation of buildings and refurbishment of facilities to consume less energy which are defined as low hanging fruits of implementing climate policies [36].

### 1.1 Research problem

The general research question explored in this study is "How will the energy supply systems of developing countries evolve after COP21 of the UNFCCC and especially during the second and third commitment period of the Paris Agreement?". Although the Paris Agreement was adopted in 5 October 2016, there are still many questions on issues such as the CBDRs and RCs of countries resulting in spatial and temporal differences in implementation of NDCs [71]. There are also countries such as the USA with different views on climate change between states and the federal government [125] and Turkey which has signed but not yet ratified the Paris Agreement. So under this circumstance the general question is supported by "Why does international cooperation efforts lag behind in implementation of NDCs?". This study aims to explore

the following questions for developing countries.

- What is the role of nuclear power in energy supply system development for climate mitigation strategies?
- How does the global socio-economic pathways effect the transformation of the national energy sectors towards low carbon pathway?
- Which policies are most preferable for reduction of cumulative GHG emission from energy supply system?
- Which personal motivations and preferences are associated with favoring and supporting transition towards low carbon pathway?

The research required for exploring these questions is inter-disciplinary with natural sciences and engineering used for analytical modeling of the energy supply system and social sciences used for elaboration of socioeconomic development pathways and preferences of stakeholders for low carbon transformation. Socio-economic development scenarios based on SSPs and climate scenarios based on RCPs are developed by IPCC through international collaboration and many research organizations conduct modeling studies for quantification of these scenarios for the subjects listed below [48].

- Energy sectoral demand
- Fossil energy resource costs
- Energy supply costs
- Land use and productivity costs
- Food consumption and environmental impact

Energy supply system modeling studies are based on national and international databases for calculation of inputs and assumptions on development pathways as the future is largely uncertain and in most cases non-linear as there are increasing opportunities for shifting to green growth paradigm [183]. This study aims to integrate the social and technical characteristics using linear optimization of energy supply system and social preferences using expert elicitation on future development of energy system and climate policies. The contribution of this approach is to integrate social sciences to energy policy assessment powered by individual preferences and community initiatives instead of solely being based on energy simulation and cost optimization modeling studies [167].

Mathematical modeling of energy system has strengths for explicit representation of energy technologies and long term climate action pathways but also weaknesses to represent behaviors and interviewer bias in analyzing information in values and behaviors of respondents [166]. Energy models used by universities and research institutes provide a foresight on how the future energy system would evolve and what would be their general environmental impacts. However depending on the research question and the specific objective of research, specific models provide advantages to the researcher in order to explore in depth certain aspects such as climate mitigation, energy security or air pollution.

The results from the economic, energy system and environmental modeling studies produces a set of Pareto-optimal solutions representing future pathways for sustainable energy system development and for further elaboration with MCA [139]. The national preferences are defined by specifying the values desired to be achieved and to be avoided for the indicators used in the modeling studies. The range of the values defined for the indicators are assessed using multi-criteria analysis method to define the Pareto-optimal solution for energy system development of Turkey representing the national preferences. The results of the project are expected to support the scientific basis for the assessment of the role of nuclear energy for climate mitigation strategy of Turkey.

#### **1.2** Literature review

The literature review focuses on studies concerning climate change mitigation strategies and energy modeling studies which assess these studies for low carbon transformation of the energy system. This study was supported by the CRP of the IAEA with title "Assessments of the Potential Role of Nuclear Energy in National Climate Change Mitigation Strategies" where representatives from different countries presented their energy and climate strategies [74]. These presentations are summarized for the countries focusing on the references provided by their representatives.

Energy modeling tools are based on either optimization of internalized costs or simulation of supply-demand energy balance based on consumer preferences [55]. Energy models are also included to IAM frameworks including sectoral linkages, feedback loops, learning processes and individual behavior. Although the study focuses on the role of nuclear power for climate change mitigation, special emphasis is given to renewable energy sources in the power sector with support by FITs collected from atmospheric emission penalty costs.

The study contributes to the references studies listed below selected as baseline by integrating social sciences using expert elicitation survey for preferences of energy experts on issues related to climate change and energy policy [19]. These studies include thesis approved by METU and academic article based on the extension of these thesis.

- Ari (2010) thesis on CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from Turkish electricity sector for energy scenarios using IPCC methodology [4]
- Yildiz (2015) thesis on multi-criteria assessment of Turkish energy sector using non-linear programming in GAMS [192]
- Kat (2018) article on planned renewable and nuclear subsidy schemes using CGE model and GTAP-Power database [94]
- Onenli (2019) thesis on energy scenario development using linear programming in GAMS [135]

Global climate models are used inside IAM frameworks with energy sector represented by general or partial equilibrium energy system models [88]. The studies focus on the feasibility of achieving climate targets on global scale assessing issues such as inter-regional cooperation and temporal scale of emission reductions [171]. General equilibrium models are able to capture the interchanges between energy and other commodity markets however under a lack of technological representation [14]. Partial equilibrium models focus on certain sectors with technological detail together with assumptions on other commodity sectors and interchanges between them. The integration of these two methods is used as a solution to integrate the advantages of these approaches however creating additional modeling biases.

The studies for global energy system modeling used as baseline in this study are listed below. These studies include review of energy modeling tools for low carbon transformation with emphasis on assessing the results using MCA by integrating preferences of various stakeholders.

- Visschers et al. (2011) article on public acceptance of nuclear energy for Swiss public using SEM statistical method [187]
- Nakata et al. (2011) article on review of energy modeling methods for transformation to a low carbon society [126]
- Lehtveer et al. (2015) article on global assessment of nuclear power using MESSAGE and multi-criteria decision analysis [105]
- Chen et al. (2016) article on global economic modeling for climate change assessment using CGE model and GAMS mixed-complementary problem solver [32]

### **1.2.1** Climate mitigation strategies

As climate change is a global commons problem, addressing actions through national low carbon transformation has higher potential for achievement of international cooperation through dispersion of technologies to developing countries with increasing emissions [86]. However the differentiation of the socio-economic development and historical responsibilities of countries creates challenges for global action. Therefore in order to support international efforts governments established IPCC for scientific collaboration and signed the UNFCCC for adhering to global climate action. The key milestones from the beginning of these efforts are summarized in the list below [174].

• IPCC formed in 1988

- UNFCCC signed by governments in 1992 at Earth Summit and entered into force in 1995
  - Stabilize the GHG concentration in the atmosphere to prevent human induced climate change
  - Developed countries agree to return to 1990 emission levels
- IPCC's second report in 1995 includes statement that humans are responsible for climate change
- Kyoto Protocol adopted in 1997 and entered into force in 2005
  - Legally binding agreement for climate protection
  - Only developed countries (Annex B) required for emission reductions
  - Lack of global climate goal
  - Entry into force in 2005
  - Not ratified by all Annex B countries
  - Failed to provide a comprehensive and efficient solution
- Bali COP13 in 2007, Copenhagen COP15 in 2009, Cancun COP16 in 2010 agreed with 2 °C maximum temperature increase
- IPCC release of SRES in 2000
  - Development of new scenarios for IPCC TAR
  - Consequences of climate change in the absence of mitigation and adaptation measures
  - Mitigation and adaptation possibilities and costs in different regions and economic sectors
- Durban COP17 in 2011 established Ad Hoc Working Group on the Durban Platform for Enhanced Action
- Warsaw COP19 in 2013 provided INDCs
- IPCC release of AR5 in 2014
  - Comprehensive assessment of sea level rise over the past few decades

- Estimation of cumulative  $CO_2$  emission since pre-industrial times and the remaining carbon budget for future emissions
- Paris Agreement adopted in 2015 and entered into force in 2016
  - All countries have legally binding obligations to submit their NDCs
  - Climate policies are determined by national governments

Climate scenarios in the IPCC SRES (Figure 1.1) represented development prioritizing economic or environmental preferences and global cooperation or regional rivalry [162]. The report was significantly different than previous risk assessment studies as both the risks and uncertainties are significantly higher resulting in research for plausible future stories which are different from historic trends. There were also many criticisms on the main assumptions of the study such as the convergence of GDPs between OECD and non-OECD countries and usage of MER instead of PPP resulting in challenges with communication of the results with the public. Although studies on public perception of climate change focus mostly on developed countries, recognition of human impact on climate change is increasing in developing nations whereas there is growing scepticism in some developed countries [29].



Figure 1.1: Classification of SRES scenarios

Climate change is one of the major global problems with long term effects and includes many uncertainties concerning the costs of GHG reduction and adaptation [70]. These uncertainties are represented with additional calculation modules in IAMs favoring lower discount rates. The long residence time of carbon in the atmosphere causes intergenerational relation and the uncertainties includes intragenerational debate on who is more responsible and what is the extent of this responsibility [97]. Climate change can be considered as a public good which can be included in utility maximization models together with private goods represented by production factors [189]. However the temporal scale of climate action efforts makes achieving climate targets challenging as early movers benefit from higher welfare while the remaining non-action countries threaten the achievement of global collaborative action.

There are also risks of late accession as the early action countries would transform their infrastructures to a low carbon system and market carbon with prices which can not be adopted by late comers due to carbon lock-in of their energy systems [12]. Investment for low carbon transition of the energy sector could also exceed the requirements for other SDGs such as energy access, food security, air pollution and clean water and sanitation. The carbon budget consumed by cumulative emissions with higher emissions in the initial years could be offset with zero or negative emissions after year 2030 as the first commitment period of the Paris Agreement. However this requires further investments for refurbishment of installed power plants with CCS or their premature retirement resulting in higher total energy system costs.

The historical responsibilities of countries differ both spatially and temporally where developed countries have reached saturation in energy demand and developing countries continue to rely on increasing energy demand for their development [176]. The main objective of global climate action is to achieve unity in socio-economic development until the end of this century and leaving nobody behind in order to guarantee equity between regions and countries. However the climate action of countries with the extent based on CBDR and RC capacities no longer guarantees the achievement of climate target as the depletion of global carbon budget will require additional mitigation strategies adopting negative emissions [181]. The CBDR and RC of countries are important for future stocktaking of major GHG emissions countries and their recent trends in production [71]. They also define the extent of the climate ambition of
countries as moral responsibilities should be weighed with respective capacities.

During the process to the IPCC AR5, climate change adaptation was also considered as important mechanism as human induced climate change is inevitable and efforts for climate change mitigation and adaptation should be optimized globally [84]. Therefore development studies for SSPs focus on the challenges for climate change mitigation and adaptation depending on the narratives used for global development [153]. These pathways include stories for demographics such as population growth and urbanization, technological improvements linked with resource availability and prices, and feed-backs with ecological services such as food and water as classified in Figure 1.2 [10]. These quantified assumptions are used as inputs in IAMs in order to assess future primary energy supply to meet the energy demand from population growth and production.



Figure 1.2: Classification of SSPs

The climate action required to achieve the climate target of the Paris Agreement requires ambitions on national level which are dependent on assumptions for socioeconomic development forecasts [69]. Despite the global coverage of NDCs, the spatial and temporal difference in the effects of climate change creates impacts on countries with different levels. Although financing mechanisms listed below such as the CDM of the Kyoto Protocol provide incentives for low carbon transition, the cumulative impact of these transnational initiatives are too low to achieve the climate targets [119].

- Economic instruments such as investment subsidies
- Taxes and tax exemptions
- Regulatory instruments such as mandated emissions targets, performance standards and emission controls
- Policy instruments such as voluntary agreements, consultation and strategic planning

The usage of additional flexibility mechanisms of the Kyoto Protocol such as voluntary carbon trading provides an opportunity for countries facing higher costs to finance mitigation efforts of countries with lower marginal costs of abatement resulting in reduced cumulative GHG emissions [5]. There are also large uncertainties associated with ambiguous and conditional targets of developing countries leading to uncertainties in future GHG emissions [157]. However the uncertainties in climate change impacts and the different types of NDC contents listed below creates difficulties in establishing these flexibility mechanisms.

- Variations in socio-economic baseline
- Variations in historical emission estimates
- Availability of financing mechanisms for NDCs and target range specification
- Different energy accounting mechanisms for renewable energy
- Attribution of traditional biomass usage

Eventually the application of IAMs together with global climate models generate forecasts for radiative forcing until the end of the 21st century by integrating biogeochemical reactions such as the Carbon and Nitrogen cycles in the earth system. The feedback from carbon cycle, aerosol forcing and ocean uptake characteristics have been integrated to climate models including climate sensitivity [116]. One of the examples of a simple climate model is MAGICC-6 which is based on results from global IAM studies using simplified representations of GCMs for assessment of radiative forcing and temperature change resulting from climate change. The most important variables used in this model are climate feedbacks to carbon cycle and climate sensitivity to changes in radiative forcing due to GHG emissions. Marcucci and Turton study compare results from different IAMs to analyze the impact of prompt and delayed participation to climate change mitigation on energy technology deployment and development [112]. The results show that the first movers could face the risk of fossil fuel leakage and lower deployment of new technologies whereas they could also have advantages from intellectual property rights, exports and political leverage.

Krey reviews 162 recent medium to long term scenarios from 15 IAMs to assess the role of renewable energy in climate change mitigation [100]. The study presents a high uncertainty on the linkage between renewable energy and climate change mitigation due to uncertainties on the evolution of renewable energy technologies, competitiveness of other climate change mitigation options and driving forces for energy demand. Pindyck further reviews IAMs for estimating the social cost of GHG emissions and evaluation of alternative GHG emission abatement policies emphasizes the requirement for integration of feedback effects from climate change represented by major assumptions in the models [144]. The social cost of carbon ranges from 10 to 1000 US\$/t $CO_2$  between countries with countries with population and GDP growth rate on the higher range [154]. The social cost of carbon depends on socio-economic assumptions, earth system feedback, environmental damages which are region specific and discount rate as the impacts of climate change are long term and global with uncertainties.

The results of global climate models has been further assessed by different spatial and temporal pathways of energy system development. The scenarios listed in SRES were assessed using top-down approach with lesser technological representation where the substitution of fossil fuels with low carbon energy sources was considered as an additional bottom-up contribution. Miller et al. [120] focused on the results of delay to climate change mitigation and critiques political motives for the exclusion of nuclear energy from climate change mitigation as substitution of additional fossil fuels mitigates the radiative forcing increase. The A1FI fossil intensive and B2 scenario including nuclear energy and liquid fuels with hydrogen were compared using MAGICC. The study shows that climate change could be slowed down in B2 scenario although high new nuclear build capacity is required until 2050.

There are also studies using GCMs on the regional level to forecast the impacts on climate change for climate vulnerability assessment. GCMs have a low resolution of the earth which could be down-scaled in order to capture the vulnerabilities and impacts or they can be used as regional circulation models. Önol et al. [136] study using regional climate model RegCM3 to assess climate change scenario impacts on Turkey concludes reduced run-off in Fırat and Dicle basins in the eastern part in winter and increasing surface temperatures in the western part in summer. Similar results are generated by Yılmaz et al. [193] showing decrease of water potential in Konya, Fırat and Dicle basins. There are also significant shifts in snow melt times with either no change or decrease in annual run-off in Eastern Anatolian river basins [195].

Schimel et al. [163] review the IGBP AIMES project describing challenges from inter-disciplinary approach to climate modeling with including the human dimension as the major forcing to climate change. In the beginning of the project, stakeholders had differing time scales and observational resources which was overcome by their learning to be very clear about assumptions and presumptions associated with their perspectives. The objective was to achieve deeper and more quantitative scientific understanding of interactions and feedback in the earth system under process and parameterization studies, regional-global integration, applied earth system science and earth system dynamics themes. The project resulted with a further requirement to integrate very slow and long term human dynamics which are not observable at IAM horizons.

# 1.2.2 Low carbon energy technologies

Rapid expansion of renewable energy technologies for low carbon transformation has interaction with the availability and prices of fossil fuel resources which are used as inputs for IAM of SSPs [11]. Lower reliance of nations on these fossil fuels has potential to improve their energy security by increasing the resilience of their energy systems in the first half of 21st century before zero or negative emissions are required for achieving the most stringent climate targets [33]. The main elements of SSPs focusing on the energy sector are summarized below [10].

- SSP1: Taking the green road
  - Decoupling of economic growth and energy consumption
  - Change of lifestyle towards low energy demand
  - Rapid technological developments and international cooperation
- SSP2: Middle of the road
  - Energy intensity improvement continue with historical rates
  - Slower convergence of growth in developing countries
  - Slower shift in primary energy mix
- SSP3: Regional rivalry
  - Fast population and slow economic growth in developing countries
  - Slow technological development and little environmental awareness
  - Concerns for energy security favors domestic coal usage and limit energy import

Besides renewable energy technologies as low carbon energy sources, the role of nuclear energy for reduction of GHG emissions is assessed by many researchers. Apergis et al. focus on causality between nuclear and renewable energy consumption and economic growth for a group of developed and developing countries from 1984 to 2007 using panel error correction method [3]. The study concludes that nuclear energy has a long run causality relationship with GHG emissions whereas renewable energy does not only reduce GHG emissions but also contributes to economic growth and energy security.

The relation between climate mitigation strategies and energy security nexus are assessed by Jewell et al. using 43 scenarios generated by MESSAGE as part of GEA study [89]. The results show that low carbon scenarios are generally associated with lower energy trade and higher diversity of energy options especially in the transport sector and recommending that national energy security assessments should take into consideration of the global context as well.

The usage of social indicators for energy system assessment is becoming more important as capturing the results of human actions due to behavioral and social factors remains challenging for IAM studies [142]. Carrera and Mack review the social indicator selection process listed in Table 1.1 under the NEEDS project using surveys for experts from countries including France, Germany, Italy and Switzerland [30]. The study concludes that NPPs, hydro-power, pulverized coal steam plant and gas turbine combined cycle will be the most predominant energy conversion technologies for the EU countries.

Criteria	Background	Indicators
Security	High dependency of EU countries	Technological flexibility to incorporate
	on external energy sources	innovations and availability of a complete
		infrastructure for waste disposal
Stability	The ability of society to cope with	Potential for conflict induced by energy system
	conflicts from deficiencies	and participative decision-making in
	in energy supply	site selection of energy systems
Risks	Recognition of social and individual	Health consequences of normal operation,
	risks by the society	familiarity with risks, perceived
		catastrophic potential
Quality	Impacts of energy systems on human	Functional and aesthetic impacts on landscape
	life and environment	

Table 1.1: Social criteria and indicators

The sustainability studies of energy systems is also becoming more important for investors and utilities as unexpected extreme events could result in unrepairable damages to corporate images. Roth et al. [159] summarize the case study conducted for Axpo Holding AG on the sustainability of Swiss electricity system using LCA, impact pathway approach and PSA methods. The LCA method includes all energy chains from resource extraction to waste disposal and manufacturing of products and infrastructure. The human health damages are integrated to LCA in impact pathway approach and the analysis of accident risks in PSA. The sustainability evaluation

framework consist of a wide range of indicators listed below.

- Environment
  - Resources: fossil energy, uranium, metals
  - Climate change: GHG and major pollutant emissions
  - Impacts on ecosystems: land use, eco-toxicity, acidification and eutrophication, land contamination
  - Waste: non-radioactive, radioactive
- Social
  - Physical security: terrorist threat, maximum number of fatalities, loss of production, cost of reconstruction, availability of disposal infrastructure, availability of disposal concept
  - Political stability and legitimacy: potential of conflicts, potential of mobilization, post operational safeguarding, proliferation, conflicts over resources, controllability of conflicts, existence of conflict resolution, mechanisms, social cooperation, trust in utility, qualitative risk, characteristics, participation of residents
  - Social development: economic development of site region, socio-economic image, impacts on local infrastructure, satisfaction of residents, equity, fair distribution of risks and benefits, electricity for economically weak groups
  - Impacts on quality of landscape and residential areas: quality of living conditions, noise impacts on residents, site dependent traffic, benefits for regional sustainability, impulses for sustainable utility behavior, impulses for sustainable consumer behavior, impacts on quality of landscape, direct land use, aesthetic impacts
  - Impacts on human health: normal operation, mortality, morbidity, severe accidents, fatalities, injured, evacuees
  - Social components of risk: perceived health risks from normal operation, accident risks, perceived health risks from accidents, perceived safety management competence, over-exploitation of renewable resources

- Economy
  - Impacts on GDP (gross domestic product): contribution to the national economy, employment, jobs in alpine/non-alpine regions, new jobs in non-alpine regions, qualification of employees, innovation, education of employees, jobs in R&D, technology transfer, development of new products and services
  - Impacts on customers: effect on electricity cost
  - Impacts on state affairs: autonomy of electricity production, cash flow to the state, external costs and benefits
  - Impacts on utility: profits, financial risks, volatility of fuel costs, risk due to authorities' interventions, necessary measures in advance and after operation, operator feasibility, liquidity, time for construction of the plant, flexibility based on marginal costs, flexibility of production, limitations in electricity production, predictability of energy availability, technical site availability, impacts on image of operator, compatibility with Axpo's corporate culture

The ranking of energy systems based on selected indicators and priorities is a straightforward method to assess pathways for transition to low carbon energy system. Asami et al. [7] rank energy systems based on their potential for climate change mitigation potential and desirability of their use in the future. The highest ranking comes for natural gas with  $CO_2$  sequestration together with the introduction of renewable energy systems to produce hydrogen for energy storage. Edmonds et al. [44] conclude that additionally CCS technologies have a high potential to play a central role for stabilizing atmospheric GHG concentration.

The usage of nuclear energy for climate change mitigation together with renewable energy sources is assessed by many researchers. Hong et al. study on global pathways for low carbon electricity until 2060 in terms of cost and land use minimization using new policies scenario and technology database of IEA [72]. The study concludes that nuclear energy should be considered under national context by both developed and developing countries to contribute to climate mitigation together with renewable energy for climate change mitigation. Nuclear energy investments require high capital investment which could also benefit from green financing instruments. Weisser et al. analysis of the role of nuclear energy in a future climate change agreement after the Kyoto Protocol period [190]. The study recommends that binding emission targets and CDM have potential for substitution of fossil fuels with nuclear energy whereas emissions trade cannot compensate the high capital investment cost of NPPs alone. Investments in nuclear energy requires renewal of the existing fleets in most of the developed countries whereas the developing and embarking countries consider new build projects with state of the art technologies.

# **1.2.3** Energy supply system and environmental impacts

This section describes the methods and tools for modeling of climate change mitigation strategies. Energy supply system comprises of all energy upstream activities including extraction and conversion of resources to primary energy and downstream activities including storage, transmission and distribution of primary energy sources to secondary and final energy demand [23]. The mathematical methods and tools either use a deductive (top-down) or inductive (bottom-up) and also their combined usage in integrated (hybrid) approach [14]. There are also alternative methods such as neural network or fuzzy logic which could be practical to use depending on their generation of consistent results [155].

The transition to a low carbon energy system requires transfer and adoption of new technologies in both industrialized and developing countries [55]. Transformation of the society to a low carbon future requires abandoning and replacement of existing rules creating new markets, players and niches which are protected from market competition and difficult to explore using linear modeling methods [118]. General and partial equilibrium models consider gradual changes in sector activities whereas there are feedback from endogenous learning and behavioral change linked with sector and infrastructural capacities.

The development of these technologies is linked with the capacity of countries to innovate or imitate technological development depending on their socioeconomic context. The incentives and capacities for transfer and adoption of these technologies could be represented either exogenous or endogenously in the methods. The gap between developed and developing countries in generation of domestic knowledge is characterized by technology frontier creating opportunity of diffusion through spillover effect [38].

The top-down models represent the macro-economic dynamics of countries with aggregate representation of their energy systems. The bottom-up models represent energy systems of countries explicitly while the feedback from the effects on macroeconomy and inter-sectoral transfers could be misguiding which could result in inconsistent results. The hybrid models capture the benefits of top-down approach such as inter-linkages in production and explicit technological representation in bottom-up approach. There are also alternative methods which are recommended and benchmarked by various researchers summarized at the end of the section.

# 1.2.3.1 Input-output models

I/O analysis has certain advantages for the power sector as the method represents intersectoral transactions and the production and consumption of electricity is represented primarily such as in the case study for Korea [65]. The I/O analysis proposed by Leontief provides a simple tool to assess the impacts of investments to the power sector in the short term to the economy. The model provides an opportunity to assess the direct effects to the sector where the investment is created, indirect effects from capital and labor transaction with other sectors and induced effects from the impact on consumer income.

Howells et al. [73] study uses I/O model for assessing nuclear power and nuclear technology for Korean national and regional economies. The national economy is aggregated to 36 sectors with industry disaggregated into 16 sub-sectors. The sectors related with nuclear industry sector are construction, nuclear fuel fabrication, power plant operation and maintenance whereas 29 sectors provide inputs to power plant operation sector. The household sector which is normally the ultimate driver of final demand is replaced by the nuclear industry sector. The application of the model to the Korean economy covering nuclear energy generation and radioisotope applications at the national level and construction and operation of a single NPP at the regional level shows that there is contribution of positive added value to the national economy and

regional production and income together with external benefits such as avoidance of air pollution and GHG emissions by substituting fossil fuel combustion.

Geo [51] study deals with nuclear energy defining as an exogenous input in overall sectoral production with inter-sectoral linkages under general equilibrium. The final energy demand is endogenized in the model including price and quantity interactions in both directions between input and output of production. The static I/O model does not take into account the income multipliers and wage reactions which occur from disequilibrium in labor demand and supply. When an exogenous investment is injected to the model, the output changes the disposable income which is again injected to the disposable income until the economy reaches saturation.

Management of energy demand also has potential to contribute to transformation of the energy supply system to a low carbon future whereas energy intensive hot-spot production sectors should be identified for selecting technologies for climate change mitigation [188]. Technological diffusion from investments for power sector are represented by exponential learning curves for I/O coefficients which are found insufficient in Pan and Köhler study to represent endogenous technical change [138].

# **1.2.3.2** General equilibrium models

The structure of the economies and production capacities of sectors are assumed to be fixed in economic models whereas price changes depend on particular countries related to cost of equipment, labor costs and climate situation and combination of technologies to generate electricity from energy sources [189]. Long term modeling of the economy requires information on demographic variables, material resources and changes in structural relationships between exogenous and endogenous variables due to capital stock turnover, penetration of new technologies, emergence of alternative energy sources and sectoral shifts in energy demand.

The quantitative models using top-down approach provide explicit representation of the general economy by including the inter-sectoral linkages between production sectors. However the aggregation of the sectors makes the technological assessment of climate change mitigation options more difficult compared to the bottom-up approach which represents production technologies explicitly [186].

AIM is one of the IAMs used for quantification of the SSPs together with GCMs for projection of the radiative forcing during the 21st century. Fujimori et al. study uses AIM model to assess the SSP3 scenario which presents high levels of challenges to climate change mitigation [50]. The SSP3 can be considered as an unfavorable scenario regarding climate change whereas researchers using IAMs would need more interaction with impacts, adaptation and vulnerability (IAV) and climate model communities [110]. The results conclude that SSP3 represents high level of challenges for climate change mitigation requiring large amounts of negative emissions by 2100.

Akashi et al. study assess the technical feasibility and economic viability of RCP2.6 pathway using AIM/Enduse[Global] model as part of the EMF 27 study [2]. The scenarios use are based on GHG emissions reduction of 50% by 2050 with assumptions on the unavailability of nuclear and CCS technologies due to social or technological reasons. The study concludes that achieving the RCP2.6 target requires emission reduction in buildings and transport sectors to compensate the emission increases in steel, cement and energy sectors. Further limiting nuclear energy and CCS for larger penetration of renewable energy requires reduction in final energy demand.

However the integration of environmental and social policies with complex natural science background are difficult to represent in CGE models [14]. These policies include future phase-out of nuclear energy for larger penetration of renewable energy such as the case of Germany, renewable energy targets by issuing quotas for electricity generation and environmental tax reforms potentially leading to increase in total welfare. Rogner and Riahi study explores future nuclear pathways based on different levels of energy demand and potential global nuclear phase-out using MESSAGE [158]. The model used for the study includes energy conversion technologies from final energy to useful energy. The future role of nuclear energy is expected to depend on various factors such as energy efficiency and intensity improvements together with energy demand management. The study concludes that global phase out of nuclear energy would require massive and rapid expansion of other low carbon technologies such as renewable energy and CCS to achieve climate targets.

Bretschger and Zhang study assess market based and policy mandated nuclear phase-

out policy for Swiss economy using dynamic numerical equilibrium model together with endogenous growth [21]. Particular interest is given to induced innovation effects and the structural change of the Swiss economy in the long run. The study concludes that innovation has potential to achieve ambitious climate change targets considering that regulatory frameworks should be announced at an earlier stage for perfect information of investors.

Vandyck et al. study assess the Paris Agreement climate goal using hybrid model by integrating enegry system model with CGE model [185]. The decoupling of emissions and economic growth is achieved by investment for energy efficiency improvements and maturity of low carbon energy technologies. The study concludes that the INDCs have little impact on global oil and natural gas demand as primary energy sources and there is still considerable gap between the climate goal and GHG emissions which could result from the implementation of the INDCs.

## **1.2.3.3** Partial equilibrium models

Partial equilibrium models with explicit representation of energy system can be used together with CGE models in order to assess general equilibrium in all commodity markets. However global economy is represented by regional production grouping countries with similar socioeconomic development and assuming inter-regional cooperation for energy and climate policy development [185]. Therefore national policies could cause large uncertainties under non-converging socioeconomic development inside these regions.

Mima and Criqui study analyses the EU energy market using POLES market simulation model under several climate change models [35]. The study focuses on the effects of climate change on heating and cooling demand with implications on cooling demand of NPPs and thermal power plants. The results show that both supply and demand sides will be affected due to more consumption of fuel for air conditioning and less for heating in residential sector whereas the operating conditions of power plants will be more difficult and costly due to increase in ambient temperature.

The usage of fossil fuels is expected to continue until 2020s with an expectation for

divergence afterwards towards more cleaner, flexible, and convenient energy forms [59]. Additionally as the most stringent climate targets rely on mitigation in both energy and agriculture sectors, the IAM framework of IIASA combines these models to assess the impact of biomass supply and demand for GHG emission reductions [61]. However there are also social returns from innovative RD&D which increases the potential to invest in low carbon technologies. Grübler and Gritsevskyi study integrate MESSAGE with a multi-actor and multi-region model of endogenous technological change and conclude that the reversal of the GHG emission trend is possible only through increasing returns from investment on R&D and learning by doing [57].

Gritsevskyi and Nakicenovic study the impact of induced technological learning and uncertainties in costs of technologies and energy resources by modifying MESSAGE with scenarios generated by a selection of alternative energy system technology dynamics [56]. The study shows that different energy system structures emerge with overall energy system costs and the uncertainties together with technological learning will have the highest impact on energy system structures during the transition period to low carbon technologies.

Van Vuuren et al. study use IMAGE to assess the SSP1 as the marker scenario and compare the results with SSP2 and SSP3 elaborated by the same model [183]. One of the results requiring attention is the higher electrification of the energy system in SSP1 compared to other scenarios as a result of substitution of fossil fuels in transport, industry and buildings sectors. Sectors such as cement and steel production benefit less from energy efficiency improvements in the industry due to lack of fuel substitution capability [43]. The study concludes that the most stringent climate target is difficult to be achieved despite the significant improvements of SSP1 in access to modern energy and food, air pollution and climate change mitigation.

Calvin et al. study use GCAM to assess the SSP4 scenario by a quantitative representation of energy, land-use and land-cover and GHG emissions [24]. The results show that high income regions would allocate more land to forests as carbon sinks whereas low income regions would deforest shifting land towards more energy crops questioning whether a heterogeneous world is plausible.

Kriegler et al. study uses REMIND integrated with an agricultural model to assess

the SSP5 scenario with material intensive production and consumption patterns [101]. The scenario represents very strong economic growth in GDP with the share of income spent on food decreasing by an order of magnitude. The study concludes with concerns on environmental sustainability beyond climate change due to high levels of raw material exploitation and high calorie and meat rich diet demand of the future population.

Another example of inter-disciplinary research is the Riahi et al. extension of the IIASA IAM framework by incorporating air pollution, land use and land cover change projections based on RCP8.5 pathway [152]. The RCP8.5 pathway is considered as baseline with planned air quality legislation to reduce air pollutant emissions. Policies for air pollution mitigation include measures for controlling air pollution in road transport, industrial and power plants, residential fuels for heating, international shipping and other energy upstream activities. The study concludes that air pollutant emissions could be decoupled from GHG emissions promoting local health and air pollution prevention policies in the absence of ambitious climate change mitigation targets. Also the results of the IAM study for achieving the most ambitious climate target show that air pollution benefit from climate ambition whereas additional investment is required for energy access [48].

The radiative forcing from climate change also effects the socioeconomic development and decision making for climate change mitigation and adaptation. In order to integrate these effects, the IAM community developed RCPs used by IAM and IAV communities for developing the SSPs [182]. These SSPs are also supported by policy decisions ranging from early accession with global cooperation in SSP1 and late accession by developing countries for climate mitigation efforts. There is a bidirectional relationship between socioeconomic development and climate forcing which requires the integrated modeling of these scenarios using IAMs [52].

De Cian et al. study assesses the implementation of nuclear phase-out in Western Europe to promote alternative low carbon technologies and energy efficiency using WITCH model [37]. The study shows that climate targets of UNFCCC can be achieved by long term innovation and deployment of technologies characterized by learning-by-doing.

Finally the sensitivity of these partial equilibrium models to inputs related to socioeconomic and technological data are assessed by multi-model comparison studies. Multi-model study for analysis of energy investment dynamics in the absence of a climate policy using four global IAMs and one regional energy system model points out the requirement of endogenous technological change as there are major challenges for reduction of GHG emissions by investments for low carbon technologies or increase of fossil fuel prices alone [38].

## **1.3** Turkish energy policy

The energy demand of Turkey is increasing at a high rate with the increase in domestic production despite efforts for energy efficiency and conservation (Figure 1.3) [121]. Investments for energy infrastructure are supported by the government as capital investments attracting direct foreign investment to the country. Meanwhile, there are certain lock-ins to fossil fuels such as natural gas used in residents, industry and power sectors and oil mainly used in the transport sector.

Total final energy demand amounts to 93.2 Mtoe in 2015. This represents 72% of total primary energy supply where the remainder is consumed by energy conversion technologies and non-energy demand. The share of industrial and transport energy demand increased with economic development of Turkey except during the global financial crisis in 2008-2009. Although residential and commercial energy demand increases with population growth and development of commercial services this increase is smaller compared to the increase in industrial and transport energy demand.

Turkey's primary energy demand is supplied from mainly oil, coal and natural gas (Figure 1.4). Most of the oil and gas is imported from pipelines and sea terminals. Although Turkey has coal reserves more than 60% of primary energy demand for coal is supplied from imported sources. Imported natural gas from pipelines was introduced as a substitute for coal burning to mitigate urban air pollution in the late 1980s. Nowadays natural gas also has the highest share in electricity production. Despite there are economically feasible hydro-power and renewable energy resources the increase in their usage is fairly slow.



Figure 1.3: Total final energy demand



Figure 1.4: Total primary energy supply

Turkey's total GHG emissions amounts to 467.6 million ton  $CO_2$ eq in 2014 excluding LULUCF activities (Figure 1.5). The majority of GHG emissions comes from the combustion of fossil fuels in the energy sector. Therefore the trend in the increase of GHG emissions is similar to the trend in the increase of the total final energy demand. Den Elzen et al. [42] review of GHG emissions in major emitting countries and regions show that Turkey is likely to achieve the INDC target which can be increased by more ambitious efforts for the most stringent climate targets.



Figure 1.5: Sectoral GHG emissions

The national government policy includes the diversification of primary energy resources and energy markets, reliability of energy imports and reduction of energy costs to strengthen energy security [45]. Climate change mitigation strategy depends on financing mechanisms of the UNFCCC whereas Turkish strategy also includes a higher supply of domestic fuels such as hard coal and lignite [149]. The diversification of primary energy sources includes commissioning new nuclear power plants with Akkuyu NPP currently constructed by Rosatom and agreements with other countries for additional investments [75].

The most important environmental benefit of nuclear energy is the generation of electricity with no GHG emissions during operation. The energy sector has the largest share of GHG emissions with more than 70% of total GHG emissions in Turkey. Nuclear energy generating base-load electricity with high energy intensity has the potential to mitigate GHG emissions from the energy sector by substituting other base-load electricity generation technologies such as coal, oil and natural gas-fueled power plants.

Despite the economic and environmental impacts, nuclear energy is also under debate regarding sustainability with concerns on nuclear reactor safety, disposal of radioactive wastes, proliferation risk of nuclear weapons and availability of nuclear fuel resources and economic competitiveness of nuclear energy in the electricity market [137]. However, the costs and benefits of nuclear energy are assessed using economic, environmental and social indicators with various methodologies including LCA, MCA or IAM studies.

There are studies in the literature which assess the relationship between nuclear energy and economic development on a national or regional framework focusing on either economic development or climate change mitigation. However the objectives of these studies differ on a wide range with expansion of nuclear fleets such as in Korea [194] or closure of NPPs such as in Japan [191]. Utilities in countries with long-term experience of NPP operation and with no ambitious expansion plans focus on socioeconomic impacts of nuclear energy in order to justify their future operation such as in USA [129] and in Canada [26].

The climate change mitigation strategy of Turkey for the first commitment period of the Paris Agreement for the energy sector includes nuclear energy generation together with increased use of renewable energy resources, reduction of electricity transmission and distribution losses, refurbishment of old electricity generation power plants, and the introduction of innovative technologies such as micro-generation or co-generation systems [149]. As the nuclear energy program of Turkey progresses, there is an increasing requirement to assess the role of nuclear energy to the climate change mitigation strategy in order to quantify the contribution.

The general energy policy of Turkey focuses on the supply of secure, sustainable and affordable energy by diversifying energy supply routes and source countries, promoting usage of domestic resources and increasing the energy efficiency and renewable energy usage to decrease the energy intensity of production [78]. Nuclear energy is

considered for diversification of electricity generation and also for mitigation of GHG emissions from energy sector. The key characteristics of Turkish energy policy are listed as below.

- Increase domestic resources
- Decrease energy import
- Diversification of supply sources
- Oil and gas pipeline and storage projects
- Increase energy efficiency and renewable energy usage
- Improve competitiveness in electricity and natural gas markets
- Introduce nuclear energy for electricity generation

There are various studies in literature which assess the potential of climate change mitigation in Turkish power sector for determining the national commitment to the UNFCCC. Ari and Yikmaz study assess the potential of renewable energy sources for Turkey in order to meet the commitment of 21% GHG emission reduction by 2030 compared to BAU [6]. The study uses national accounts and general energy balance tables of Turkey and calculates emissions using IPCC Tier-1 methodology. However there are important specifications of Turkey's electricity generation system such as the high peak demand during certain periods and technical losses in the grid reaching 20% on average which varies greatly between regions.

Boran et al. study assess the ranking of electricity generation systems based on MCA method using total generation cost, GHG emissions, energy efficiency and acceptability for Turkey concluding nuclear energy ranking second after hydro-power excluding acceptability and third after including acceptability [16]. Karaveli [92] further compares Akkuyu NPP with planned solar PV power plant in Karapinar based on material cost analysis showing that solar PV has lower cost when land costs are excluded however NPP has higher energy density per materials consumed in their construction.

Kat [95] developed CGE model for Turkey's energy system development based on GTAP-Power database for assessing the impact of GHG emission reductions on GDP.

The annual changes of primary energy supply are constrained in order to conserve the historical consumption trends. The result shows that the impact of GHG emission reduction to GDP is very low as a result of renewable energy capacity of Turkey. The scenarios are based on INDC submissions of Turkey and national accounts which could be affected by global pathways represented by SSPs and carbon feedback from RCPs. This effect is also represented by Aydın [9] whereas there is also opportunity to use carbon tax revenues for transformation of the energy sector.

#### 1.4 Hypothesis and research questions

The study is done as part of the IAEA CRP on the assessment of the potential role of nuclear energy in mitigating climate change. The investigations focus on the assessment and effectiveness of support mechanisms (ie. domestic policies, carbon pricing) recognized under the Paris Agreement in order to identify key barriers and develop approaches to address investments in low carbon technologies, including nuclear energy. MESSAGE is used for energy system modeling and assessment of energy policies including emission taxes and FITs. The model is distributed by the IAEA to Member States free-of-charge in research for non-profit purposes [76].

A set of analytical IAEA tools or Member States' own models or tools are combined, tested and applied to assess the potential role of low carbon electricity generation projects, including nuclear energy, within long-term national GHG mitigation strategies. The variety of starting points and national circumstances provided opportunity to both developed and developing Member States to share information in identifying least-cost decarbonisation strategies.

Developed and developing states need to design the implementation of INDCs and prepare their mid-century, long-term low GHG emissions development strategies under the Paris Agreement of the UNFCCC. The overall objective of the CRP was to support Member States in national level evaluations on the potential role of nuclear power in GHG mitigation in preparation of their low GHG emissions development strategies under the Paris Agreement. Another important objective was to develop analytical framework for the assessment of support mechanisms to address investments in low carbon technologies, including nuclear.

Although the Paris Agreement combines efforts of countries for achieving climate targets, it is also criticized by various researchers as developing countries are generally allowed to emit GHGs as much as they assess their capacities for climate change mitigation [25]. Also the impact of transnational initiatives in addition to the efforts of UNFCCC are considered as too low to achieve the most stringent climate targets [119]. On the other hand developing countries emphasize the principles of CBDR and RC for taking action against climate change [71]. There are also regional differences considering the IAM from climate change which could prioritize climate change adaptation measures in many countries leading the inefficient allocation of global resources [170].

The mechanisms to promote the participation of developing and least developed countries are assessed by various researchers. The participation of developing countries on socioeconomic development strategies based on climate change adaptation and mitigation is important to assess climate change vulnerabilities [123]. Bosetti et al. study furthers show that the delayed participation of developing countries to climate change mitigation and inclusion of external costs to energy investment decisions is necessary and barriers in technology adoption and diffusion of these countries should be taken into consideration during the implementation of the Paris Agreement [18].

The research questions which are explored in this study are listed as below.

- What are the impacts of future socioeconomic development forecasts on the penetration of nuclear energy for low carbon transition of the energy sector?
- How does the primary energy resource costs effect the development of the energy supply system to supply the final energy demand?
- What are the requirements for robustness of the electricity grid system for penetration of intermittent renewable energy resources to the energy system?
- What are the impacts of climate policies in the energy system such as carbon taxes and FITs for renewable energy investments?
- How does the decision makers assess the climate change mitigation strategies

# and low carbon transition of energy system?

The activities of the CRP in the first year included the preparation for the quantitative study for the energy system development. The literature on the development of energy sector and climate mitigation for Turkey was assessed for selection of scenarios to be used for the study. The data on energy activity and capacity of the sectors for the reference year was collected using national accounts and international studies.

The activities for the second year focused on the quantitative assessment of the energy system development in Turkey. The energy system model was developed based on the baseline scenario with linkages to the economic and environmental impacts using selected indicators. Baseline scenario represents the existing policies of Turkey for economic and energy system development including the legislation for environmental emissions. The results of the model were checked using sensitivity analysis for the major assumptions used in the scenarios.

The activities for the final year focused on the introduction of low-GHG emitting technologies and possible incentives for decarbonization of the energy sector in Turkey. The costs of these mitigation methods were assessed by providing linkages with the socio-economic indicators. The results of the model were checked using sensitivity analysis for the major assumptions used in the scenarios. The social dimension related to preferences for energy policies were integrated to the study by using an expert elicitation survey and analyzing the relations between values and energy policy choices of participants.

This study focuses on the assessment of the potential role of nuclear energy for climate change policies of developing countries with a case study for Turkish energy system development. Based on the literature review and in relation with the research questions explored during the IAEA CRP, this study assesses the hypothesis listed in Table 1.2.

Research methodology is presented in Chapter 2 including the assessment of energy and climate scenarios, the modeling methodology used for the energy system development with socioeconomic and technological input data, the externalities related to electricity supply system investments including atmospheric emissions and flexibility

Hypothesis	Description	
Ι	In a policy for promotion of renewable energy sources, the penetration	
	of nuclear energy depends on the increase in the final energy demand	
	and economic development.	
II	The increase in final energy demand would result in increase of marginal	
	prices of electricity production resulting in higher penetration of nuclear energy	
	as low carbon energy source.	
III	FITs for power generation from renewable energy sources requires nuclear	
	energy for transition to a low carbon energy system in the long term.	
IV	Energy policy makers are sensitive to climate change mitigation although the	
	prioritization is for energy security with utilization of domestic energy resources.	

Table 1.2: Hypothesis tested in this study

requirements of the grid system and final discussion of potential climate feedbacks to the energy system. The results of the study are analyzed in Chapter 3 for energy system modeling, expert elicitation, sensitivity analysis of results and validation of the research hypothesis. Finally Chapter 4 discusses the overall results of climate and scenario exploration by integrating the modeling results with preferences of experts using MCA tool developed by Bigaret et al. [13].

# **CHAPTER 2**

# **RESEARCH METHODOLOGY**

## 2.1 Energy and climate scenarios

The IPCC SRES was based on the economic development as the driving force of emissions and the level of global collaboration for emission reduction [127]. These scenarios are classified as A1 and A2 focusing on economic development and B1 and B2 considering environmental consciousness with the expense of economic development. A1 and B1 scenarios assume global cooperation for development whereas A2 and B2 scenarios consider interregional differentiation in socioeconomic development. These scenarios were additionally divided to sub-scenarios covering a range of GHG emissions from carbon intensive development to decarbonization of the economy.

Before the preparation of IPCC AR5, there was a need to develop common scenarios in order to combine different communities involved in climate mitigation and IAV [178]. These scenarios are based on two independent axis with SSPs based on narratives for future global development and RCPs based on future radiative forcing from increasing carbon concentration in the atmosphere [153]. The SSP narratives and development methods describe the future changes in demographics, human development, economy and lifestyle, policies and institutions, technology, environment and natural resources in the world [134].

The narratives of SSPs are based on the level of challenges to climate mitigation and adaptation [142]. SSP1 represents low challenges to mitigation and adaptation with dominance of biospheric values and international cooperation. SSP3 represents high challenges to mitigation and adaptation with dominance of egoistic values and regional rivalries. SSP2 represents medium challenges to mitigation and adaptation with uneven development partially representing SSP1 and the others SSP3. There are also unsustainable pathways with increasing inequality leaving the most vulnerable having high challenges to adaptation for SSP4 and techno-centric development with increasing use of fossil fuels having high challenges to adaptation for SSP5.

The quantification of these SSPs was done by modeling communities in Table 2.1 using different socio-economic projections and carbon concentration pathways represented by RCPs. The RCPs range from radiative forcing of 2.4W/m2 having peak emissions in the middle of the century and 8.0W/m2 with increasing emissions until the end of the century. This method provides a common framework for both climate - earth system communities and energy - environment economists to further explore shared policy actions to achieve the climate change target of the Paris Agreement with 2 °C surface temperature increase by the end of the century and also considering further ambition to reduce this to 1.5 °C.

Model	Institution	Model category	Focus
AIM [50]	NIES	CGE	Whole economic production and consumption,
			emphasis on energy to assess the related
			GHG emissions
GCAM [24]	PNNL	IAM	Market equilibrium model, interactions with
			global economic, energy, agricultural, land use
			and technology systems, emphasis on
			human earth systems
IMAGE [183]	PBL	IAM	Environmental impacts of energy demand,
			production of primary and secondary energy
			and related GHG emissions
MESSAGE [152]	IIASA	IAM	Linear energy system optimization,
			interactions with land use based activities
REMIND [101]	PIK	IAM	Integrating macro-economy, energy system,
			and land-use and climate modules with
			agricultural sector
WITCH [17]	FEEM	CGE	Coupling of top-down economic model with
			representation of the energy sector with
			medium complexity

Table 2.1: Models used for quantification of SSPs

The higher climate ambitions for limiting temperature increase to 1.5 °C by the end of the 21st century requires major social transformations to decouple welfare from energy demand [61]. The transformation is from welfare maximization to comfort optimization which is based on convergence of society energy and nutrient needs having knock-on effect on upstream production activities. Digital transformation plays a critical role as many devices we use today have made substituted the energy intensive equipment we used only a decade ago such as cameras and VCD/DVD players.

In this study the SSPs are selected in the sustainable development range from SSP1 to SSP3 with baseline scenarios with emission penalty costs for air pollutants  $SO_2$  and  $NO_x$ . The mitigation scenarios for RCPs include increasing costs of carbon emissions as a result of carbon taxes which are utilized for subsidizing renewable electricity generation with FITs [54]. The marginal costs of FGD for  $SO_2$  emissions and SCR for  $NO_x$  emissions assessed for Turkey are used for both Baseline and climate mitigation scenarios [145].

Carbon taxes are simple and straightforward policy instruments for internalizing the costs of GHG emissions in order to overcome the market failure of common and freerider problem of public goods [99]. However the determination of a carbon price is difficult and challenging to reduce global emissions as the GHG intensive sectors have the chance to pay the costs and continue their production without any abatement. Furthermore cap-and-trade mechanism has higher public acceptance especially in the USA as the price mechanism of the market remains undisturbed.

However ambitious targets for GHG emission reduction are difficult to be achieved only by carbon taxes as markets lacking transition would still favor activities with high emissions [40]. Additional climate policies for reduction of GHG emissions include incentives and subsidies for low-carbon energy transformation as listed below.

- Power generation
  - Carbon emission allowances [68]
  - Availability of nuclear energy and CCS as backstop technologies [32]
  - Gradual ban on coal power plants without CCS [40]
- Road transport

- Subsidy for electric and hybrid vehicles [130]
- Fuel efficiency and emission standards [20]
- Subsidy for electric trains and biofuels for air travel [114]
- Residential energy demand
  - Carbon tax on residential energy usage [36]
  - Subsidy in advanced heating and cooling technologies [85]
  - Subsidy for residential use of small solar PVs [93]
  - Energy savings for household appliances [1]
- Industry energy demand [43]
  - Carbon tax or emission constraints on industrial energy usage
  - Fuel substitution for cement production
  - Subsidy for electric arc furnaces in steel industry

The technical and economical variables used for scenarios based on socioeconomic and climate conditions are taken from SSP and RCP databases for IPCC [180]. These variables are results of IAM studies for global climate change until the end of the 21st century by aggregating the global development into socioeconomic and geographic regions. The linkages between socioeconomic and energy system development and carbon concentration (Figure 2.1) is provided with costs for carbon emissions which is defined as carbon emission penalty for the power sector in energy system model from initial year of 2015 to 2050 as the second commitment period of Paris Agreement [50].

The model includes load regions for separation of daytime which is used to separate the load inputs from wind and solar power. Wind power is assumed to generate during morning and evening load regions and solar power during midday region.

Renewable energy depends on environmental conditions requiring suitable regions with necessary wind speed for wind power, high elevations for river flow for hydropower and constant elevations with necessary solar insolation for solar power. The model includes seasonal and diurnal load curves for wind and solar power which



Figure 2.1: Mapping of SSP and RCP conditions for scenario development

determine the load factors of their availability [168]. Renewable energy load regions are selected as Konya for solar energy, Izmir for wind power and Erzincan for hydro power (Figure 2.2). Monthly load data for solar, wind and hydro-power are elaborated for these locations from NASA Langley Research Center POWER project database <sup>1</sup>.

Assumptions for daily load variations in wind and solar power are based on their intermittency and the requirement to prevent their competition for the same load regions. Solar input load is full during noon hours and wind power is full during morning and evening. The main reason for this approximation is the physical basis of solar power availability and the intention to prevent competition with wind power for final electricity demand. Electricity generation from wind power in Turkey is mainly utilized in Western regions with assumption for diurnal slope generated between the sea and the land. The coastal regions are surrounded by mountains causing diurnal mountain wind which reverses direction twice per day. Hydro power is used both for supplying final electricity demand and also ancillary services including grid flexibility. Therefore the input load variation of hydro power is only dependent on seasonal variation of ROR flows.



Figure 2.2: Input load curves for solar, wind and hydro power

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> These data were obtained from the NASA Langley Research Center (LaRC) POWER Project funded through the NASA Earth Science/Applied Science Program.

MESSAGE is a linear optimization model, developed by IIASA and distributed by IAEA to Member States, which is primarily used for medium-to-long term energy system planning, policy analysis and scenario development [77]. The energy flows are represented as energy chains starting from resources, imports and exports, primary energy, secondary energy, final and useful energies such as light, space heating, rotary motion and travel distance. The energy system is optimized under user defined constraints such as GHG emissions, emission penalties, ROR, land availability and addition of installed capacity.

The matrix generator module of MESSAGE converts the energy system variables as columns and relationships as rows of the linear optimization problem matrix. The energy system variables consist of energy flows representing activities, power representing capacities and stock-piles representing the temporal storage of energy. The constraints representing the boundary conditions of linear problem in time are represented as energy flow balances from resource extraction to final utilization, cumulative or relative activity constraints on an annual or cumulative basis and dynamic constraints setting relations for activities between two consecutive periods.

Energy conversion technologies are defined by using variables for their activities and capacities in a period. The activities represent energy flows whereas energy carriers like electricity and hydro-power are defined with load regions to represent hourly, weekly or monthly variations. Higher penetration of renewable energy technologies such as hydro-power and biomass also have impact on water and land resources which can be more pronounced for high energy and fossil fuel demand growth [124]. The capacities represent the power of energy conversion technologies whereas technologies whereas technologies whereas technologies.

The energy demand is supplied with installed capacity multiplied by capacity factor for technologies without load regions. Energy conversion technologies can use varying or multiple energy inputs and outputs. For technologies with load regions the energy demand is supplied by activity variables generated separately for each load region. The resource variables are defined as energy flow variables which define their annual extraction. Resources can also be categorized under separate cost categories defined by their grades. Storage of fuels or hydro-power are defined as stockpile variables giving the opportunity for storing on low demand and converting to other energy carriers on high demand. There are also specific requirements for some energy sources such as storage constraints for hydropower or cooling requirements for nuclear fuel.

Dynamic linear optimization model MESSAGE is used for analysing the energy supply system development from 2015 to 2050 for baseline scenarios represented by SSP1 to SSP3 and mitigation scenarios by including carbon prices from IAM benchmark studies of SSPs with respect to RCPs [180]. The technology options include energy conversion technologies from resources to primary energy (resource extraction/import), secondary energy (electricity, oil products) and final energy for electricity, heat and non-energy demand.

The emission factors are taken from GEA study of IIASA for final energy demand. Life-cycle emission factors are used for electricity generation assuming additional carbon emissions from construction and land use for renewable energy investments and fuel cycle from nuclear power investments. The externalities related to air pollutant emissions of  $SO_2$  and  $NO_x$  are included as damage costs in the model [96]. The general structure of modeling inputs and outputs are given in Figure 2.3.



# Figure 2.3: Energy system modeling using MESSAGE

Final energy demand for SSPs are calculated as exogenous input to model by Kaya

Identity Decomposition (Equation 2.1) using OECD forecasts for population and GDP and aggregate energy intensity (Energy/GDP) results of IAM studies for SSPs. Energy resource potentials of hard-coal and lignite are defined whereas oil and natural gas resources are neglected as their production is non-significant compared to their total primary energy demand. Electricity demand includes seasonal and daily affects whereas residential heating is defined with monthly loads taken from previous applications of MESSAGE for assessment of natural gas storage in Turkey.

$$CO_2 = Population \cdot \frac{GDP}{Population} \cdot \frac{Energy}{GDP} \cdot \frac{CO_2}{Energy}$$
(2.1)

The inputs for calculating the energy demand from Kaya Identity equation are included from the literature and databases listed below.

- SSP narratives and assumptions from Bauer et al. (2017) [10]
- Population and GDP projections from SSP database [83]
- Energy intensity of production for SSPs from Fricko et al. (2017) [49]
- Carbon prices from global IAM studies based on RCP database [80]

Years	Population	GDP-PPP	Final energy demand
	(million person)	(billion US\$@2005)	(MWyr)
2015	75.91	1139.45	117320.00
2020	79.81	1400.13	127538.95
2025	81.49	1697.00	136758.85
2030	84.35	2035.82	145148.77
2035	85.38	2410.22	152030.27
2040	86.99	2804.26	156491.28
2045	87.60	3193.05	157643.74
2050	87.35	3558.19	155417.09

Table 2.2: Final energy demand in SSP1 scenarios

Technology options include existing baseline and potential mitigation options which are considered to be available in the medium term until 2050. These include renew-

Years	Population	GDP-PPP	Final energy demand
	(million person)	(billion US\$@2005)	(MWyr)
2015	76.79	1145.46	117320.00
2020	81.01	1413.62	131007.74
2025	83.83	1691.51	141843.26
2030	87.77	1976.55	149972.31
2035	89.77	2269.88	155839.18
2040	92.75	2584.29	160541.45
2045	94.62	2910.04	163574.08
2050	95.88	3243.90	164988.46

Table 2.3: Final energy demand in SSP2 scenarios

Table 2.4: Final energy demand in SSP3 scenarios

Years	Population	GDP-PPP	Final energy demand
	(million person)	(billion US\$@2005)	(MWyr)
2015	77.50	1153.36	117320.00
2020	82.62	1431.10	139166.32
2025	86.86	1682.01	156367.98
2030	92.42	1902.17	169054.80
2035	96.22	2099.39	178372.35
2040	101.00	2294.49	186370.62
2045	105.58	2481.96	192726.70
2050	109.23	2664.26	197778.91

able energy technologies in the electricity sector, biofuels in the transport sector and nuclear energy with constraint of maximum one reactor unit commissioned in a selected year due to strict safety regulations.

Emission factors are for  $CO_2$  as climate forcing and  $SO_2$ ,  $NO_x$  and particulate matter as air pollutants [113]. Electricity sector  $CO_2$  emission factors are used as life-cycle emissions from GEA [81] as new capacity additions result in additional emissions from land-use, construction and fuel extraction-manufacturing.  $CO_2$  emissions for final energy demand are taken from national submissions of Turkey to UNFCCC. Fossil fueled power plants have options to run with or without filter based on the marginal costs of  $SO_2$  and  $NO_x$  emissions.

Final energy demand are calculated based on population and GDP projections and results of energy intensity of production from IAM studies of SSPs. This method is similar to the Triptych approach where the energy intensities of industry, residential and power sectors converge relative to historical activities [68]. GDP projections are based on conditional convergence of development with total factor of productivity increasing faster in developing countries than developed countries [41]. These projections are calculated separately for specific (electricity) and non-specific (heat) energy including rates of electrification in residential and transport sectors and feed-stock use.

Electricity grid flexibility to supply peak demand in all load regions is represented by user defined constraint where fossil fueled power plants make positive contribution and renewable energy (solar and wind) make negative contribution due to their intermittent. These are provided exogenously to the model whereas the transition of energy system will have feedbacks to flexibility requirements which are difficult to represent with linear constraints [55]. Fossil fueled and nuclear power plants also include ramping factors for increasing or decreasing their powers due to thermodynamic efficiencies for fossil fuels and neutron parameters for nuclear energy.

Energy resource potential include fossil fuel reserves which could be extracted during the modeling horizon and renewable energy sources which are feasible to utilize. Hard-coal and lignite are defined as fossil fuel reserves as natural gas and oil amounts are negligible compared to their demand in Turkey. The rate of change in the increase and decrease of hard-coal and lignite has constraints providing relatively stable time preference for these fuels during the modeling horizon. Natural gas is imported but represented with gas pipelines resulting in capital investment for supply of this fuel. Oil is imported both by crude oil and also oil products produced by refineries in Turkey whereas possible deficit of oil products are supplied by import.

Energy demand load is characterized by seasonal and weekly effects whereas season is represented by 12 months and weeks are represented by 3 load zones for workdays (maximum-average-minimum) and 2 load zones for weekends and holidays (highlow). This results in total 60 load regions for final electricity demand. Load regions for residential heating are represented with only seasonal effect. Hydro-power is supplied from river run-off based on precipitation loads in Eastern Turkey with major hydroelectric dams. Natural variability of flow is represented by ROR load regions which are controlled by storage to supply the demand load for electricity [46]. Solar and wind inputs maximums are arranged in different periods (solar during daytime, wind during morning and evening) so they do not compete for low-carbon electricity demand.



Figure 2.4: Final electricity demand normalized load curve

The final natural gas demand is also effected by seasonal variation of weather as nat-
ural gas is widely distributed for power, industrial and residential demand in Turkey [79]. During winter demand for natural gas increases for heating in residential dwelling and in summer in power sector for air conditioning and additional refrigeration demand (Figure 2.5). Unlike electricity, natural gas can be stored under geological formations and inside pipelines in order to protect the gas market from price volatility and demand peak fluctuations. However the volume of natural gas storage is assumed to be negligible compared to annual final energy demand as local production volume is also very small [79]. The annual capacity factor of final natural gas demand is calculated to be 70% in MESSAGE inter-phase for the modeling solver.



Natural Gas Demand Load Curve

Figure 2.5: Final natural gas for residential heat demand normalized load curve

One of the main reason to include a natural gas demand load curve for final energy is the elasticity of substitution with natural gas for power sector. Primary natural gas is both supplied to power sector and also distributed for final energy demand which is price elastic. Final energy demand for natural gas is defined exogenously effecting the primary natural gas supply for power sector. The seasonal variability of final natural gas demand provides a more realistic situation for the primary natural gas seasonal availability for the power sector.

The seasonal, daily and hourly variations of electricity demand are defined by using

the load data from Ministry of Energy and Natural Resources [122] database which are simplified for usage in MESSAGE. The electricity demand load is generalized for three regions during workdays and two regions during weekends and holidays for all seasons (Figure 2.4). The electricity demand load is normalized to annual final electricity demand increasing in winter for additional heating and in summer for increasing air conditioning and refrigeration requirements. The annual capacity factor of final electricity demand is calculated to be 85% in MESSAGE inter-phase for the modeling solver.

#### 2.2 Energy supply system modeling

MESSAGE is a linear optimization model for assessment of the energy supply system development to supply the energy demand based on constraints related to technical capacities of power plants, feasible capacities of renewable energy technologies, the installed capacity in the reference year and market penetration rates of primary energy supplies. The model is used in this study to minimize the total discounted energy system cost from 2015 to 2050 using 5 year intervals using the social discount rate assessed by Halicioglu and Karatas [64]. The GLPK solver together with MESSAGE uses iterative method solving both the primal and dual solutions simultaneously and providing the optimization results with their ranges inside the feasible region [53].

The objective function (Equation 2.2) is denoted by z calculated by the linear multiplication of c including costs and x including the levels of activities. The equations used in the problem are constructed as the rows with technology variables dispersed as the columns of A. The solver calculates the activities of energy conversion technologies x from resources to final energy demand in order to satisfy the right hand side constraint denoted as b. Slack variables  $\lambda_j$  are included by the solver with zero activities to convert the inequalities into equality constraints.

$$\min. \longrightarrow z = \underline{c}_{j}^{T} * \underline{x}_{j}$$

$$s.t. \longrightarrow \underline{\underline{A}}_{ij} * \underline{x}_{j} \ge \underline{b}_{i}$$

$$x_{j} \ge 0 \forall j$$
(2.2)

The dual solution function (Equation 2.3) is denoted by w calculated by the linear multiplication of right hand side constraint denoted as b and utility of using these resources u which are considered as scarcity rent of using these resources. The equations used in the dual problem are constructed as the vector multiplication of scarcity rents related to equations of primal problem constraints (Equation 2.2) and technology variables dispersed as the columns of A. The solver calculates the shadow prices of energy of the inputs to the energy conversion technologies u in order to satisfy the costs of input activities of energy conversion technologies c.

$$max. \longrightarrow w = \underline{b}_i^T * \underline{u}_i$$
  
$$s.t. \longrightarrow \underline{u}_i^T * \underline{\underline{A}}_{ij} \leq \underline{c}_j$$
  
$$u_i \in \mathbb{Q} \ \forall i$$
  
$$(2.3)$$

The GLPK solver used by the MESSAGE model calculates the primal and dual problems iteratively searching for convergence of both solutions using Kuhn-Tucker conditions [14] for characterizing the optimality of the linear program (Equation 2.4).

$$\underline{\underline{u}}_{i}^{T} * \left(\underline{\underline{A}}_{ij} * \underline{\underline{x}}_{j} - \underline{\underline{b}}_{i}\right) = 0$$

$$\underline{\lambda}_{j}^{T} * \left(\underline{\underline{u}}_{i}^{T} * \underline{\underline{A}}_{ij} - \underline{\underline{c}}_{j}\right) = 0$$

$$\lambda_{i} \ge 0 \forall j$$
(2.4)

General energy balance table is used for defining energy system structure from primary energy to final energy sources. Energy demand projections are calculated using Population and GDP projections from SSP database hosted by IIASA [180] and reductions in energy intensity of productions for SSPs. The natural resources are hardcoal and lignite where local oil and gas resources are neglected due to their very low shares. Policy constraint is defined for nuclear energy where safety regulations are strict and therefore for each modeling year maximum one reactor unit is permitted to be commissioned.

The selection of the discount rate is an important assumption based on the importance given to the benefits of the future generations. The discount rate should also be con-

sistent with the real interest and savings rates in the market to answer question on the quantity, speed and cost of investments required for climate change mitigation and adaptation [131].

All costs related to the activity and capacity addition of energy conversion technologies are discounted to the first year of the modeling period in the objective function (Equation 2.5). Discounting of activity costs are done from the beginning of the year whereas capacity investment costs are discounted from the middle of the year to the initial modeling year. The technologies convert energy forms starting from resources to primary energy, secondary energy (electricity) and final energy with inputs given exogenous based on Kaya Identity Decomposition of data from SSP database hosted by IIASA [180].

Load regions are defined for input of intermittent renewable sources (hydro, wind and solar) and final demand for electricity and residential heating. The user defined relations calculate the costs of environmental emissions  $SO_2$  and  $NO_x$  for all scenarios and  $CO_2$  for scenarios with climate targets defined by RCPs. Investments for new capacity additions are split in half completed before commissioning and the remaining half following commissioning of the units. User defined relations are only related to the activities of energy conversion technologies and local capacities of fossil and

renewable resources are defined as activities.

$$\begin{split} \sum_{r} \sum_{t} \left[ \beta_{m}^{t} \Delta t \sum_{zsvd} \sum_{lll} \left\{ zsvd....rrlllttt \times \epsilon_{zsvd} \times ccur(zsvd, t) + \right. \\ \sum_{r} \sum_{i=1,2,c} \sum_{m} rho_{zsvd}^{mlt} \times cari(ml, t) + \sum_{zsvd} \sum_{\tau=t-\tau_{zsvd}} \Delta \tau \times yzsvd..\tau \times cfix(zsvd, \tau) + \\ \sum_{g} \sum_{l} \sum_{p} rzrg....rrlllttt \times cres(zrg, t) \right\} + \\ \beta_{b}^{t} \Delta(t-1) \sum_{zsvd} \sum_{\tau=t}^{t+t_{d}} \left\{ yzsvd...rr...\tau \times ccap(svd, \tau) \times fri_{zsvd}^{t_{d}-\tau} + \\ \sum_{i=1,2,c} \sum_{m} rc_{zsvd}^{mt} \times cari(m, t) \times fra_{zsvd,m}^{t_{d}-\tau} \right\} \right] \longrightarrow min \\ \beta_{b}^{t} = \left[ \frac{1}{1+\frac{dr}{100}} \right]^{t-t_{0}}, \beta_{m}^{t} = \left[ \frac{1}{1+\frac{dr}{100}} \right]^{t+\frac{\Delta t}{2}-t_{0}}, \end{split}$$

$$(2.5)$$

Energy demand is defined exogenous in the model based on the calculation using Kaya Identity Composition to socio-economic indicators given in SSP database hosted by IIASA [180]. Primary solar and wind energies have load regions complementing each other by favoring solar during sinking of the air (passive weather) and wind during rising of the air (active weather) (Equation 2.6). Final electricity has hourly load regions whereas final gas and residential heat has monthly load regions to represent the effects of temperature change between seasons. Load regions for primary and secondary energy sources are summed up to calculate the final energy demand without load regions (Equation 2.7).

$$\sum_{sv} \epsilon_{zsvd} \times zsvd...rrlllttt + \sum_{sv} \beta_{zsv\delta}^d \times zsv\delta...rrlllttt \ge D_{drlt}$$
(2.6)

$$\sum_{l} \sum_{sv} \epsilon_{zsvd} \times zsvd....rrlllttt + \sum_{sv} \beta_{zsv\delta}^d \times zsv\delta....rrlllttt \ge D_{drt}$$
(2.7)

Energy balance equations are for all energy levels for final specific (electricity) and non-specific (heat) energy demand. For nuclear fuel cycle energy balance equations

dr	discount rate in percent,
zsvdrrlllttt	annual consumption of technology $zsvd$ of fuel $s\ {\rm load}\ {\rm region}\ l$ and pe-
	riod <i>t</i> ,
$\epsilon_{zsvd}$	efficiency of technology $zsvd$ in converting $s$ to $d$ ,
ccur(zsvd,t)	variable operation and maintenance costs of technology $zsvd$ (per unit
	of main output) in period $t$ ,
$rho_{zsvd}^{mlt}$	relative factor per unit of output of technology $v$ for relational constraint
	m in period $t$ , load region $l$ ,
car1(ml,t)	coefficients for the objective function, that are related to the user defined
	relation $m$ for load region $l$ in period $t$ ,
yzsvdrrttt	annual new built capacity of technology $zsvd$ in period $t$ ,
cfix(zsvd,t)	fix operation and maintenance cost of technology $zsvd$ that was built in
	period t,
ccap(zsvd,t)	specific investment cost of technology $v$ in period $t$ (given per unit of
	main output),
$fri_{zsvd}^n$	share of this investment that has to be paid $n$ periods before the first
	year of operation,
$rc_{zsvd}^{mt}$	relative factor per unit of new built capacity of technology $zsvd$ for user
	defined relation $m$ in period $t$ ,
$fra^n_{zsvd,m}$	share of the relative amount of the user defined relation $\boldsymbol{m}$ that occurs $\boldsymbol{n}$
	periods before the first year of operation,
rzrgrrlllttt	annual consumption of resource $r$ , grade $g$ in load region $l$ and period $t$ ,
cres(rgpl,t)	cost of extracting resource $r$ , grade $g$ , elasticity class $p$ in period $t$ and
	load region <i>l</i>

Table 2.5: Definition of objective function variables

# Table 2.6: Definition of energy demand function variables

zsvdrrlllttt	activity of end-use technology $zsvd$ in load region $l$ and period $t$ ,
$\epsilon_{zsvd}$	efficiency of end-use technology $zsvd$ in converting s to d,
$\beta^d_{zsv\delta}$	efficiency of end-use technology $zsvd$ in producing by-product $d$ from
	$s$ ( $\delta$ is the main output of the technology),
$D_{drlt}$	annual demand for $d$ in load region $l$ and period $t$

include front-end (from uranium import to nuclear fuel loading to the reactor) and back-end (spent fuel cooling and interim storage) activities (Equation 2.8).

$$\sum_{sv} \epsilon_{zsve} \times zsve...rrlllttt + \sum_{sv} \beta^{e}_{zsv\kappa} \times zsv\kappa...rrlllttt - \sum_{zvd} zevd...rrlllttt - \sum_{zkvd} \beta^{e}_{z\kappavd} \times z\kappavd...rrlllttt \ge 0$$

$$(2.8)$$

Table 2.7: Definition	of energy	balance	function	variables
-----------------------	-----------	---------	----------	-----------

Capacities of energy conversion technologies with their output defined by load regions require investments in order to provide the availability of installed capacity to supply both base-load and also peak load demands (Equation 2.9). In case installed capacity is not capable of supplying part of the peak load there is technology for electricity import with high variable cost of 2000 US\$2005/kWyr. Technology without load region is defined as oil refineries converting crude oil to oil products whereas technology with monthly load is gas pipelines transporting natural gas (mainly Russia) for final natural gas demand (Equation 2.10).

$$\epsilon_{zsvd} \times zsvd...rrlllttt - \sum_{\tau=t-\tau_{zsvd}}^{t} \Delta(\tau-1) \pi_{zsvd} \Delta l f_i f_p \times yzsvd...rr...\tau \leq$$
(2.9)

 $hc_{zsvd}^t \times \Delta l \times \pi_{zsvd}$ 

$$\epsilon_{zsvd} \times zsvd...rr...ttt - \sum_{\tau=t-\tau_{zsvd}}^{t} \Delta(\tau-1) \pi_{zsvd} f_i f_p \times yzsvd...rr...\tau \leq$$
(2.10)

 $hc_{zsvd}^t \times \pi_{zsvd}$ 

## Table 2.8: Definition of energy capacity function variables

zsvdrrlllttt	activity of conversion technology $zsvd$ in load region $l$ and period $t$ ,
yzsvdrrttt	capacity variable of conversion technology zsvd,
$\epsilon_{zsvd}$	efficiency of technology $zsvd$ in converting the main energy input $s$ into
	the main energy output $d$ ,
$\pi_{svd}$	plant factor of technology zsvd,
$\Delta \tau$	length of period $\Delta \tau$ in years,
$ au_{zsvd}$	plant life of technology zsvd in periods,
$hc_{zsvd}^t$	historical capacity of technology $zsvd$ still in operation in the first year
	of period <i>t</i> ,
$f_i$	unit size for integer variable and 1 for non-integer,
$f_p$	adjustment factor if the end of the plant life does not coincide with the
	end of a period,
$\Delta l$	length of the load region $l$ per length of period $t$

Renewable energy sources are defined in energy balance equations with upper constraints on their annual activities. Meanwhile electricity generated from hydro-power is defined using river run-off with monthly load regions and storage for dam type hydro-power generation (Equation 2.13). In the model the initial river run-off first feeds ROR type hydro-power (Equation 2.12) followed by storage in dam with additional input from run-off and electricity generation from reservoir type hydro-power (Equation 2.11).

$$I1riv...rrlllttt + W1riv...rrlllttt = 1riv...rrlllttt$$
(2.11)

$$I1riv...rrlllttt - z.vd...rrlllttt = 1riv...rrlllttt$$
(2.12)

$$\Delta t \times I1riv - \Delta t \times z.vd....rrlllttt - \Delta t \times V1sno....lllttt + X1sto....lllltttl = X1sto....lllttt (2.13)$$

The energy supply system utilizes the energy resources available during the modeling horizon based on both cost and resource optimization (Equation 2.14). The energy

### Table 2.9: Definition of river balance function variables

I1rivrrlllttt	Inflow from $1riv$ in load region $l$ and period $t$ ,
W1rivrrlllttt	Water withdrawn from $1riv$ for storage in load region $l$ and period $t$ ,
z.vdrrlllttt	Water with drawn from $1 riv$ for producing $d$ using technology v in load
	region $l$ and period $t$ ,
1rivrrlllttt	Inflow to $1riv$ in load region $l$ and period $t$

Table 2.10: Definition of hydro storage function variables

V1snolllttt	Water withdrawn from $X1sto$ for other purposes in period $l$ and period
	<i>t</i> ,
$X1stolll^{l}ttt^{l}$	Water transferred to $X1sto$ from previous load region $l^l$ and period $t^l$ ,
X1stolllttt	Water stored in $X1sto$ during load region $l$ and period $t$

content of resources hard-coal and lignite are defined in the model as available for Turkey during the modeling horizon as oil and natural gas production are negligible compared to their final energy demand.

$$\sum_{ttt} \sum_{g} rzfg.....ttt \le rzfg....$$
(2.14)

Table 2.11: Definition of resource function variables

rzfg....ttt annual extraction of resource f, cost category (grade) g in period ttt, rzfg... total available amount of resource f and grade g

#### 2.3 Socioeconomic and technological data

The socioeconomic projections for Turkey are taken from OECD data hosted by IIASA for SSPs [153] and the techno-economic results of IAM studies evaluating the costs of carbon emission reduction represented by RCPs. The dynamic linear optimization model MESSAGE is used for modeling of energy supply system development from 2015 to 2050 with reference year 2014 based on the socio-economic and techno-economic assumptions for Baseline and climate mitigation scenarios. Turkey's

historical data for population and GDP with future projections for SSPs are selected from OECD study provided in SSP database [83].

The model assumes a central planner with long-term horizon making investment decisions to minimize total energy system cost under user defined constraints. As this assumption is far from reality as many players make decisions based on short term horizons, we define temporal scales to baseline scenarios for SSPs. SSP1 with low energy demand due to major paradigm change represents low baseline, SSP3 with high energy demand represents high baseline and SSP2 represents BAU scenarios.

Emissions of atmospheric pollutants are internalized by integrating FGD for  $SO_2$  and SCD for  $NO_x$  emissions to power plants and applying penalty costs with related data on damage [96]. The emission factors for  $SO_2$  (Table 2.12) and  $NO_x$  (Table 2.13) from power plants are taken from Masanet et al. study as listed below[113].

Table 2.12: SO<sub>2</sub> emission factors from electricity generation in kton/MWyr

Technology	Emission factor
Coal_Dom_PP	0.035
Coal_Dom_PP[with_filter]	0.0035
Coal_Imp_PP	0.035
Coal_Imp_PP[with_filter]	0.0035
Oil_PP	0.043

Table 2.13:  $NO_x$  emission factors from electricity generation in kton/MWyr

Technology	Emission factor
Coal_Dom_PP	0.035
Coal_Dom_PP[with_filter]	0.0175
Coal_Imp_PP	0.035
Coal_Imp_PP[with_filter]	0.0175
Gas_PP	0.017
Oil_PP	0.021

Fricko et al. study uses the IAM framework developed by IIASA to assess the market implementation of the SSP2 scenario [49]. The IIASA framework consists of five different models complementing each other in the fields of energy, land use, air pollution, macro-economy and climate systems. The results of SSP2 take a central position between SSP1 and SSP3 considering climate change mitigation and adaptation challenges. SSP narratives describe the socio-economic pathways related to the transformation of the energy sector by the end of the 21st century (Table 2.14). The study concludes that SSP2 marker scenario reflects an extension of historical experience projecting global warming to 4°C by 2100. However there are also options to limit global warming below 2°C based on climate policy implementations including vulnerability, health and exposure aspects.

Sector	SSP1	SSP2	SSP3
Energy demand intensity	-2.45	-2.00	-0.90
Transport electricification	0.62	0.45	0.11
Residential electrification	4.00	3.00	2.00
Feedstock reduction	-0.59	-0.64	-0.51

Table 2.14: Transformation of the energy sector in annual rate of change (%/yr)

Conversion efficiencies of technologies are elaborated based on IIASA study and also considering national circumstances (Table 2.15) [81]. Unit capacities are defined for electricity generation technologies except solar and wind power plants which can be utilized at small scales [109]. The installed capacities are included in the model for oil refineries (Table 2.17), electricity transmission grids and bio-diesel production and the remaining final energy demand is calculated by conversion of primary and secondary energy sources with activity coefficients (Table 2.16). Conversion efficiency for electricity transmission and losses include losses and theft which amounts to 20% of secondary electricity generated. Process heat is supplied from CHP plant with back-pressure units using natural gas as fuel and heat extracted from coke production.

Uranium costs are taken from Optimistic Uranium Crustal models for SSPs and frontend costs from IAEA database with per kg uranium costs for extraction and conversion, per kg SWU for enrichment and per kg enriched uranium for fuel fabrication (Table 2.18). Uranium is imported as yellow cake followed by enrichment to  $UF_6$ gas for enrichment. Uranium enrichment services are assumed to be supplied from

	Main input	Efficiency	Load factor	Lifetime	Unit capacity
				(yr)	(MW)
Bio_PP	Biomass/PRIMARY	0.35	0.30	40	3
Coal_Dom_PP	Coal_Dom/PRIMARY	0.40	0.85	40	160
Coal_Imp_PP	Coal_Imp/PRIMARY	0.47	0.85	40	320
Gas_PP	Gas/PRIMARY	0.52	0.85	30	600
Geo_PP	Geothermal/PRIMARY	0.35	0.30	40	1
Hydro_PP_Res		1.00	0.30	60	100
Hydro_PP_ROR		1.00	0.30	60	20
Oil_PP	Oil/PRIMARY	0.34	0.85	30	100
Solar_PP		1.00	0.30	25	
Wind_PP		1.00	0.30	25	

Table 2.15: Technology variables for power plant technologies

Table 2.16: Technology variables for energy conversion technologies

Technology	Main input	Main output	Efficiency	Lifetime (yr)
Bio_TD	Biomass/PRIMARY	Biomass/FINAL	1.00	
Coal_Dom_F	Coal_Dom/PRIMARY	Coal/FINAL	1.00	
Coke_Prod	Coal_Imp/PRIMARY	Coke/FINAL	0.70	
Biodiesel	Biomass/PRIMARY	Diesel/FINAL	0.49	60
Diesel_Imp		Diesel/FINAL	1.00	
Elec_S_F	Electricity/SECONDARY	Electricity/FINAL	0.82	50
Feedstock_Imp		Feedstock/FINAL	1.00	
Fuel_Oil_Imp		Fuel_oil/FINAL	1.00	
Gas_TD	Gas/PRIMARY	Gas/FINAL	1.00	
Gasoline_Imp		Gasoline_Imp	1.00	
Kerosene_Imp		Kerosene/FINAL	1.00	
LPG_Imp		LPG/FINAL	1.00	
Oil_Ref	Oil/PRIMARY	Oil/DUMMY	1.00	60
Petrocoke_Imp		Petrocoke/FINAL	1.00	
Geo_heat	Geothermal/PRIMARY	Residential_heat/FINAL	1.00	
Solar_heat	Solar/PRIMARY	Residential_heat/FINAL	1.00	

Oil product	Share
Diesel/FINAL	0.29
Gasoline/FINAL	0.17
Kerosene/FINAL	0.17
Feedstock/FINAL	0.14
Fuel_oil/FINAL	0.12
Petrocoke/FINAL	0.05
LPG/FINAL	0.05

Table 2.17: Oil product production shares of oil refineries

abroad using SWU as secondary input required for work input. Enriched uranium is used for nuclear fuel production for loading the core of nuclear power plants for electricity generation. Variable costs for nuclear fuel cycle are taken from IAEA study [77] for advanced PWR per kg uranium fed to the process. The fuel costs for transfer from resources to primary energy sources are taken as their variable costs.

Technology	Units	SSP1	SSP2	SSP3	Upper capacity
					(tHM)
Uranium_imp	US\$/kgU	100.00	125.00	150.00	
Conversion	US\$/kgU	8.00	8.00	8.00	
Enrichment	US\$/SWU	82.83	82.83	82.83	
LWR_fuel_production	US\$/kgHM	275.00	275.00	275.00	
LWR_cooling_storage	US\$/kgHM/yr	5.00	5.00	5.00	1000
LWR_interim_storage	US\$/kgHM/yr	4.00	4.00	4.00	10000

Table 2.18: Technology variables for nuclear fuel cycle

The load factors of technologies are normalized using General Energy Balance Sheets of Turkey for reference year of 2014 [121]. Although in general load factors of base load technologies are on average 85% and of renewable energy on average 30%, the availability of domestic coal power plants which require refurbishment are reduced according to national accounts. The prices of fossil fuel extraction and import are used from IAM studies of SSPs depending on their demand and availability of resources (Table 2.19).

Primary energy	SSP1	SSP2	SSP3
Coal	47.30	63.07	94.61
Oil	173.45	173.45	173.45
Gas	173.45	173.45	157.68

Table 2.19: Costs of primary energy sources in US\$/kWyr

The construction period of nuclear power plant is longer than other conventional technologies considering the planning period for site selection and licensing [111]. The construction period of other conversion technologies are below 5 years. The operation lifetime of NPPs have extended to 60 years with advanced designs whereas other conventional technologies are on average 40 years with renewable energy further below 30 years.

Although renewable energy sources are abundant by definition, their utilization depends on both socio-economic and environmental factors (Table 2.20). Most of the large hydro capacity of Turkey is already utilized leaving room for investments to ROR and mini hydropower. Although solar energy is available by two orders of magnitude more than hydropower, its mass utilization depends on techno-economic factors. The capacity potential for wind, geothermal and biomass represents the economically feasible portion [78].

Primary energy	Main output	2014 activity	Maximum activity
		(MWyr)	(MWyr)
Solar	Solar/PRIMARY	1069	8208000
Wind	Wind/PRIMARY	975	48000
Geothermal	Geothermal/PRIMARY	4686	31500
Biomass	Biomass/PRIMARY	1881	13433

Table 2.20: Feasible potentials of primary renewable energy sources

Most of the coal resources are categorized under brown coal and lignite which is grouped as lignite in the model (Table 2.21). Hard coal reserves are limited therefore the deficiency is supplied by imported coal with high calorific value. Although there is no uranium mining activity in Turkey, there has been exploration and mine development activities since 1970s with potential sites for mining depending on their feasibility under low uranium prices [128].

Primary energy	Resources
Lignite	2465753
Hardcoal	440925

Table 2.21: Domestic coal reserves in MWyr

#### 2.4 Robustness of electricity supply system

The supply of electricity should meet the requirements for demand load fluctuations and ancillary services for robustness of the grid to supply the required voltage and frequency during all times. This robustness is defined by the adequacy, security and reliability of the electricity supply system from secondary electricity generation until final demand. The flexibility requirement in MESSAGE model is defined as a linear constraint with fossil power plants increasing and renewable power plants decreasing the contribution to supply final electricity demand load fluctuations (Equation 2.15) [168].

$$Parameter \cdot Electricity \ generation \ge 0 \tag{2.15}$$

Although nuclear energy generation could suit demands for load following, this is not the preferred solution due to buildup of fission products inside core and mechanical stress imposed on reactor containment vessel [87]. The capacity of technologies for flexibility to supply peak demand is taken from Sullivan et al. [168] assessing the reliability of electricity sector using peak load, resource availability and system dispatch data in the U.S. using MESSAGE. The results show that flexibility requirements (Table 2.22) for load following increases marginal costs of renewable energy technologies and reduces their investments.

The adequacy of the electricity supply system requires available resources to provide a continuous supply in normal operating conditions. Both energy resources and electricity generation installed capacity should be available to cover the demand. Security

Electricity generation	Parameter
Total annual electricity	-0.1
Wind	-0.08
Solar PV	-0.05
Geothermal	0
Nuclear	0
Coal	0.15
Biopower	0.3
Combined cycle gas	0.5
Hydropower	0.5
Oil steam turbine	1
Gas combustion turbine	1

Table 2.22: Flexibility parameters for the electricity grid

of electricity supply deals with unexpected failures and contingencies. The intermittency of renewable energy sources such as wind and solar power create problems for supplying unexpected fluctuations in demand. Also the electricity grid should have available capacity to compensate any transmission capacity which is not available for usage. This also requires the reliability of the electricity transmission system to balance the demand with supply at all times.

Electricity which is non-storable should be generated based on the fluctuations in final demand. Power generators are requested to ramp-up or ramp-down production by the transmission operator in order to supply the demand load. Natural gas demand for final energy used for residential heat increases during winter time and decreases during summer time. Storage of natural gas in saline aquifers is planned in Turkey to protect the market from price volatility and supply the peak demand in case of harsh winters [8]. The filling of hydropower reserves and run-off for river type power plants depends on annual precipitation and evaporation loads with monthly average precipitation rates between 1970 and 2017 are taken as proxy [8].

Final electricity demand requires available capacity to supply peak hours where consumption is more than average. NPPs operated in countries with large penetration of renewable energy generation contribute to primary and secondary reserves for stabilization of generation to supply load changes and also the frequency of electricity supplied in the grid [27]. The capacity of technologies to ramp up or down electricity production depends on their physical properties for combustion energy and environmental properties for renewable energy. Electricity transmission operator should guarantee the stability of load and frequency in order to balance the supply and demand of electricity in all load regions. This is accomplished by hot reserves with available capacity to ramp-up or ramp-down and cold reserves with additional capacity which can be ordered to take load on peak demand. Fossil fueled power plants with large turbine-generators contribute positive to flexibility whereas intermittent renewable sources contribute negatively. Hydro-power with reservoir provides storage capacity supporting the flexibility of the grid. Nuclear has low rates of ramp-up and ramp-down due to neutronic and thermal properties and requires fossil reserves in case of power outages (Table 2.23).

Power plant	Ramp up	Ramp down
Gas_PP	120	120
Gas_PP[with_CHP]	60	60
Nuclear_PP	100	100
Coal_Dom_PP	16	16
Coal_Imp_PP	32	32

Table 2.23: Power change requirements for power plants (MW/hr)

The transition from centralized electricity grid system to more distributed generation requires both technological and also institutional solutions which can create challenges for developing countries [107]. Distributed electricity generation provides advantages for local and regional electrification and also reducing investment requirements for grid infrastructure. However the energy system requires additional power generation sources in case of power outages requiring low carbon transition mechanisms as the most available sources are diesel generation in these situations.

#### 2.5 Earth system feed-backs

The relationship between the climate and the earth system is bi-directional whereas the feed-backs from earth system due to the radiative forcings could either stabilize or increase the impact on climate change. Land and oceans are potential sources and sinks of carbon in the atmosphere whereas climate change could have impact on these capacities [104]. SSPs have varying implications on land use change which requires further research not only by IAM researchers but also by ecological and climate scientists [147]. These stresses could generate climate extremes with impacts not only on the physical interactions of the earth system but also on social services requiring focus on these issues [164].

The IAM studies include linkages of energy sector with land and water use as carbon cycle includes bi-directional interactions between atmosphere, lithosphere and hydrospere. Atmospheric carbon concentration is effected by sources and sinks with different residence times in the organic and inorganic carbon reservoirs [117]. The rate of increase in surface temperature depends both on the initial conditions and historic trajectories which determine the climate sensitivity used for climate models. The SSPs are classified based on the challenges for achieving climate change mitigation and adaptation.

The metrics used for the radiative forcing of GHGs has effect on the results of IAM studies for quantification of the socio-economic and climate scenarios [66]. There are different GHGs such as  $CH_4$  and  $N_2O$  originating from energy upstream activities contributing to radiative forcing with temporally different global warming potentials (Table 2.24). The global warming potential of these GHGs are compared to the impact of radiative forcing generated by  $CO_2$  with temporal scale of 20 and 100 years. Selection of the energy system modeling time horizon with respect to the lifetime used for GWP metric has effect on the costs of GHG emission reduction for all models.

The carbon cycle in the earth system is still dominated by natural processes of sources and sinks which are projected to change in the temporal scale of energy supply system models used for assessing climate change mitigation policies. The impact of

Metrics	Target	<i>CH</i> <sub>4</sub> ( <i>CO</i> <sub>2</sub> =1)	N <sub>2</sub> O (CO <sub>2</sub> =1)
GWP 100 (AR4)	2.8 W/m2 or 3.7 W/m2	25	298
GWP 20 (AR4)		72	289

Table 2.24: Global warming potentials for temporal scales of 20 and 100 years

GHG emissions have long term effects on radiative forcing where the results of current emission trends will be effective in the second half of the 21st century [90]. The potential role of negative emission technologies after 2050 would increase the remaining carbon budget in the atmosphere requiring further assessment for both negative feedback from reduced reliance on upstream activities and positive feedback from rebound effect [61].

#### **CHAPTER 3**

## **ANALYSIS OF RESULTS**

#### **3.1** Modeling results

The marginal costs of generating electricity provide price signals for selecting the technology for supplying increasing electricity demand. The dynamic linear cost optimization algorithm of the model compares these marginal costs with the lifetime costs of energy technologies including their capital and operation costs discounted during their operation lifetime. This selection is also affected by other user defined constraints such as electricity grid flexibility requirement and resource availability. The results at the end of the modeling period are affected by end-of-horizon effect. The capital costs are for all operation lifetime whereas investments at the end of the modeling period have less operation lifetime which is reflected by reducing their capital costs. Therefore investment results at the end of the modeling period should be evaluated with caution.

High capital cost of nuclear energy requires financing strategies to be utilized in order to minimize the financial risk [172]. Construction scheduling is also essential in order to prevent cost escalations of major projects [22]. Few new-build nuclear countries, such as Saudi Arabia or UAE, can finance nuclear projects relying on their domestic financing resources. New projects adopt project financing through establishment of SPVs for non-recourse of financial responsibility to the project sponsors. However there are constraints from licensing as nuclear operators have exclusive liability for safety and organizations in new-build countries generally lack proven experience to cover this responsibility [161].

#### **3.1.1** Energy system costs

Energy system costs are discounted to the initial year 2015 using social discount rate of 5.06% [64]. As a result the technologies with high initial capital costs are delayed towards the end of the modeling horizon as they will have reduced costs for the current generation. Technologies with long operating lifetimes such as NPPs are also affected by the end-of-horizon effect where their capital costs are reduced in accordance to the remaining period until the end of the modeling horizon (Equation 3.1).

$$C_t^r = C_t \times \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{\tau_p - \nu} \prod_{\tau=t}^{t+k-1} \frac{1}{1+dr_{\tau}}}{\sum_{k=1}^{\tau_p} \prod_{\tau=t}^{t+k-1} \frac{1}{1+dr_{\tau}}}$$
(3.1)

Table 3.1: Definition of end of horizon function variables

- $\nu$  number of years technology is operation after end of modeling horizon
- $dr_{\tau}$  discount rate for year  $\tau$
- $\tau_p$  plant life in years
- $C_t$  investment cost in year t
- $C_t^r$  reduced investment considering the modeling horizon

The increase in discounted total energy system cost from baseline to RCP2.6 in SSP1 is 15% after the costs of atmospheric emissions are mitigated by investments in low carbon technologies (Figure 3.1). This increase is reduced to 6% for RCP3.4 and 2% for RCP4.5 as a result of reduced costs of  $CO_2$  emissions. The higher increase of cost in RCP2.6 is also affected by lack of mitigation options in the energy system which can benefit from additional demand side technology innovations.

The objective function discounts the energy system costs related to the installation, operation and maintenance together with user defined external costs of energy conversion technologies (Table 3.2). The share of externality costs in Baseline scenario is related to the costs of penalty for  $SO_2$  and  $NO_x$  emissions which can be reduced by using emission filters in coal power plants. The operation of these filters reduces  $SO_2$  emissions by 90% and  $NO_x$  emissions by 50% reducing the penalty costs.

Costs of  $CO_2$  emissions are included for RCPs which increases the share of costs

#### Total energy system cost for RCPs in SSP1



Figure 3.1: Energy system costs for RCPs in SSP1 compared to baseline

related to externalities from 2.5% of total cost for Baseline to 9.6% in RCP2.6. The increasing cost of externalities in RCP scenarios provide an opportunity for using these costs for investing in low carbon technologies. This results in transfer of revenues from fossil fueled power plants to low carbon technologies reducing the total energy system cost.

Code	Definition	Baseline	RCP4.5	RCP3.4	RCP2.6
car1	Externality costs	33	50	81	140
ccap	Installation costs	180	183	187	201
ccur	O&M costs	1130	1130	1130	1120
	Total	1340	1360	1390	1460

Table 3.2: Total energy system costs (billion US\$) in SSP1

The total discounted energy system cost for RCP2.6 in SSP2 increases by 33% compared to Baseline which reduces to 16% for RCP3.4, 11% for RCP4.5 and 8% for RCP6.0 (Figure 3.2). The main reason for higher increase in total energy system cost is the lower learning rate of low carbon technologies as a result of less ambition for climate mitigation compared to SSP1 narrative. There is also a potential for compensating this higher increase by usage of revenues from emission penalty costs for investing in low carbon technologies.



Total energy system cost for RCPs in SSP2

Figure 3.2: Energy system costs for RCPs in SSP2 compared to baseline

Energy system costs for SSP2 are higher compared to SSP1 as a result of reduced energy efficiency improvements and higher projections of population resulting in higher final energy demand (Table 3.3). Costs of  $CO_2$  emission are included for RCPs which increases the share of costs related to externalities from 2.7% in Baseline to 17.5% in RCP2.6. The rapid increase of installation and externality costs for RCP2.6 requires larger requirements for financing which can be compensated by revenues from emission penalty costs.

Table 3.3: Total energy system costs (billion US\$) in SSP2

Code	Definition	Baseline	RCP6.0	RCP4.5	RCP3.4	RCP2.6
car1	Externality costs	38	81	111	163	299
ccap	Installation costs	136	136	138	138	195
ccur	O&M costs	1240	1240	1240	1240	1210
	Total	1420	1460	1490	1540	1710

Total energy system cost for RCP3.4 in SSP3 increases by 43% compared to baseline

due to higher prices for CO2 emissions under ambitious climate targets which is reduced to 24% for RCP4.5 and 12% for RCP6.0 (Figure 3.3). The higher increase in total energy system costs for SSP3 is based on the higher projection for population increase and lesser improvements in energy efficiency resulting in higher increase in final energy demand. The energy system requires high capital investment to supply this increasing demand which makes the achievement of mitigation targets more difficult compared to SSP2 and SSP1 scenarios.



Total energy system cost for RCPs in SSP3

Figure 3.3: Energy system costs for RCPs in SSP3 compared to baseline

Energy system costs for SSP3 are higher similar to SSP2 as a result of reduced energy efficiency improvements and higher projections of population resulting in higher final energy demand (Figure 3.4). RCP scenarios include penalty costs for  $CO_2$  emissions which increases the share of costs related to externalities in total energy system costs from 2.4% in Baseline to 23.3% in RCP3.4. The rapid increase of installation and externality costs for RCP3.4 requires larger requirements for financing with questions concerning the feasibility of low carbon energy investments.

Turkey is still one of the few countries which have signed but not yet ratified the Paris Agreement of the UNFCCC. However Turkey also continues to invest on low carbon energy technologies using both domestic and international financing mecha-

Code	Definition	Baseline	RCP6.0	RCP4.5	RCP3.4
car1	Externality costs	38	133	266	480
ccap	Installation costs	130	132	145	186
ccur	O&M costs	1420	1410	1410	1400
	Total	1590	1680	1820	2060

Table 3.4: Total energy system costs (billion US\$) in SSP3

nisms. The revenues which can be collected from penalty costs of emissions in energy system range from 33.26 to 480.23 billion US\$ depending on the penetration rate of low carbon energy technologies (Table 3.5). Transferring of these revenues towards investment for low-carbon energy sources can be considered as green investment and budget constraint for renewable energy technologies with high capital costs.

Table 3.5: Cumulative revenues from emission penalty costs (billion US\$)

	RCP2.6	RCP3.4	RCP4.5	RCP6.0	Baseline
SSP1	140.28	81.49	50.35	-	33.26
SSP2	299.12	163.03	110.74	81.44	37.96
SSP3	-	480.23	266.12	132.69	38.63

The strategies for climate mitigation in many large GHG emitting countries include FITs for subsidizing renewable energy investments [156]. Taking into consideration that large increases in total energy system costs for climate mitigation would result in decrease of welfare, the modeling framework considers the usage of these revenues as FITs for solar power, geothermal and biomass power plants. These technologies are selected as they have small penetration levels to the energy system compared to other renewable technologies such as wind and hydro power.

The cumulative constraint is defined as the maximum total generation capacity of low carbon technologies with FITs. The costs of electricity generation are subsidized from cumulative revenues until this total generation capacity is reached for both RCP and Baseline scenarios in SSPs. The FIT prices are 1165 US\$/kWyr for solar PV and biomass power plants whereas geothermal power plants benefit from 920 US\$/kWyr [47]. The reduction of costs from electricity generation from these technologies pro-

vide a subsidy whereas the available revenue to cover these costs also provides a maximum constraint in Equation 3.2.

$$TotRev \ge Elec_{PV} * FIT_{PV} + Elec_{Bio} * FIT_{Bio} + Elec_{Geo} * FIT_{Geo}$$
 (3.2)

Table 3.6: Definition of cumulative constraint variables

TotRev	Total revenue from payments for atmospheric emission penalties
$Elec_n$	Total electricity generation from technology $n$ ,

 $FIT_n$  Subsidy given to technology n for electricity generation

The revenues collected from atmospheric emission penalties reduce the increase in total discounted energy system cost for all scenarios. The total revenue amount depends on both electricity generated from fossil power plants and penalty costs used in the model. The increases in total discounted energy system cost for SSP1 are 8% for RCP2.6, 3% for RCP3.4 and 1% for RCP4.5 (Figure 3.4) compared to Baseline. These results for SSP1 shows that stringent climate targets require additional mitigation strategies in order to reduce the higher increase for RCP2.6.

The increase in total discounted energy system cost for SSP2 are 24% for RCP2.6, 12% for RCP3.4 and 8% for RCP4.5 and 6% for RCP6.0 compared to Baseline (Figure 3.5). Achievement of stringent climate targets for SSP2 requires large transformation of the energy supply system compared to SSP1 scenarios. The narrative of SSP2 with lower penetration of renewable technologies and lower improvement in energy efficiency results in higher increase in total discounted energy system cost.

The increase in total discounted energy system cost for SSP3 are 39% for RCP3.4, 22% for RCP4.5 and 10% for RCP6.0 compared to Baseline (Figure 3.6). The narrative of this scenario is characterized by high challenges for both climate mitigation and adaptation which makes reaching climate targets more difficult than other scenarios. Investment for low carbon energy technologies is not sufficient to reduce carbon concentration as higher population growth and lower energy efficiency improvement increases the total discounted energy system cost.

We should also assess the usage of the cumulative revenues from emission penalties



## Total energy system cost for RCPs in SSP1 with FITs

Figure 3.4: Energy system costs for RCPs with FITs in SSP1 compared to baseline



## Total energy system cost for RCPs in SSP2 with FITs

Figure 3.5: Energy system costs for RCPs with FITs in SSP2 compared to baseline



Total energy system cost for RCPs in SSP3 with FITs

Figure 3.6: Energy system costs for RCPs with FITs in SSP3 compared to baseline

	RCP2.6	RCP3.4	RCP4.5	RCP6.0	Baseline
SSP1	119.04	69.52	42.96	-	28.26
SSP2	199.38	115.96	80.41	59.04	27.97
SSP3	-	274.97	178.18	95.47	28.17

Table 3.7: Total payments used for FITs (billion US\$)

as the investments on low carbon technologies depends on marginal costs of final energy demand depending on SSP narratives. Comparing the total payments with FITs for electricity generation (Table 3.7) with cumulative revenues from emission penalties (Table 3.5) provides an opportunity on assessing the effectiveness of this climate mitigation strategy. The share of FIT payments to revenues (Table 3.8) are on the same level for all RCPs in SSP1 arguing that FITs are an effective mitigation strategy. This situation is different for SSP2 and SSP3 scenarios where the share of FIT payments to revenues are lower for the most stringent climate targets.

	RCP2.6	RCP3.4	RCP4.5	RCP6.0	Baseline
Low (SSP1)	84.9	85.3	85.3	-	84.9
Medium (SSP2)	66.7	71.1	72.6	72.5	73.7
High (SSP3)	-	57.3	66.9	71.9	72.9

Table 3.8: Shares of total FIT payments in revenues from emission penalties (%)

## 3.1.2 Electricity generation capacity

Electricity capacity expansion is calculated by the model based on optimization of total energy system cost subject to constraints defined based on the scenarios. The lifetime of historic capacities are included as vintages during the modeling horizon and investments to compensate the capacity deficit resulting from increasing final energy demand are assumed to be met by a central planner. Marginal costs of electricity generation during the modeling horizon determine the temporal dimension of investment decisions for low carbon technologies.

The resulting investments for electricity generation in SSP1 can be seen with rapid investment to solar and wind power plants starting from 2030 for decarbonization of the electricity sector (Figure 3.7). Investments for gas, oil and coal power plants continue from 2015 to 2045 as replacement of obsolete units and grid flexibility requirements. Investments for NPPs starts in 2035 as a complement to renewable power plants for transformation of the energy system to a low carbon future.

The capacity difference figures are calculated by substracting the total installed capacites of technologies in RCP and Baseline scenarios. Positive values show that



Figure 3.7: Electricity capacity expansion in SSP1 for Baseline

RCP scenario require additional investments whereas negative values show the effect of substitution as a result of  $CO_2$  emission penalties. Investment for solar PV starts in 2025 for RCP4.5 in SSP1 as a result of increase in revenues from  $CO_2$  emission penalties (Figure 3.8). This additional investment is substituted from investments for NPPs between 2045 and 2050.

The investment capacity for solar and wind power plants for RCP3.4 are higher compared to RCP4.5 and Baseline in SSP1 (Figure 3.9). This result is reasonable as there are higher revenues from  $CO_2$  emissions compared to lesser ambitious climate mitigation targets. In addition to the higher penetration of wind and solar power plants, the substitution of nuclear power with renewable energy technologies starts in 2040.

The most stringent climate target with RCP2.6 forcing maximizes the penetration of wind and solar power plants with their total difference reaching 80 GW compared to Baseline (Figure 3.10). This increase is substituted by NPPs starting from 2040 and by gas power plants starting from 2020.

The higher increase in final energy demand for Baseline scenario in SSP2 compared to



Figure 3.8: Electricity capacity difference in SSP1 for RCP4.5



Figure 3.9: Electricity capacity difference in SSP1 for RCP3.4



Figure 3.10: Electricity capacity difference in SSP1 for RCP2.6

SSP1 causes investment in both low carbon and fossil fuel technologies in electricity generation (Figure 3.11). Investment for renewable energy portfolio is expanded by additional capacity expansion in ROR hydro power and biomass power plants. NPP investment starts in 2030 and increases up to 13 GW by the end of the modeling horizon. These results show that the requirement for climate mitigation has lower importance compared to SSP1 and higher increase in final energy demand is partially met by NPP investments.

Implementing the  $CO_2$  emission penalty costs for RCP6.0 in SSP2 forces the substitution of a small part of NPPs with solar and wind power starting from 2030 (Figure 3.12. Additional investments for solar power plants also start as early as 2020 for transition to low carbon energy supply system. This transition is similar for RCP4.5 in SSP2 requiring larger additional installed capacity for solar and wind power (Figure 3.13).

The most stringent climate targets in SSP2 requires additional substitution of gas power plants in order to increase wind and solar power plant investments. Additional



Figure 3.11: Electricity capacity expansion in SSP2 for Baseline



Figure 3.12: Electricity capacity difference in SSP2 for RCP6.0



Figure 3.13: Electricity capacity difference in SSP2 for RCP4.5

renewable energy installed capacity additions by the end of the modeling horizon reaches 60 GW for RCP3.4 (Figure 3.14) and 120 GW for RCP2.6 (Figure 3.15). Although higher capacity addition in renewable energy technologies would contribute to achieving climate targets, the intermittency of these energy sources would cause concerns for flexibility of the grid system to supply peak load final electricity demand.

Electricity capacity investments for Baseline scenario in SSP3 includes both fossil and renewable energy technologies as a result of higher increase in final energy demand compared to SSP2 and SSP1 narratives (Figure 3.16). Investments for NPPs start as early as 2015 which substitutes the gas power plants competing their operation lifetimes. The end-of-horizon effect is dominant for wind and solar power plants which have investments at the end of the modeling horizon. Large hydro power plants which complete their operating lifetime are replaced by the end of the modeling horizon also as a result of this effect.

SSP3 narrative is characterized by lower energy efficiency improvements and higher population growth resulting in higher energy demand. As a result even the least am-



Figure 3.14: Electricity capacity difference in SSP2 for RCP3.4



Figure 3.15: Electricity capacity difference in SSP2 for RCP2.6


Figure 3.16: Electricity capacity expansion in SSP3 for Baseline

bitious climate target of RCP6.0 requires additional 30 GW of wind and solar power plant capacity in total by the end of the modeling horizon (Figure 3.17). The IAM results for SSP3 provide higher prices for coal as a result of increasing final energy demand and lower energy efficiency improvements [49]. As a result additional renewable energy capacity requires substitution with both NPPs and coal power plants for optimization of total discounted energy system cost. The replacement of large hydro power plants with expired operating lifetimes are substituted with wind and solar power plant investments.

Climate target for RCP4.5 in SSP3 requires additional substitution of domestic coal power plants in addition to NPPs and gas power plants (Figure 3.18). Additional wind and solar power capacity reaches 120 GW in total by the end of the modeling horizon which is four times more than for RCP6.0 in SSP3. The replacement of large hydro power plant with expired operating lifetimes are again substituted with wind and solar power plant investments as for RCP6.0.

Increasing the climate ambition further to RCP3.4 in SSP3 requires additional substi-



Figure 3.17: Electricity capacity difference in SSP3 for RCP6.0



Figure 3.18: Electricity capacity difference in SSP3 for RCP4.5

tution of import coal and oil power plants in addition to domestic coal and gas power plants and NPPs (Figure 3.19). Additional wind and solar power capacity required by the end of the modeling horizon exceeds 150 GW increasing concerns to supply peak load final electricity demand due to their intermittency.



SSP3 Electricity Capacity [RCP3.4-Baseline]

Figure 3.19: Electricity capacity difference in SSP3 for RCP3.4

The results are based on the assumption that revenues collected from atmospheric emission penalties are used for subsidizing solar, geothermal and biomass power plants through FITs. As these revenues increase together with increasing  $CO_2$  emission prices for RCPs, part of the NPP investments are substituted with wind and solar power plants during the modeling horizon. The merit order of substitution is on the cost bases starting with the technology with highest cost being NPPs.

## 3.1.3 Electricity generation costs

The reference energy system in 2014 is defined in the model as initial year which requires investments for further optimizing the total discounted energy system costs during the modeling horizon. Increase in final energy demand which is defined exogenously in the model increases the marginal costs creating price signal for further capacity investment. The impact of higher  $CO_2$  emission penalty costs can be seen in 2030 for SSP1 which is neutralized as a result of investments in low carbon technologies (Figure 3.20).



Figure 3.20: Marginal cost of electricity generation for SSP1

Electricity demand includes both seasonal and hourly load variations due to changes in electricity demand (Figure 2.2). The transformation of the electricity supply system is assessed first for 2035 which corresponds to the first commitment period of the Paris Agreement and 2050 as a result of net-zero carbon emission target of the UN-FCCC [71]. These targets are based on CBDR and RC of countries as major emitting regions such as the USA, China and EU are expected to lead this climate ambition.

Arranging the load zones from peak to base load demand provides an insight to the selection of power generation technologies for load-follow requirements. The base load electricity demand for Baseline scenario in SSP1 is supplied mainly by coal and hydro power plants in 2035 (Figure 3.21).

The costs of renewable electricity decreases during the modeling period with solar

power decreases at the highest rate. Rapid reduction of energy intensity of production prevents investments for nuclear energy whereas the high cost of geothermal power and internalization of the respective  $CO_2$  emissions favors other renewable energy technologies.

The assumption for lower prices for extraction and import of coal favors continuing investments for both import and domestic coal fired power plants in 2035 (Figure 3.21). The increasing marginal costs together with decreasing costs of renewables are represented as penetration of solar and wind power in 2035. Hydro power contributes to electricity generation for base load demand and gas power for intermediate load with peak load supplied by wind and solar power together with electricity import.



Figure 3.21: Electricity supply in SSP1 for Baseline [2035]

The transformation of power sector for RCP4.5 in SSP1 includes changes in medium and base load electricity demand in 2035. Hydro power is substituted by wind and solar power as a low carbon technology (Figure 3.22). Power generation from gas power plants shifts to both additions and subtractions in load regions as a result of high flexibility of this technology to supply demand load variations.



Figure 3.22: Electricity supply difference in SSP1 for RCP4.5 [2035]

Increasing the climate ambition to RCP3.4 in SSP1 increases the substitution of gas power in peak load demand by wind and solar power in 2035 (Figure 3.23). The intermittency of these renewable sources is a concern for peak load demand as the flexibility of gas power plants to supply both demand load fluctuations and also ancillary services are decreased in the energy supply system. This substitution is supported by minor reduction in both import and domestic coal power generation for transition to a low carbon energy system.

The most stringent climate target of RCP2.6 in SSP1 provides an already increasing penetration of wind and solar power for both peak and base load electricity demand (Figure 3.24). Together with this increase, gas power for both peak and base load demand and hydro power for base load demand are substituted by wind and solar power generation.

The transformation of the power sector for Baseline scenario in SSP1 includes the addition of NPPs as base load electricity generation in 2050 (Figure 3.25). The flexibility of gas power plants provides an opportunity for increasing usage of intermittent



Figure 3.23: Electricity supply difference in SSP1 for RCP3.4 [2035]



Electricity Generation difference in SSP1 for RCP2.6 [2035]

Figure 3.24: Electricity supply difference in SSP1 for RCP2.6 [2035]

wind and solar power for all load regions. Power supply system is dominated by technologies capable of providing both demand load fluctuations and also ancillary services therefore reducing concerns for grid flexibility.



Figure 3.25: Electricity supply in SSP1 for Baseline [2050]

Implementing  $CO_2$  emission penalty costs for RCP4.5 in SSP1 causes reduction in nuclear power for all load regions and hydro power for base load demand in 2050 (Figure 3.26). We expect increasing concerns for grid flexibility as NPPs which are available on demand are partially substituted by intermittent wind and solar power generation.

This substitution is increased further for higher  $CO_2$  emission penalty costs in RCP3.4 (Figure 3.27) and RCP2.6 (Figure 3.28) as electricity generation from NPPs are decreased further. This situtation is in line with the assumptions for the energy system model based on SSP1 narrative providing higher energy efficiency improvements and higher capital cost reduction through learning by doing in renewable energy technologies.

The marginal cost of electricity for SSP2 increases in 2030 as a result of higher  $CO_2$ 



Figure 3.26: Electricity supply difference in SSP1 for RCP4.5 [2050]



Electricity Generation difference in SSP1 for RCP3.4 [2050]

Figure 3.27: Electricity supply difference in SSP1 for RCP3.4 [2050]



Figure 3.28: Electricity supply difference in SSP1 for RCP2.6 [2050]

emission penalty costs causing transformation to a low carbon energy system (Figure 3.29). Investments to power supply system for increasing final electricity demand are shifted to the end of the modeling horizon for decreasing climate amibition and Baseline scenarios. This also causes a carbon lock-in to fossil power generation for Baseline scenario during the modeling horizon.

Electricity generation for Baseline scenario in SSP2 includes small addition of NPP for baseload demand together with coal and hydro power plants in 2035 (Figure 3.30). The flexibility of gas power plants supports the penetration of wind and solar power together with electricity import for peak load demand.

The small addition of NPP for Baseline scenario in SSP2 is substituted by wind and solar power for RCP6.0 in 2035 (Figure 3.31). The flexibility of gas and oil power plants supports the transformation of power sector to low carbon system providing penetration of additional renewable energy sources. Electricity generation from hydro power with reservoir is reduced whereas ROR hydro power generation is configured based on the availability of wind and solar power.



Figure 3.29: Marginal cost of electricity generation for SSP2



Figure 3.30: Electricity supply in SSP2 for Baseline [2035]



Electricity Generation difference in SSP2 for RCP6.0 [2035]

Figure 3.31: Electricity supply difference in SSP2 for RCP6.0 [2035]

Increasing the climate ambition further to RCP4.5 results in additional substitution of gas and oil power plants with wind and solar power generation in 2035 (Figure 3.32). This causes reduction in flexibility of electricity grid to supply peak load as the capability to supply demand load fluctuations and ancillary services are reduced. Similarly the small addition of NPP is removed by substituting wind and solar power generation. This substitution of gas and oil power plants is increased for RCP3.4 therefore increasing further the concerns for grid flexibility to supply peak load demand (Figure 3.33).

The most stringent climate target of RCP2.6 in SSP2 protects the initial investment for NPP substituting carbon intensive electricity production from domestic coal power plants in 2035 (Figure 3.34). Additional power generation from solar and wind power plants exceeds 10 GW for all load regions substituting mainly electricity generation from gas power plants. The removal of grid flexibility and ancillary services by gas power plants causes concern as substituting solar and wind power are intermittent which requires flexibility mechanisms such as power plants with high flexibility, energy storage, demand side management and grid capacity extensions [155].



Figure 3.32: Electricity supply difference in SSP2 for RCP4.5 [2035]



Electricity Generation difference in SSP2 for RCP3.4 [2035]

Figure 3.33: Electricity supply difference in SSP2 for RCP3.4 [2035]



Figure 3.34: Electricity supply in SSP2 for RCP2.6 [2035]

The transformation of the power system for Baseline scenario in SSP1 is limited with small amount of wind and solar power generation for intermediate and peak load demand in 2050 (Figure 3.35). Electricity generation from NPPs increases further to 10 GW contributing to base load final electricity demand together with coal and hydro power plants. The flexibility of gas power plants provides opportunity for penetration of wind and solar power together with import electricity for peak load demand.

The penetration of NPP is reduced for RCP6.0 in SSP2 substituted by additional wind and solar power as low carbon energy sources in 2050 (Figure 3.36). Electricity generation from gas and hydro power plants are further subsituted by intermittent solar and wind power generation increasing concerns for grid flexibility to supply peak load demand.

The substitution of electricity generation from gas power plants for wind and solar power in 2050 is reduced for RCP4.5 in SSP2 (Figure 3.37). This decrease is compensated by increasing substitution of electricity generation from NPPs by intermittent wind and solar power plants reaching additional 10 GW in all load regions. The main



Figure 3.35: Electricity supply in SSP2 for Baseline [2050]



Electricity Generation difference in SSP2 for RCP6.0 [2050]

Figure 3.36: Electricity supply difference in SSP2 for RCP6.0 [2050]

reason for this change is the requirement of flexibility by gas power plants to supply peak load demand and ancillary services. The substitution of NPPs by wind and solar power increases further to 10 GW for RCP3.4 in SSP2 for low carbon transition of the energy supply system (Figure 3.38).



Figure 3.37: Electricity supply difference in SSP2 for RCP4.5 [2050]

The achievement of the most stringent climate target of RCP2.6 in SSP2 requires the substitution of all NPP capacity in Baseline scenario and large part of gas power generation reaching 10 GW in 2050 (Figure 3.39). Additional wind and solar power generation reaches 20 GW in all load regions causing concerns for grid flexibility to supply demand load fluctuations and also ancillary services.

SSP3 is characterized with high growth in population, low decrease in energy intensity of production and the rate of increase in GDP reaching a plateau by the end of the modeling period. Investments to supply increasing final electricity demand are supplied during beginning and end of the modeling horizon for Baseline and in 2030 for RCP scenarios due to increasing costs of  $CO_2$  emission penalties (Figure 3.40).

The penetration of nuclear energy starts in the beginning of the modeling horizon in



Figure 3.38: Electricity supply difference in SSP2 for RCP3.4 [2050]



Electricity Generation difference in SSP2 for RCP2.6 [2050]

Figure 3.39: Electricity supply in SSP2 for RCP2.6 [2050]



Figure 3.40: Marginal cost of electricity generation for SSP3

SSP3 for supplying base load electricity demand for Baseline scenario in 2035 (Figure 3.41). The remaining base load electricity demand is supplied by import coal power plants and hydro power. Flexibility requirements to supply demand load fluctuations are supplied by gas and domestic coal power plants with limited wind and solar power generation for intermediate and peak load demand.

Introduction of  $CO_2$  emission penalty costs for RCP6.0 in SSP3 causes substitution of large part of NPPs with intermittent wind and solar power generation in 2035 (Figure 3.42). Electricity generation from hydro power is also reduced for base load demand increasing concerns for grid flexibility to supply demand load fluctuations. Increasing the climate ambition further to RCP4.5 includes substitution of import coal power plants with additional wind and solar power generation (Figure 3.43).

Additional electricity generation from wind and solar power plants for RCP3.4 in SSP3 reaches 10 GW for all load regions in 2035 (Figure 3.44). Power generation from import coal power plants and gas power plants are further substituted by wind and solar power generation. Electricity generation from NPPs are similarly substi-



Figure 3.41: Electricity supply in SSP3 for Baseline [2035]



Electricity Generation difference in SSP3 for RCP6.0 [2035]

Figure 3.42: Electricity supply difference in SSP3 for RCP6.0 [2035]



Electricity Generation difference in SSP3 for RCP4.5 [2035]

Figure 3.43: Electricity supply difference in SSP3 for RCP4.5 [2035]

tuted by renewable energy technologies for low carbon transition of the energy supply system.

Base load electricity demand for Baseline scenario in SSP3 includes NPPs reaching 10 GW together with coal and hydro power plants in 2050 (Figure 3.45). Electricity generation from gas power plants supply intermediate load demand without requirements for flexibility to supply demand load fluctuations. There is additional contribution of oil power plants with flexible diesel generations for supplying flexibility requirements for additional wind and solar power generation. The peak load demand includes supply of import electricity to meet increasing demand for final electricity.

Increasing the  $CO_2$  emission penalty cost for RCP6.0 in SSP3 causes the partial substitution of electricity generation from NPPs, hydro power and gas power plants with intermittent solar and wind power generation in 2050 (Figure 3.46). In addition to this, there is small substituion of coal power plants for renewable energy technologies for low carbon transition of the energy supply system.

The additional capacity of wind and solar power generation for RCP4.5 in SSP3



Figure 3.44: Electricity supply in SSP3 for RCP3.4 [2035]



Figure 3.45: Electricity supply in SSP3 for Baseline [2050]



Figure 3.46: Electricity supply in SSP3 for RCP6.0 [2050]

reaches 20 GW in 2050 (Figure 3.47). There is also an increasing substitution of electricity generation from NPPs and gas power plants for renewable energy technologies for low carbon transition of the energy supply system. Increasing the climate ambition further for RCP3.4 in SSP3 includes additional substitution of coal power plants for solar and wind power generation reaching additional 30 GW in all load regions (Figure 3.48).

The main assumption on the usage of FITs collected from emission penalties to renewable energy generation causes the increasing penetration of solar power for RCPs in all SSP scenarios [92]. This subsidy causes partial substitution of electricity generation from NPPs as the costs of electricity generation from renewable energy technologies are reduced and the availability of input energy is higher compared to other technologies. The marginal costs of electricity generation provide price signals for selection of the power generation technology for supplying increasing final electricity demand. The definition of separate load regions for wind and solar power prevent competition between these technologies as they supplement each other for low carbon transition of the energy system.



Figure 3.47: Electricity supply in SSP3 for RCP4.5 [2050]



Electricity Generation difference in SSP3 for RCP3.4 [2050]

Figure 3.48: Electricity supply in SSP3 for RCP3.4 [2050]

## **3.1.4** Electricity grid flexibility

The flexibility of the electricity grid is defined as the required reserve capacity to supply the peak demand for final electricity. The flexibility of the grid to supply peak load demand in all load regions decreases from above 50% in 2015 to below 30% in SSP1 for Baseline scenario and climate targets of RCP4.5 and RCP3.4 in 2050 (Figure 3.49). The most ambitious climate target of RCP2.6 in SSP1 includes additional 10 GW capacity investment to wind and solar power generation reducing further the flexibility to 20% which is increased to 30% by 2050 with additional power generation from oil power plants (Figure 3.28).



Figure 3.49: Annual electricity grid flexibility to supply peak load in SSP1

The reduction of grid flexibility to supply peak load electricity demand is similar in SSP2 for Baseline scenario and climate targets of RCP6.0, RCP4.5 and RCP3.4 reducing from above 50% in 2015 to approximately 30% in 2050 (Figure 3.50). The flexibility of the grid for the most ambitious climate scenario of RCP2.6 is reduced gradually from above 50% in 2015 to 20% in 2035 and further below 10% in 2045. The additional electricity generation from wind and solar power for RCP2.6 is 10

GW in 2035 (Figure 3.34) and 20 GW in 2050 (Figure 3.39) without additional fossil power generation to increase the flexibility of the grid to supply peak load electricity.



Electricity grid flexibility to supply peak load in SSP2

Figure 3.50: Annual electricity grid flexibility to supply peak load in SSP2

The grid flexibility in SSP3 is reduced from 50% in 2015 to above 20% for Baseline scenario and climate target of RCP6.0 (Figure 3.51). For the most stringent climate targets of RCP4.5 and RCP3.4 in SSP3 the flexibility requirements reduce to below 10% which requires demand side management as the load factor of final electricity demand in reference year 2014 is 85% requiring at least 15% reserve capacity for peak load demand not including ancillary services (Figure 2.4). The additional generation capacity of wind and solar power is more than 20 GW for RCP4.5 (Figure 3.47) and reaches 40 GW for RCP3.4 (Figure 3.48) in 2050 reducing the flexibility of grid due to intermittency of these energy sources.

The flexibility of the grid protects the electricity supply system from peak demand exceeding supply, transmission system failures and primary and secondary regulation to supply electricity at required voltage and frequency. The impact of electricity grid flexibility can be further assessed using system dynamic modeling tools for deployment of large scale variable renewable energy sources [55]. The benefit of this



Figure 3.51: Annual electricity grid flexibility to supply peak load in SSP3

approach would be to integrate the energy system as a network of relations including the deployment and adoption of innovative technologies and related services such as digitalization and smart grid applications.

## 3.1.5 Atmospheric gas emissions

The  $CO_2$  emissions from power sector include both direct emissions from combustion of fossil fuels and indirect emissions from upstream activities including resource extraction and conversion to secondary energy sources [82]. The size of the power plants also has affect on land use which can be higher for large hydro-power plants or solar PV with large installed capacity causing both aesthetic impacts and also having impact on land-atmosphere coupling [30]. The life-cycle  $CO_2$  emissions from power sector are included in Figure 3.9.

Total  $CO_2$  emission from energy supply system also includes emissions from final energy demand which reduces the carbon budget available for climate mitigation.

Туре	Conversion	Emission factor
Renewable	Solar PV	0.14
	Wind	0.07
	Hydro (reservoir)	0.42
	Hydro (run-of-river)	0.16
	Geothermal	0.88
	Biomass	0.22
Fossil	Domestic coal	3.19
	Import coal	3.07
	Natural gas	3.04
Nuclear	once-through fuel cycle	0.57

Table 3.9:  $CO_2$  emissions from power sector (ton/MWyr)

The emission factors used in the model are based on the IPCC database used for the Global Energy Assessment Study of IIASA in Table 3.10 [60]. The impact of energy efficiency improvements are represented in SSP narratives which reduces the final energy consumed per production. The technological innovation for low carbon transition of energy demand both depends on social preferences reflecting the perceived costs and also temporal scale of their deployment affecting the spill-over effects to other regions in the world [106].

The demand for final energy sources are defined exogenously in the model using socio-economic parameters for SSPs and decomposition of  $CO_2$  using Kaya Identity relation [180]. There is also a potential for climate mitigation using biomass which is defined with a maximum activity constraint of 13433 MWyr. This potential could be extended further with deployment of innovative technologies for fuel production in the transport and power sectors [184]. However this potential also has trade-off with food production, water usage and biodiversity protection as this strategy is based on extending the usage of limited biospheric resources.

The  $CO_2$  emission pathways for Baseline scenario and climate targets represented by RCPs in SSP1 show same trend until 2030 with minor reductions for increasing climate ambition (Figure 3.52). This climate ambition is represented by increasing

Final energy	Emission factor	
Crude oil	2.31	
Gasoline	2.19	
Kerosene	2.25	
Diesel oil	2.34	
Fuel oil	2.44	
LPG	1.99	
Petrocoke	2.98	
Coal	3.19	
Natural gas	1.77	
Biodiesel	1.72	
Other biomass	3.15	

Table 3.10:  $CO_2$  emissions from final energy demand (ton/MWyr)

penalty costs for  $CO_2$  emissions which are internalized in the model in order to reduce emissions during the end of this century [83]. The difference between  $CO_2$  emissions in Baseline scenario and RCPs represents the impact of using FITs from emission penalty costs for financing solar power plants complemented by wind power plants.

The  $CO_2$  emissions depend on production activities which can be decomposed into population and GDP per capita multiplied by energy and carbon intensities of production (Equation 2.1). SSP1 narrative is represented with high increase in GDP per capita, low population growth, high improvement in energy efficiency and electrification favoring penetration of renewable energy sources. This results in the stabilization of  $CO_2$  emission intensity with increasing renewable energy and reduction of increase in annual  $CO_2$  emissions with energy efficiency improvements (Figure 3.53).

The pathways of  $CO_2$  emissions are similar for Baseline scenario and climate ambition to RCP3.4 in SSP2 until 2050 (Figure 3.54). The trajectory of RCP2.6 separates from less ambitious climate targets and Baseline scenario in 2030 as a result of additional wind and solar power generation reaching 10 GW (Figure 3.33). The deviation of  $CO_2$  emission trajectory in RCP2.6 is also the result of increase in total energy system cost reaching 24% compared to Baseline Scenario (Figure 3.5).



Figure 3.52:  $CO_2$  emissions from energy sector in SSP1



Kaya Identity Decomposition for CO2 emissions in SSP1

Figure 3.53: Kaya identity decomposition of  $CO_2$  emissions in SSP1



Figure 3.54:  $CO_2$  emissions from energy sector in SSP2

The decomposition of  $CO_2$  emissions using Kaya Identity method shows that increase in  $CO_2$  intensity of production is compensated by decrease in energy intensity of production which stabilizes the total emissions after 2030 for all scenarios except the most stringent climate target of RCP2.6 (Figure 3.55). The carbon intensity of production decreases after 2030 in RCP2.6 resulting in deviation from less ambitious climate targets and Baseline scenario  $CO_2$  emissions.

Annual  $CO_2$  emissions from power sector follows a saturation pathway for Baseline scenario and RCP6.0 in SSP3 (Figure 3.56). The socio-economic assumptions for SSP3 is based on higher population growth and lower energy efficiency improvements compared to other SSPs resulting in higher final energy demand defined exogenously in the model. The pathways for more ambitious climate targets deviate with  $CO_2$ emissions peaking in 2040 for RCP6.0 and in 2035 for RCP3.4 as a result of additional electricity generation from wind and solar power exceeding 10 GW in 2035 (Figure 3.33) and 20 GW in 2050 (Figure 3.33).

The saturation of  $CO_2$  emission results from decrease in carbon intensity of pro-



Figure 3.55: Kaya identity decomposition of  $CO_2$  emissions in SSP2



Figure 3.56:  $CO_2$  emissions from energy sector in SSP3

duction for all scenarios and especially the most stringent scenario of RCP3.4 in SSP3 (Figure 3.57). Energy efficiency improvement follows the historical trajectory whereas increase in energy demand is driven by population growth exceeding the increase in productivity.



Kaya Identity Decomposition for CO2 emissions in SSP3

Figure 3.57: Kaya identity decomposition of  $CO_2$  emissions in SSP3

These results show that  $CO_2$  emission trajectories are highly dependent on initial assumptions based on SSPs and the usage of revenues from  $CO_2$  emission penalties for FITs towards renewable energy. The climate mitigation strategy based on financing renewable energy technologies results in saturation of  $CO_2$  emissions for the most stringent climate targets in SSPs with further reduction demanding for additional strategies on energy demand management.

Emissions of air pollutant  $SO_2$  and  $NO_x$  emissions can be used as proxy for the usage of fossil fuel for electricity generation.  $SO_2$  emissions are included as proxy for coal and oil power plants (Figure 2.12) and  $NO_x$  emissions for gas, coal and oil power plants (Figure 2.13). The  $SO_2$  emission trajectory presents an increasing trend for both Baseline scenario and climate targets with RCPs in SSP1 (Figure 3.58). The availability of import coal for power generation results in increasing usage by the end of the modeling horizon despite efforts for penalty costs and filtering requirements defined in the model (Figure 3.7).



Figure 3.58:  $SO_2$  emissions from power generation for RCPs in SSP1

 $NO_x$  emissions from power sector in SSP1 experience a peak in 2035 for Baseline scenario and climate targets of RCP4.5 and RCP2.6 despite the increasing usage of import coal for power generation (Figure 3.59). The main reason is the substitution of CCGT with NPPs for power generation as a result of high costs of import natural gas and also usage of installed natural gas pipelines for supplying the final energy demand (Figure 3.7).

 $SO_2$  emissions from power sector in SSP1 increase from 60 kton in 2015 to approximately 120 kton in 2050 for Baseline scenario and climate targets of RCP6.0, RCP4.5 and RCP3.4 (Figure 3.60). The emissions for RCP2.6 reduce to as a result of reduced electricity generation from gas power plants by 10 GW between 2035 (Figure 3.34) and 2050 (Figure 3.39). The installed capacity of gas power plants is reduced to 6 GW with additional investment for wind and solar power plants reaching 120 GW in 2045 (Fig 3.15).



Figure 3.59:  $NO_x$  emissions from power generation for RCPs in SSP1



Figure 3.60:  $SO_2$  emissions from power generation for RCPs in SSP2

The same affect of reduction from gas power plants for climate target of RCP2.6 in SSP2 can be seen in  $NO_x$  emissions in power sector decreasing from 500 kton in 2035 to approximately 300 kton in 2050 (Figure 3.61). The pathway for Baseline scenario and climate targets for RCP6.0, RCP4.5 and RCP3.4 deviates from RCP2.6 reaching 500 kton by 2050 as a result of higher power generation from gas power plants (Figure 3.38).



Figure 3.61:  $NO_x$  emissions from power generation for RCPs in SSP2

*SO*<sup>2</sup> emissions from power sector follow increasing trajectory for Baseline scenario and climate target of RCP6.0 increasing from 60 kton in 2035 to 120 kton in 2050 followed by a saturation pathway for RCP4.5 at 80 kton and a decreasing pathway for RCP3.4 from 80 kton in 2030 to 20 kton in 2050 (Figure 3.62). Substitution is between gas and domestic coal power plants in RCP4.5 with additional wind and solar power plants reaching 120 GW in 2050 (Figure 3.18). The most stringent climate target of RCP3.4 in SSP3 includes additional domestic coal power plants for substitution with additional wind and solar power plants reaching 150 GW in 2050 (Figure 3.19).

The trajectories for  $NO_x$  emissions in SSP3 are determined by power generation



Figure 3.62: SO<sub>2</sub> emissions from power generation for RCPs in SSP3

from gas power plants (Figure 3.63). The installed capacity of gas power plants are reduced to 6 GW for RCP3.4 (Figure 3.48) increasing to 6.6 GW for RCP 4.5 (Figure 3.47) and to 12 GW for RCP6.0 (Figure 3.46). The differences in trajectories are further contributed by phase-out for investment in oil power plants with increasing  $CO_2$  emission penalty costs in RCP3.4 (Figure 3.19).

The general assumptions for applying penalty costs to air pollutant emissions and availability of filtering technologies to prevent paying these penalty costs are insufficient to reduce emissions of  $SO_2$  and  $NO_x$  emissions for all scenarios in SSP1. This results from lower cost of coal as primary energy supply increasing their usage and the existing capacity of gas pipelines and power plants creating a carbon lock-in in the energy system. The increasing revenues collected from  $CO_2$  emissions penalty costs increases the penetration of wind and solar power for the most stringent climate scenarios in SSP2 and SSP3 creating an opportunity also for the reduction of air pollutant emissions.


Figure 3.63:  $NO_x$  emissions from power generation for RCPs in SSP3

#### 3.1.6 Nuclear fuel cycle costs

The life cycle of nuclear power generation starts with the mining and milling of uranium ores in the front end of the nuclear fuel cycle followed by spent fuel storage for reprocessing and finally for disposal (Figure 3.64) [175]. The transfer of sensitive fuel enrichment and reprocessing technologies are subject to safeguards according to international agreements controlled by the guidelines of the Nuclear Suppliers Group [132]. Although Turkey is a member to this group, the fuel cycle agreements are included as responsibilities of vendor countries and Turkey has not yet made any agreements for nuclear fuel production or spent fuel reprocessing [133].

Energy modeling studies in general include NPPs similar to conventional power plants whereas the nuclear fuel cycle provides opportunities for further usage after enrichment. Even for the case for once-through nuclear fuel cycle, the low fuel costs and low amounts of spent fuel and waste generation compared to fossil power plants geographically more uniform availability of uranium ores favors investment for NPPs [173]. The equations for mass flow calculation for open fuel cycle with one unit of



# The Nuclear Fuel Cycle

\* Reprocessing of spent nuclear fuel, including mixed-oxide (MOX) fuel, is not practiced in the United States. Note: The NRC has no regulatory role in mining uranium.

As of January 2019

U.S.NRC United States Nuclear Regulatory Commission Protecting People and the Environment

Figure 3.64: Complete nuclear fuel life-cycle

advanced NPP in MESSAGE user's guide are used in the model with annual requirements listed in Table 3.11 [77].

Output	Unit	Value
Fresh fuel	tHM	17.89
Fuel in core	tHM	71.93
Natural uranium	tHM	166.25
Conversion	tHM	166.25
Seperative work unit	tSWU	125.19
Depleted uranium	tHM	148.36
Spent fuel discharges	tHM	17.89

Table 3.11: Annual output for 1 GW NPP reactor unit

The cost of nuclear fuel cycle in SSP1 reaches 1.2 billion US\$ as a result of 5 GW NPP commissioned in 2040 increasing to 9 GW in 2045 and 11 GW in 2050 (Figure 3.65). The modeling horizon is limited to 2050 causing the remaining operating lifetime of 50 years for NPPs commissioned in 2040 causing end-of-horizon effect (Equation 3.1). The increase in installed capacity causes high costs of spent fuel storage by 2050 which would dominate in the period after 2050.

The main assumption for back-end of the nuclear fuel cycle is the retaining of spent fuel removed from reactor core for 5 years in cooling pools. Spent fuel is stored in cooling pools both for removing decay heat and also for maintaining the reactor radial power profile as the burn-up of fuel in the center is higher than the circumference of the core due to neutron leakage [102]. The amount of spent fuel storage increases to approximately 370 tHM in 2040 to 1870 tHM in 2050 (Figure 3.66).

The cost of nuclear fuel cycle is reduced by approximately 500 million US\$ for RCP4.5 in SSP1 as a result of reduction in NPP installed capacity to 7 GW in 2045 and 8 GW in 2050 (Figure 3.67). The reduction in installed NPP units also results in cumulative reduction in back-end of the nuclear fuel cycle with reduced costs of spent fuel storage.

The spent fuel storage for RCP4.5 in SSP1 reduces by 100 tHM as a result of reduction in NPP installed capacity (Figure 3.68). The reduction of spent fuel storage



# Annual nuclear fuel cycle costs for Baseline in SSP1

Figure 3.65: Annual nuclear fuel cycle cost in SSP1 for Baseline



## Spent Nuclear Fuel Storage for Baseline in SSP1

Figure 3.66: Spent nuclear fuel storage in SSP1 for Baseline



## Annual nuclear fuel cycle costs in SSP1 [RCP4.5-Baseline]

Figure 3.67: Annual nuclear fuel cycle cost difference in SSP1 for RCP4.5

reaches 400 tHM in 2050 reducing the storage costs.

Fuel cycle costs for RCP3.4 in SSP1 are reduced by 1 billion US\$ in 2040 as a result of reduction of NPP installed capacity to 4 GW in 2040 and 5 GW in 2050 (Figure 3.69). Electricity generation from NPPs is substituted by additional wind and solar power plants reaching 30 GW by the end of the modeling horizon (Figure 3.9).

Spent fuel cooling storage capacity reaches 957 tHM in 2050 for RCP3.4 in SSP1 which is below the storage capacity upper volume of 1000 tHM (Figure 3.70). The slow-down of NPP investments after 2040 results in reduction of nuclear fuel requirements as fresh fuel loading is lower than initial core loading to nuclear reactors (Table 3.11).

NPP installed capacity in SSP2 increases from 1 GW in 2035 to 13 GW in 2050 for Baseline scenario with nuclear fuel cycle costs reaching 1.5 billion US\$ in 2040 and reducing to 1.2 billion US\$ by the end of the modeling horizon (Figure 3.71). The reduction in front-end nuclear fuel cycle costs are compensated by increasing spent fuel storage costs reaching 265 million US\$ by 2050. The operating lifetime of NPPs





Figure 3.68: Spent nuclear fuel storage difference in SSP1 for RCP4.5



Annual nuclear fuel cycle costs in SSP1 [RCP3.4-Baseline]

Figure 3.69: Annual nuclear fuel cycle cost difference in SSP1 for RCP3.4



## Spent Nuclear Fuel Storage in SSP1 [RCP3.4-Baseline]

Figure 3.70: Spent nuclear fuel storage difference in SSP1 for RCP3.4

installed in 2035 exceeds the modeling horizon by 45 years which would result in accumulation of spent fuel storage costs requiring early disposal.

The spent fuel cooling storage volume of 1000 tHM is consumed by 2045 which acts as a constraint for additional NPP investments (Figure 3.72). This constraint is strengthened with the required retention time of 5 years for spent fuel to be transferred to interim storage for disposal. The cumulative costs of spent fuel interim storage provide additional constraint for cost optimization which would come in affect by the end of the operating lifetimes of NPPs. The amount of spent fuel storage reaches 2300 tHM in total which could create an opportunity for localization of nuclear fuel cycle services.

The installed capacity of NPPs for RCP6.0 in SSP2 is reduced by 1 GW providing temporal difference in nuclear fuel cycle costs (Figure 3.73). The role of nuclear power for climate target of RCP6.0 is smaller compared to Baseline scenario as the availability of FITs from revenues of  $CO_2$  emission penalty costs provides additional investment of wind and solar power plants exceeding 15 GW by 2045 (Figure 3.12).



# Annual nuclear fuel cycle costs for Baseline in SSP2

Figure 3.71: Annual nuclear fuel cycle cost in SSP2 for Baseline



# Spent Nuclear Fuel Storage for Baseline in SSP2

Figure 3.72: Spent nuclear fuel storage storage in SSP2



Annual nuclear fuel cycle costs in SSP2 [RCP6.0-Baseline]

Figure 3.73: Annual nuclear fuel cycle cost difference in SSP2 for RCP6.0

The amount of spent fuel storage is reduced to 1850 tHM for RCP6.0 in SSP2 as a result of additional wind and solar power substituting NPPs for low carbon transition of the energy sector (Figure 3.74). The capacity of 1000 tHM for spent fuel cooling storage is completed in 2050 which would result in increasing spent fuel stored for disposal after the end of the modeling horizon.

The role of nuclear power for RCP4.5 in SSP2 is selected as a transition technology for low carbon energy supply system as a complementrary to intermittent solar and wind power after 2040 (Figure 3.75). The installed capacity of NPPs are stabilized at 5 GW after 2040 with additional requirement for low carbon power generation from wind and solar power exceeding 40 GW by the end of the modeling horizon (Figure 3.13).

The amount of spent fuel storage is reduced to 1090 tHM for RCP4.5 in SSP2 as a result of additional wind and solar power substituting NPPs for low carbon transition of the energy sector (Figure 3.76). The back-end nuclear fuel cycle includes mainly spent fuel cooling requirements whereas interim storage costs are outside the



Spent Nuclear Fuel Storage in SSP2 [RCP6.0-Baseline]

Figure 3.74: Spent nuclear fuel storage difference in SSP2 for RCP6.0



Annual nuclear fuel cycle costs in SSP2 [RCP4.5-Baseline]

Figure 3.75: Annual nuclear fuel cycle cost difference in SSP2 for RCP4.5

modeling horizon which would make nuclear energy less cost effective compared to renewable energy technologies for low carbon transition of the power sector.



Spent Nuclear Fuel Storage in SSP2 [RCP4.5-Baseline]

Figure 3.76: Spent nuclear fuel storage difference in SSP2 for RCP4.5

The role of nuclear power is reduced to marginal power supply for RCP3.4 in SSP2 as a result of increasing revenues from  $CO_2$  emission penalties for subsidizing additional wind and solar power plants (Figure 3.77). The cost of nuclear fuel cycle reaches 456 million US\$ in 2035 for initial core loading of 2 GW installed NPP followed by annual costs in the range of 120 million US\$ annually for fresh fuel loading to reactor core.

The capacity used for spent fuel cooling and interim storage are reduced to 407 tHM which is less than 1000 tHM capacity causing the extended storage of spent fuel in cooling ponds to reduce back-end nuclear fuel cycle costs (Figure 3.78). The future of nuclear power after the modeling horizon would include additional costs of spent fuel storage for disposal which would affect the economics of power generation from NPPs negatively.

The costs of nuclear fuel cycle for RCP2.6 in SSP2 start from 2025 for the initial



Annual nuclear fuel cycle costs in SSP2 [RCP3.4-Baseline]

Figure 3.77: Annual nuclear fuel cycle cost difference in SSP2 for RCP3.4



Spent Nuclear Fuel Storage in SSP2 [RCP3.4-Baseline]

Figure 3.78: Spent nuclear fuel storage difference in SSP2 for RCP3.4

core loading of 1 GW NPP installed in NPP (Figure 3.79). Further installation of NPPs are prevented by increasing subsidy to wind and solar power plants as a result of increasing revenues from  $CO_2$  emission penalty costs. Nuclear fuel cycle cost initially amounts to 228 million US\$ in 2025 reducing the 50 million US\$ annually for fresh fuel loading in reactor core.



Annual nuclear fuel cycle costs in SSP2 [RCP2.6-Baseline]

Figure 3.79: Annual nuclear fuel cycle cost difference in SSP2 for RCP2.6

The requirements for spent nuclear fuel storage are minimum for RCP2.6 in SSP2 with total amount reaching 275 tHM in spent fuel cooling storage pools (Figure 3.80). The remaining capacity of spent fuel cooling defined in the model is 725 tHM which could provide an opportunity for extended usage of 1 GW NPP after the modeling horizon.

The costs of nuclear fuel cycle for Baseline scenario in SSP3 are considerably higher than SSP2 and SSP1 as NPPs are utilized for supplying increasing base load electricity demand (Figure 3.81). The installed capacities of NPPs reaches 4 GW in 2020 followed by increase to 5 GW in 2025, 8 GW in 2035 and stabilizing at 13 GW after 2040. The initial core loading requirement reaches 1 billion US\$ in 2015 for 4 GW NPP and reaching 1.15 in 2030 with addional initial core loading of 3 GW and fresh



Spent Nuclear Fuel Storage in SSP2 [RCP2.6-Baseline]

Figure 3.80: Spent nuclear fuel storage difference in SSP2 for RCP2.6

fuel loading of 5 GW NPP. The cost of fresh fuel loading stabilizes below 1 billion US\$ after 2040 leaving the remaining cost to storage of spent fuel for cooling and disposal. Early deployment of NPPs causes larger storage of LILW with cost reaching 200 million US\$ annually by the end of the modeling horizon.

The capacity of spent fuel storage cooling is used completely by 2030 increasing the back-end nuclear fuel cycle cost after this period as a result of higher cost of spent fuel storage for disposal (Figure 3.82). The amount of spent fuel storage for cooling and disposal reaches 4540 tHM by the end of the modeling horizon which would require a disposal program for a large fleet of NPPs.

The nuclear fuel cycle costs for RCP6.0 in SSP3 experiences reductions for initial core loading of NPPs as a result of stabilization of installed capacity to 4 GW until 2035 and increasing to 9 GW in 2040 and 10 GW in 2050 (Figure 3.83). Together with reduction in costs of back-end nuclear fuel cycle the reduction of nuclear fuel cycle costs exceeds 400 million US\$ compared to Baseline scenario.

The amount of spent fuel storage reduces to 3260 tHM by the end of the modeling



Annual nuclear fuel cycle costs for Baseline in SSP3

Figure 3.81: Annual nuclear fuel cycle cost in SSP3 for Baseline



# Spent Nuclear Fuel Storage for Baseline in SSP3

Figure 3.82: Spent nuclear fuel storage in SSP3 for Baseline



Annual nuclear fuel cycle costs in SSP3 [RCP6.0-Baseline]

Figure 3.83: Annual nuclear fuel cycle cost difference in SSP3 for RCP6.0

horizon as a result of reduction of installed NPP capacity due to higher penetration of wind and solar power generation for low carbon transition for RCP6.0 in SSP3 (Figure 3.84). The capacity of spent fuel storage for cooling reaches 1000 tHM in 2035 causing increasing costs of back-end nuclear fuel cycle as the amount of spent fuel stored for disposal increases to 2260 tHM.

The nuclear fuel cycle cost for RCP4.5 in SSP3 is reduced to 1 billion US\$ in 2015 for initial core loading of 4 GW NPP followed by reduction to 287 million US\$ annually after 2020 for fresh fuel loading in nuclear reactor core (Figure 3.85). The backend nuclear fuel cycle costs reduces linearly to 286 million US\$ by the end of the modeling horizon due to reduced requirements for initial core loading of NPPs.

The amount of spent fuel storage for cooling reaches 1000 tHM in 2035 as a result of early deployment of 4 GW NPPs for RCP4.5 in SSP3 (Figure 3.86). The total amount of spent fuel storage for cooling and disposal reaches 1965 tHM by the end of the modeling horizon which is considerably reduced from 4540 tHM in Baseline scenario.



Spent Nuclear Fuel Storage in SSP3 [RCP6.0-Baseline]

Figure 3.84: Spent nuclear fuel storage difference in SSP3 for RCP6.0



Annual nuclear fuel cycle costs in SSP3 [RCP4.5-Baseline]

Figure 3.85: Annual nuclear fuel cycle cost difference in SSP3 for RCP4.5



Spent Nuclear Fuel Storage in SSP3 [RCP4.5-Baseline]

Figure 3.86: Spent nuclear fuel storage difference in SSP3 for RCP4.5

Increasing the climate ambition to RCP3.4 in SSP3 provides similar results for nuclear fuel cycle with RCP4.5 as 4 GW NPP is installed in 2020 remaining constant until the end of the modeling horizon (Figure 3.87). Increasing revenues from  $CO_2$  emissions penalty costs used for subsidizing wind and solar power plants substitutes coal and gas power plants having no affect on the role of nuclear power for achieving this climate target (Figure 3.19).

The result for amount of spent fuel stored for cooling and disposal are similar for RCP3.4 in SSP3 with RCP4.5 stabilizing at 4 GW NPP installed power after 2020 (Figure 3.88). The total amount of spent fuel storage for cooling and disposal reaches 1951 tHM by the end of the modeling horizon which is considerably reduced from 4540 tHM in Baseline scenario.

Nuclear fuel cycle for initial core loading of 4 GW NPP requires 1 billion US\$ cost whereas the reduction of cost to 250 million US\$ for fresh fuel loading. Investment for nuclear power in MESSAGE uses mixed integer programming with the conditions for cost optimization requiring the feasibility of investing for 1 GW NPP considering



Annual nuclear fuel cycle costs in SSP3 [RCP3.4-Baseline]

Figure 3.87: Annual nuclear fuel cycle cost difference in SSP3 for RCP3.4



Spent Nuclear Fuel Storage in SSP3 [RCP3.4-Baseline]

Figure 3.88: Spent nuclear fuel storage difference in SSP3 for RCP3.4

both electricity demand, demand load regions and flexibility of grid to supply fluctuating energy demand. The role of nuclear power for climate mitigation shifts to supporting wind and solar power generation in SSP1 scenario.

The middle-of-the-road narrative of SSP2 reduces the role of nuclear power as increasing revenues from  $CO_2$  emission penalties favors wind and solar power for low carbon transition of the energy system. SSP3 is characterized with higher energy demand due to high population growth and low energy efficiency improvement protecting the role of nuclear power for supplying base load electricity demand.

## 3.2 Expert elicitation on energy and climate policies

Nuclear energy has the potential to support securing the energy supply systems and decarbonizing the electricity sectors of developing countries. There are already countries stating nuclear energy as one of their climate mitigation strategies in their NDC submissions to the UNFCCC. However investments for innovation in nuclear energy comes from developed countries considering replacement of their aging fleet whereas demand for new nuclear projects comes mainly from developing countries. NPPs are characterized as capital intensive investments and compared with other major infrastructure projects which point out the requirement for reconciling policy intentions with stakeholders concerns for public acceptance and plant modularization to facilitate the construction management [22].

Despite the existing interregional socioeconomic differences, the world has also shifted from a period of national investments for nuclear energy in the 1970s to the current diversification of the energy markets and increasing investment opportunities through international cooperation. Nuclear projects require the involvement of national and international stakeholders ranging from policy makers to utility owners, vendors, regulators, legal and financial institutes, research organizations and the local people living close to the proposed sites.

Experts are selected from members of Energy and Natural Resources Association in Ankara Turkey for conducting a structured survey evaluating the importance given by participants on topics related to global climate change and sustainable development policies with their reflections on national context for future energy system development. The results are analyzed using multiple correlation tests relating the importance given to climate change and energy policies with values and environmental behavior orientations of experts for understanding the intentions of policy makers to consider nuclear energy as an option for mitigation of climate change.

## 3.2.1 Literature review

There are various studies in the literature relating the personal values [Table 3.12] with environmental behavior by categorizing values based on egoistic, alturistic, hedonic and biospheric orientations [146]. Values are assessed as latent (independent) variables which are measured by using dependent variables on measurable indicators for environmental concern and perception of personal distance to the impact of a potential environmental hazard [148]. Studies assessing the relation between personal values and evaluations related to strategies which deal with environmental concerns presents evidence that value orientations has influence on controversial issues such as climate change and nuclear energy [141].

Values	Dependent variable	Independent variable
Egoistic	Social power	Investment for public education and health
	Wealth	Strengthening of cultural identity
	Authority	Empowerment of national and international institutions
	Influential	Investment for technological development and innovation
Altruistic	Equality	Reduction of inequalities between and within countries
	Peace	Prevention of international and regional conflicts
	Social justice	Strengthening environmental rule-of-law
	Helpful	Empowerment of social charities and relief agencies
Biospheric	Unity	Investment for nature based services
	Protection	Reduction of material and resource consumption
	Respect	Respect for the natural environment and other species
	Nature services	Empowerment of businesses and citizens for nature management

Table 3.12: Egoistic, altruistic and biospheric values

Distance perception to environmental hazard is also related with awareness which can be assessed using game theory method for climate change mitigation as a global commons problem [189]. The study integrates environmental values to economic theory by assessing the relationship between consumption preferences and GDP of countries in order to assess whether this correlation resembles similarities with EKC hypothesis. One of the main drawbacks of the study is the usage of LCOE for renewable energy technologies whereas investment decisions are favorable depending on the marginal prices for maximizing the utility of agents.

However studies based on self-reporting of participants to surveys have limitations related to the participants providing answers perceived as socially correct [143] or being not capable to understand and answer the questions reflecting their true personal behavior [103]. In order to prevent these biases, there are studies performing household surveys using contingency valuation model to assess the benefits and costs of nuclear energy as a climate change mitigation strategy [108]. These studies also present climate mitigation measures related to environmental behavior to reduce energy intensity of production and carbon intensity of energy consumption [179] as alternative options. Psychometric methods contributes to assess the impact of socio-economic characteristics and personal motivation for environmental behavior affects consumption methods to clarify the relation human forcing on the climate [169].

Perlaviciute and Steg [140] review current literature on evaluations and acceptability of energy alternatives based on their characteristics influenced by psychological factors proposing a framework based on perceived benefits and costs. Environmental behavior depends on values which affects their perceptions of climate change[148]. Sustainable energy development decisions are affected by value perceptions of policy makers and relevant stakeholders. Research shows that people with egoistic values tend to support energy options based on the economic benefits whereas biospheric values tend to favor renewable energy options[141].

Nuclear energy as an option for climate change mitigation is assessed in many countries operating an existing fleet and considering new build projects[143]. However nuclear energy also includes concerns for nuclear safety, waste management and proliferation of nuclear weapons[63]. The questions related to nuclear energy are based on the relation with climate mitigation, energy security and related concerns. Additionally mathematical models are sensitive to costs of energy technologies such as the possibility of very cheap or very costly nuclear options which require further elaboration by expert elicitation [19].

#### 3.2.2 Survey method

The study includes the conductance of a structured survey in order to assess the importance of nuclear energy as a potential strategy for climate change mitigation and energy supply security by the participants involved from Energy and Natural Resources Experts Association situated in Ankara Turkey. As currently employed experts have age profiles below 35, additional participants were included from Energy Working Group established by METU Graduates Association.

The value orientations in Table 3.12 are independent (latent) variables in the model given in Figure 3.89 having relations with the personal importance attributions to issues related with SSPs developed for climate change scenarios of the IPCC [151]. The statistics and methods used for the survey are available in Mendeley database under Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International license [62].

The narratives of SSPs are consulted using expert elicitation [98] survey focusing on the levels of importance using Likert scale (1: Not relevant/applicable, 2: Not important, 3: Slightly important, 4: Moderately important, 5: Important, 6: Very important) given to empowerment of individual (egoistic), social (altruistic) and biospheric values. Survey sample population (n=23) includes energy experts associated with Energy and Natural Resources Association of Turkey and members of METU Graduates Association in order to satisfy diversity in participants ages. Spearman test is used as being less sensitive to outliers for testing the correlation between the importance given to egoistic, altruistic and biospheric values with perception of climate change and nuclear power [160].

The structure of the survey used in the study is based on the assessment of nuclear energy for climate change mitigation strategies and energy policy decisions based on the values given to global and national development strategies and environmental behavior [187]. Energy policy decisions affect both short-term and also long-term interests of nations and the public whereas climate change is perceived as a global problem with unclear endowment rights and time-scale exceeding short-term interests of the public.

The main objective of the study is to assess the impact of personal orientations based on egoistic, altruistic and biospheric values on perceptions for climate change and nuclear power among energy decision makers [39]. Values depend on perception of climate change and nuclear power having relations with the scientific basis of these global issues and environmental behavior of individuals (Figure 3.89).



Figure 3.89: Relations used in expert elicitation survey

The importance of "Strengthening of cultural identity" with dependent variable "wealth" is perceived as "moderately important" with wide distribution of answers between "not at all important" and "very important" (Figure 3.90). "Investment for technological development and innovation" with dependent variable "influential" is perceived as "very important" which can be argued as the importance given to technological innovations by energy experts. "Empowerment of national and international institutions" with dependent variable "authority" is perceived as "moderately important" with outliers ranging from "not at all important" to "very important" presenting wide range of opinions. Finally "Investment for public education and health" with dependent

variable "social power" is perceived as "very important" presenting the importance given to education for sustainable development. The correlation test between these dependent variables using Spearman method presents that there is positive correlation between "influential" and "social power" variables ( $\alpha$ =0.53, p=0.05) whereas there is no significant relation found between remaining variables (Table 3.13).



Importance of egoistic values

Figure 3.90: Importance of egoistic values

	lower.emp	lower.norm	estimate	upper.norm	upper.emp	р
wealth-influential	-0.59	-0.58	-0.15	0.37	0.33	0.60
wealth-authority	-0.40	-0.47	-0.06	0.39	0.43	0.84
wealth-social power	-0.34	-0.31	0.18	0.60	0.59	0.48
influential-authority	-0.40	-0.44	0.02	0.45	0.43	0.98
influential-social power	0.06	0.07	0.53	0.82	0.80	0.05
authority-social power	-0.28	-0.31	0.04	0.39	0.36	0.81

Table 3.13: Relations between dependent variables for egoistic values

The importance of "Empowerment of social charities and relief agencies" with dependent variable "helpful" is perceived as "slightly important" with first quantile at "not at all important" and third quantile at "moderately important" (Figure 3.91). "Strengthening environmental rule-of-law" with dependent variable "social justice" is perceived as "extremely important" with first quantile at "very important". Interestingly "Prevention of international and regional conflicts" with dependent variable "peace" is perceived as "moderately important" which has relation with environmental rule-of-law. Finally "Reduction of inequalities between and within countries" with dependent variable "equality" is perceived as "very important" ranging to first quantile with "moderately important". The correlation test between these dependent variables using Spearman method presents that there is negative correlation between "equality" and "social justice" variables ( $\alpha$ =-0.41, p=0.05) whereas there is no significant relation found between remaining variables (Table 3.14).



Importance of altruistic values

Figure 3.91: Importance of altruistic values

The answers to importance of "Empowerment of businesses and citizens for nature management" with dependent variable "nature services" and "Reduction of material and resource consumption" with dependent variable "protection" present similar distributions with median at "very important" and answers ranging from "moderately important" at first quantile to "extremely important" at third quantile (Figure 3.92). "Investment for nature based services" with dependent variable "unity" is per-

	lower.emp	lower.norm	estimate	upper.norm	upper.emp	р
helpful-social justice	-0.64	-0.63	-0.12	0.41	0.36	0.62
helpful-peace	-0.17	-0.20	0.37	0.80	0.78	0.21
helpful-equality	-0.37	-0.39	0.07	0.56	0.53	0.68
social justice-peace	-0.75	-0.74	-0.34	0.21	0.22	0.23
social justice-equality	-0.67	-0.69	-0.41	-0.03	-0.03	0.05
peace-equality	-0.22	-0.22	0.24	0.67	0.65	0.28

Table 3.14: Relations between dependent variables for altruistic values

ceived as "very important" ranging to "extremely important" at third quantile. Finally "Respect for the natural environment and other species" with dependent variable "respect" is perceived as "extremely important" ranging to "very important" at first quantile. The correlation test between these dependent variables using Spearman method presents that there is positive correlation between "nature services" and "unity" variables ( $\alpha$ =0.48, p=0.04) whereas there is no significant relation found between remaining variables (Table 3.15).



Figure 3.92: Importance of biospheric values

	lower.emp	lower.norm	estimate	upper.norm	upper.emp	р
nature services-unity	0.18	0.09	0.48	0.80	0.80	0.04
nature services-respect	-0.54	-0.59	-0.19	0.32	0.34	0.51
nature services-protection	-0.20	-0.25	0.27	0.66	0.66	0.33
unity-respect	-0.38	-0.40	0.05	0.48	0.49	0.83
unity-protection	-0.17	-0.10	0.30	0.61	0.56	0.16
respect-protection	-0.45	-0.45	-0.02	0.37	0.33	0.83

Table 3.15: Relations between dependent variables for biospheric values

These dependent variables can be related to clusters representing value orientations of sample group using Very Simple Structure factor model of complexity one (Figure 3.93) [150]. The reliability of this cluster model is determined by the mean split half correlation parameter  $\alpha$  and the worst split half correlation parameter  $\beta$  for all clusters. The general result of this model shows that there is negative relation between dependent parameters for altruistic and biospheric value orientations and a weak correlation of them with dependent variables related with egoistic value orientations.

#### Cluster analysis for value orientations



Figure 3.93: Cluster model for value orientations

#### 3.2.3 Climate change and nuclear power

Demographic variables used in the model as control parameters are gender, age, professional background and highest degree earned in school by survey participants. The population of survey includes members of Energy and Natural Resources association (N=53) 28% represented by female participants. The sample population includes 16 participants from this group with a higher representation of females to reduce gender bias in responses (Figure 3.94).

Gender distribution



Figure 3.94: Gender distribution of sample population

The first energy experts in Ministry of Energy and Natural Resources were employed in 2012 which limits the variation of ages in sample population. In order to reduce the potential bias from focusing on young experts, the sample population was extended with additional three experts from Energy Commission of METU Graduates Association also increasing the sample population (n=21) (Figure 3.95).

The professional distribution of sample population is equally weighed with 48% represented by engineers and the remaining 52% are represented by social and statistical scientists, law and other professions (Figure 3.96). The age profile of sample pop-



Figure 3.95: Age distribution of sample population

ulation corresponds to educational degrees possessed by them 62% of participants possessing a Bachelors degree (Figure 3.97).

Analysis of variance (ANOVA) method is used for assessing the perceptions of climate change and nuclear power based on the control variables [31]. The control variables are grouped in two as gender-age and profession-degree in order to elaborate the potential affect of combination of variables on the answers of sample group.

The survey question ""Thinking about the causes of climate change, which, if any, of the following describes your opinion?"" with dependent variable "climate change" is answered by 16 participants from sample population (n=21) as "Climate change is happening now, and is entirely related to human activities". Using two-group ANOVA method with gender and age as control variables shows that although the median of answers for both groups is "Very important", there is significant difference between male and female participants (F=3.546, p=0.07). However there is no significant difference for age (F= 2.532, p=0.13) and combination of gender and age (F=1.226, p=0.284) of participants for climate perception (Figure 3.98).



Figure 3.96: Profession distribution of sample population



# **Degree distribution**

Figure 3.97: Degree distribution of sample population



Figure 3.98: Climate change perception for gender and age

Analyzing the dependent variable "climate change" for profession and degree as control variables presents that there is no significant difference in the answers for professions (F=0.487, p=0.495), degrees (F=0.138, p=0.714) and combination of professions and degrees (F=0.002, p=0.968) of participants (Figure 3.99). The answers to this question are subject to bias as it was the first question of the survey with "climate change" being the subject favoring the acceptance of this issue.

The survey question "Which of these two issues, if at all, do you think is more important? Climate change - reducing the carbon emissions from human activities to prevent irreversible damage to the environment. Energy security - ensuring the supply and access of uninterrupted, secure and affordable energy for all." with dependent variable "climate-energy tradeoff" is answered by 12 participants from sample population as "Both are equally important". Two-group ANOVA method shows that there is significant difference for both gender (F=3.293, p=0.0873) and age (F=7.958, p=0.0118) of participants (Figure 3.100). Interestingly the median of answers are "Both are equally important" for both genders whereas the median answer of participants with ages 35 and above shifts to "Both - but climate change has higher



Figure 3.99: Climate change perception for profession and degree

priority"".

Analyzing the dependent variable "climate-energy tradeoff" for profession and degree as control variables shows that there is significant difference for professions (F=4.605, p=0.0466) with median of answers of engineers as "Both - but climate change has higher priority". Analysing the combined affect of profession and degree shows that there is no significant difference (F=0.243, p=0.6285) in the answers of participants (Figure 3.101).

The survey question "Thinking about nuclear energy as an option for climate change mitigation, which, if any, of the following describes your opinion?" with dependent variable "nuclear energy" is answered with a wide range from "We should explore all other energy options to reduce our carbon emissions before building a new nuclear power plant" in the first quantile to "We need nuclear energy because we are not able to reduce our carbon emissions by using all other energy options" in the third quantile. Two-group ANOVA method shows that there is no significant difference for both gender (F=0.004, p=0.951) (Figure 3.102) and age (F=1.669, p=0.214) (Figure



#### Climate change-energy security tradeoff for gender





Climate change-energy security tradeoff for profession

Figure 3.101: Climate change-energy trade-off and profession

#### 3.103) of participants.



1 We should not use nuclear energy as the risks far outweigh those of climate change

2 We should explore all other energy options to reduce our carbon emissions before building a new nuclear power plant

3 Nuclear power plants should be built irrespective of any other energy options

4 I am willing to support nuclear energy if it would be helpful to support climate change mitigation

5 We need nuclear energy because we are not able to reduce our carbon emissions by using all other energy options

Figure 3.102: Nuclear energy perception for gender

Analyzing the dependent variable "nuclear energy" for profession and degree as control variables shows that there is no significant difference for professions (F=0.183, p=0.675) (Figure 3.104) and degrees (F=0.432, p=0.520) (Figure 3.105) of participants. We can analyze that responses for the perception of participants for nuclear energy are evenly distributed for all control groups.

## 3.2.4 Results and discussion

The global questions used in the survey assess the perception of participants towards climate change, climate-energy nexus and nuclear energy. Likert scale from "1" to "5" is used for answers reflecting the degree of perceptions to these issues. Factual questions concerning perception of climate change and nuclear energy have answers starting from "There is no such thing as climate change" or "We should not use nuclear energy as risks outweigh those of climate change" for scale of "1" to "Climate change is happening now and is entirely related to human activities" and "We need



1 We should not use nuclear energy as the risks far outweigh those of climate change

2 We should explore all other energy options to reduce our carbon emissions before building a new nuclear power plant 3 Nuclear power plants should be built irrespective of any other energy options

4 I am willing to support nuclear energy if it would be helpful to support climate change mitigation

5 We need nuclear energy because we are not able to reduce our carbon emissions by using all other energy options





1 We should not use nuclear energy as the risks far outweigh those of climate change

2 We should explore all other energy options to reduce our carbon emissions before building a new nuclear power plant

3 Nuclear power plants should be built irrespective of any other energy options

4 I am willing to support nuclear energy if it would be helpful to support climate change mitigation

5 We need nuclear energy because we are not able to reduce our carbon emissions by using all other energy options

Figure 3.104: Nuclear energy perception for profession
#### Nuclear energy perception for degree



1 We should not use nuclear energy as the risks far outweigh those of climate change

2 We should explore all other energy options to reduce our carbon emissions before building a new nuclear power plant 3 Nuclear power plants should be built irrespective of any other energy options

5 We need nuclear energy because we are not able to reduce our carbon emissions by using all other energy options

### Figure 3.105: Nuclear energy perception for degree

nuclear energy because we are not able to reduce our carbon emissions by using all other energy options" for scale of "5". The median results show that "Climate change is happening now, and is entirely related to human activities" (n=21, skew=-1.65), "Both climate change and energy security are equally important" (n=21, skew=0.35) and "I am willing to support nuclear energy if it would be helpful to support climate change mitigation" (n=21, skew=-0.26).

The reliability of answers given to survey questions are checked by using multiple correlation tests. As the title of the survey is directly linked to "climate change" and "role of nuclear energy" this method is useful in order to identify potential biases in the answers. There is no significant positive correlation between the answers given to questions on climate change and climate-energy nexus ( $\alpha$ =0.26, p=0.17). These are further checked with answers given to questions related with environmental behavior showing that answers of climate-energy nexus have some correlations with environmental behavior therefore are considered more reliable compared to answers of climate change. There is significant negative correlation between answers given to climate change. There is significant negative correlation between answers given to climate-energy nexus and modes of transport ( $\alpha$ =-0.43, p=0.04) which is the basis for

<sup>4</sup> I am willing to support nuclear energy if it would be helpful to support climate change mitigation

selection of this question for further analysis of energy system modeling results.

The perception of nuclear energy is evaluated by the potential role for climate mitigation, importance as an energy resource and safety of nuclear power facilities. There is significant positive correlation between the role of nuclear power for climate mitigation and the importance of nuclear power ( $\alpha$ =0.56, p=0.02) asked as "How important, if at all, do you perceive nuclear energy for safe and reliable electricity generation?" with median response of "Important" (n=21, skew=-1.04) from participants. There is no significant relation between the importance given to nuclear energy - both for climate mitigation and as an energy source - and perception of nuclear safety from nuclear power plants (n=20, skew=0.76) and nuclear fuel facilities (n=20, skew=1.01) with median response of "Slightly safe". The question related to safety of radioactive waste management facilities, which is one of the major issues related to sustainability, is answered with median response of "Not at all safe" (n=20, skew=1.44) having positive correlation with perception of safety from nuclear power plants ( $\alpha$ =0.77, p=0.02).

The results are useful as a preliminary evaluation of policy makers of Turkey as a developing country for assessment of climate change and the role of nuclear power for climate mitigation and as a sustainable energy resource. However there are limitations on the reliability of answers given to questions which are checked with their correlations related with the value perceptions and environmental behavior of participants. The perception of experts on climate-energy tradeoff has significant relation with their importance given to "Respect for the natural environment and other species" with dependent variable "respect" selected as biospheric value orientation (Table 3.16).

However the perception of nuclear energy has significant negative correlation with the importance given to "Reduction of material and resource consumption" which is attributed as one of the climate change mitigation measures mentioned in the narrative of SSP1 green transformation pathway (Table 3.16). These results show that energy policy makers in developing countries consider the importance of nuclear energy as a domestic issue whereas climate change requires international norms for global climate action. Although there is also concern for nuclear and radiation safety related

to nuclear power generation for now, this could be raised as an issue in future for new-build projects there is lack of experience in these issues.

	lower.emp	lower.norm	estimate	upper.norm	upper.emp	р
climate-energy tradeoff -	0.35	0.34	0.59	0.79	0.8	0
respect						
nuclear energy -	-0.79	-0.75	-0.42	0.05	0	0.1
protection						

Table 3.16: Relations between perceptions and environmental values

The answers given to the survey question "How important, if at all, do you perceive the following energy sources for safe and reliable electricity generation?" for renewable energy sources favors solar (n=20, skew=-1.03) and wind power (n=20, skew=-1.03) with median value between "Important" and "Very important" (Figure 3.106). Importance given to nuclear energy (n=20, skew=-1.04) has the same median value "Important" with hydro-power (n=20, skew=-0.58), geothermal (n=20, skew=-0.13) and biomass (n=20, skew=-0.65).



Figure 3.106: Importance of low carbon energy sources

The answers given to the survey question "How important, if at all, do you perceive the following energy sources for safe and reliable electricity generation?" for fossil energy sources favors domestic coal (n=20, skew=-0.15) with median value between "Moderately important" and "Important" (Figure 3.107). Natural gas is ranked as second with median value "Important" (n=20, skew=0.25), followed by import coal with median value "Slightly important" (n=20, skew=1.18) and finally oil with median value "Not important" (n=20, skew=1.36).



Importance of fossil energy sources

Figure 3.107: Importance of fossil energy sources

The perception of safety for industrial facilities is affected by the NIMBY behavior where local impacts are more important [34]. These results are independent from energy technology costs as people place high value to where they live. The highest perception of safety is given to wind and solar power plants (n=20, skew=-1.21) with median value between "Very safe" and "Extremely safe" and the second place given to hydro-power (n=20, skew=-0.64) with median value "very safe" (Figure 3.108). Electricity generation from biomass (n=20, skew=0.28) has median value "moderately safe" being the lowest for renewable energy sources. The perception of safety for muclear power (n=20, skew=0.76) is "slightly safe" which is above for

coal power plants (n=20, skew=0.98) with median value between "not at all safe" and "slightly safe" and below gas power plants (n=20, skew=0.17) with median value between "slightly safe" and "moderately safe".



Safety perception of power generation technologies

Figure 3.108: Safety perception of power generation technologies

The energy supply system includes infrastructure for transforming primary energy sources for final energy demand. These technologies also have relations with the power sector for both using the same primary energy sources and also as conversion for transforming them to secondary energy sources with potential for reprocessing and re-usage depending on social preferences [28]. Facilities for nuclear fuel production and radioactive waste storage are part of the nuclear fuel cycle with the median value "slightly safe" for nuclear fuel (n=20, skew=1.01) and "not at all safe" for radioactive waste (n=20, skew=1.44) (Figure 3.109). Oil refinery producing oil products for final energy demand and fuel-oil for power sector are perceived as "slightly safe" (n=20, skew=0.92) whereas gas processing and storafe facilities have higher level of safety perceived with median value "moderately safe" (n=20, skew=-0.37). Finally solid waste landfill facilities which can be linked with biomass power generation are perceived as "slightly safe" (n=20, skew=-0.95) [15].



Safety perception of energy conversion technologies

Figure 3.109: Safety perception of energy conversion technologies

### 3.3 Sensitivity analysis

Analytical modeling results are sensitive to assumptions on activity and constraint variables. Optimization of the energy system costs depends on the prices of energy sources and conversion technologies as well as environmental or other socio-economic constraints. In order to assess the sensitivity of the results to these assumptions both quantitative and qualitative analysis are performed for future scenarios.

Chen et al. [32] analyze whether general equilibrium models generate reliable projections based on energy and environmental policies based on consumer preferences and historic trends. The results present significant challenges for very low GHG emission pathway as an industrialized world without fossil fuels has not been experienced in the past. Models including endogenous technological change are further subject to sensitivity of parameters such as the learning rate and spillover affects [58].

The linear programming solver of MESSAGE generates ranges for pareto-optimal solution including cost coefficients used in the objective function, upper and lower

constraint bounds for right hand side equations and variable bounds for activity and capacities of energy conversion technologies calculated by the model for optimization of the total discounted cost of the energy system. However these rates are based on literature therefore are not included to the sensitivity analysis for this study.

Sensitivity analysis for coefficients of variables in the objective function are affected by the costs of energy conversion activities and capacities based on the IAM results of SSPs. The energy system is driven by primary energy supply of fossil fuels and low carbon energy sources being nuclear energy and biomass. The results are also sensitive to right-hand-side constraints for the feasible generation capacity from renewable energy sources. Finally the model results are sensitive to bounds for variables which are technical constraints for power ramp-up and ramp-down rates [27].

The modeling results are not sensitive to extraction costs in the short term due to abundant capacity exceeding final energy demand (Figure 3.110). The sensitivity to maximum prices for domestic coal increases in the long term due to the transformation of energy sector to low carbon future. The sensitivity of import coal prices is high in the short term which decreases after 2035 which coincides with rapid penetration of wind and solar power generation (Figure 3.7). The sensitivity of results to oil import prices is high for increasing costs and to gas for decreasing costs in the short term. This difference is due to the capacity investment available for natural gas pipelines in the beginning of the modeling period whereas final energy demand for oil products are complemented by additional imports.

The sensitivity to increase of uranium import prices for Baseline scenario in SSP1 decreases by the end of the modeling horizon whereas the reduction of prices to zero calculate the same pareto-optimal solution (Figure 3.111). The results is similar for biomass in the beginning of the modeling horizon whereas the range of biomass production costs decreases during the modeling horizon. Biomass is used for both final energy demand, electricity generation from biomass plants and biodiesel production. The subsidy given to biomass power plants by FITs from revenues generated by  $CO_2$  emission penalty costs creates increasing sensitivity to biomass costs.

The climate ambition for RCP2.6 increases the sensitivity of modeling results to coal import costs after 2035 which is considered as one of the favorable electricity gen-



Figure 3.110: Primary fossil fuel costs for Baseline in SSP1



Figure 3.111: Low carbon fuel costs for Baseline in SSP1

eration sources due to low costs and high conversion efficiencies compared to other fossil fuels (Figure 3.112). The sensitivity to costs of domestic coal, import oil and gas are similar to Baseline scenario in SSP1 which are more driven by final energy demand compared to  $CO_2$  emission penalty costs.



Figure 3.112: Primary fossil fuel costs for RCP2.6 in SSP1

The import prices of uranium affect the modeling results only in 2035 for RCP2.6 scenario in SSP1 which is the period of transition to low carbon energy system with additional massive investment to wind and solar power generation (Figure 3.113). The sensitivity to biomass prices remain higher for RCP2.6 in SSP1 compared to Baseline scenario after 2035 which is determined by increasing  $CO_2$  emission penalty costs.

Final energy demand in SSP2 is characterized with higher rate of increase due to higher population growth and lower improvement in energy efficiency compared to SSP1. Final energy demand for import coal is more sensitive to costs for Baseline scenario in SSP2 compared to SSP1 scenarios (Figure 3.114). The results are not sensitive to domestic coal extraction costs in the short term with increasing sensitivity by the end of the modeling horizon. The costs of oil and gas import affect the modeling results after 2025 as a result of idle capacity in power sector in the begin-



Figure 3.113: Low carbon fuel costs for RCP2.6 in SSP1

ning of the modeling horizon.

The sensitivity of modeling results to uranium import costs increases for Baseline scenario in SSP2 increases with penetration of nuclear electricity generation to power sector after 2035 (Figure 3.115). However the results are sensitive to decreases in uranium import costs during all modeling horizon which would affect the temporal scale of NPP deployment. The sensitivity of results to biomass costs decreases during all modeling horizon whereas maximum costs for import uranium increases in the beginning of the modeling period which can be related to lack of pricing mechanisms to subsidize nuclear energy for early penetration to the power sector.

### **3.4** Validation of the hypothesis

Electricity generation from nuclear energy is considered as one of the strategies for both energy security and climate mitigation of developing countries whereas developed countries consider the costs and benefits of NPPs in order to make decisions



Figure 3.114: Primary fossil fuel costs for Baseline in SSP2



Figure 3.115: Low carbon fuel costs for Baseline in SSP2



Figure 3.116: Primary fossil fuel costs for RCP2.6 in SSP2



Figure 3.117: Low carbon fuel costs for RCP2.6 in SSP2



Figure 3.118: Primary fossil fuel costs for Baseline in SSP3



Figure 3.119: Low carbon fuel costs for Baseline in SSP3



Figure 3.120: Primary fossil fuel costs for RCP3.4 in SSP3



Figure 3.121: Low carbon fuels for RCP3.4 in SSP3

for continued operation. The results of the modeling study shows that the penetration of nuclear energy is high for Baseline scenarios in all SSPs independently from the increase in final energy demand. Implementing  $CO_2$  penalty tax on fossil fuel resources and usage of these revenues for investment in renewable energy resources reduces the robustness of the electricity grid to supply peak load demand. Therefore we can reject Hypothesis I as the grid requirements are important and nuclear energy could take advantage by using flexible generation operation schemes.

The marginal costs of electricity generation are highest in the initial years of the modeling horizon due to the non-optimal allocation of resources in relation to the costs of energy conversion technologies. The optimization solver calculates the energy system expansion to supply the final energy demand under technical and environmental constraints. The marginal costs increase for all scenarios in 2035 where the operation lifetimes of installed capacities expire leaving the way for low carbon energy investments. Under the renewable support scheme with FITs, the model prioritizes the allocation of wind and solar power on the expense of grid flexibility. The most stringent climate target scenarios include limited expansion of nuclear energy leading to the rejection of Hypothesis II.

The FITs using revenues collected from  $CO_2$  emission penalty costs provide both a subsidy for electricity generation from renewable energy resources and also an upper constraint as the total budget available is fixed. The high penetration of renewable energy would also result in reduction of this revenue which would lead to non-optimal energy system development under carbon emission constraint. Developing countries rely on diffusion and spillover of technological innovations requiring their large deployment primarily in developed countries. We can accept Hypothesis III as nuclear energy is included in all climate scenarios with high flexibility and also could benefit the most stringent climate targets with flexible operation schemes.

The energy policy decisions of Turkey are based on the strengthening of energy security with reduction of energy system costs. However the market mechanism for energy investments requires increasing marginal prices which would result mainly from increase in final energy demand. Nuclear energy is perceived as highly important similarly to other low carbon energy sources including intermittent renewable energy resources. The importance given to domestic coal is highest among fossil fuel resources although this importance is under the low carbon resources. Therefore we can reject Hypothesis IV as high importance is given to both climate mitigation and energy security by energy experts.

Finally as the target is to reduce GHG emissions in order to limit the extent of climate change and achieve the most stringent climate goals, the resulting  $CO_2$  emission intensities of production are presented in Figure 3.122 for SSPs with IAM results of energy efficiency improvements on the vertical scale. The results show that providing low carbon energy technologies and internalizing the costs of  $CO_2$  emissions are not sufficient to reduce the carbon intensity of production and additional mitigation measures for non-specific energy demand are necessary (such as using higher efficiency industrial boilers, fuel switching, transformation of transport sector).



Kaya Identity Decomposition of CO2 Emissions

Figure 3.122: Energy and carbon intensity change for SSPs (%/yr)

## **CHAPTER 4**

# **DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION**

The results presented below provide a foresight for the second commitment period of the Paris Agreement until 2050. Final energy demand is included exogenously to the model for baseline scenarios and mitigation scenarios include additional costs for  $CO_2$  emissions. Climate mitigation technologies are hydropower, biomass, wind, solar and geothermal for secondary electricity generation and biodiesel for final diesel demand.

The mathematical model used in this study calculates the minimized total energy system costs under economical, environmental and social constraints. Baseline scenarios include only penalty costs for air pollutant emissions of  $SO_2$  and  $NO_x$ . The mitigations scenarios used for reducing the cumulative carbon emissions include penalty costs for  $CO_2$  emissions based on IAM results of SSPs.

Energy security is represented by the flexibility of the electricity grid to supply peak load on demand. Fossil power plants and NPPs have technological constraints for period required to ramp up or ramp down power generation whereas renewable energy sources are intermittent and require balancing with base load electricity generation. Finally the revenues collected from emission penalties are provided as FITs for solar, geothermal and biomass power plants to subsidize their high capital costs. The marginal costs of electricity generation with FITs represent welfare loss which is used as additional criteria for minimization.

The expert elicitation survey uses Likert scale reflecting the importance given to climate change mitigation and energy security strategies. Climate change is perceived with high importance whereas energy security is also perceived as important for sustainable development. Primary strategy for climate mitigation is the increasing usage of renewable energy sources such as wind and solar power. Wind power is already utilized at large scale in both onshore and offshore power plants and the capital cost of solar power is decreasing at a fast rate increasing the market penetration of PV technology. Extended usage of these renewable sources requires additional subsidies to geothermal and biomass power technologies for their market penetration.

The results are provided in radar plots for MCA objectives used for scenario assessment in this study. The most stringent climate scenario in SSP1 has highest values for  $CO_2$  emissions and subsidies for electricity generation from renewable energy sources by using FITs from emission penalty costs (Figure 4.1). The baseline scenario provides the highest flexibility of electricity grid to supply peak load demand and minimum total discounted energy system cost.



Figure 4.1: MCA of SSP1 scenarios

The results for SSP2 provides that reductions in  $CO_2$  emissions are minor in scenarios except RCP2.6 in the expense of reduction in grid flexibility to supply peak load demand and increasing total discounted energy system cost (Figure 4.2). Also the increase of climate ambition from RCP6.0 to RCP4.5 results in minor changes in



MCA values leaving the remaining scenarios for consideration.

Figure 4.2: MCA of SSP2 scenarios

Increasing the climate ambition in SSP3 results in minor reduction in  $CO_2$  for all scenarios except RCP3.4 (Figure 4.3). Also the increase of climate ambition from RCP6.0 to RCP4.5 results mainly in the increase of total discounted energy system cost leaving other MCA values close to each other.

Using the weights from the expert elicitation study for the MCA values provides the ranking of RCP scenarios for SSPs. The SSPs are differentiated by the level of final energy demand with the lowest represented by SSP1 and the highest by SSP3 due to socioeconomic assumptions. The application of weights for MCA values in SSPs results in ranking of scenarios as listed below.



Figure 4.3: MCA of SSP3 scenarios

- SSP1 scenarios
  - Rank 1: RCP3.4
  - Rank 2: Baseline
  - Rank 3: RCP4.5
  - Rank 4: RCP2.6
- SSP2 scenarios
  - Rank 1: RCP3.4
  - Rank 2: RCP4.5
  - Rank 3: RCP6.0
  - Rank 4: Baseline
  - Rank 5: RCP2.6
- SSP3 scenarios
  - Rank 1: RCP4.5

- Rank 2: RCP3.4
- Rank 3: RCP6.0
- Rank 4: Baseline

Primary energy demand for fossil energy resources (Table 4.2) shows increasing demand for both domestic and imported coal and imported natural gas and crude oil as energy demand increases. Crude oil is processed in domestic refineries for production of oil products. The import oil products mainly constitute petrocoke required for final energy demand.

Energy demand Domestic coal Import coal Natural gas Crude oil Oil products Low 40.32 22.74 65.29 49.88 2.44 Medium 40.48 22.64 64.01 51.86 2.53 High 21.97 75.76 3.12 40.48 59.48

Table 4.1: Primary fossil energy demand (GW-year) in 2035

Energy demand	Domestic coal	Import coal	Natural gas	Crude oil	Oil products
Low	34.19	22.49	64.05	52.90	2.42
Medium	35.80	22.51	61.34	56.47	2.62
High	39.70	21.74	58.52	65.05	3.40

Table 4.2: Primary fossil energy demand (GW-year) in 2050

Primary energy demand for renewable energy sources 4.4 shows increasing demand for hydropower, biomass and geothermal as energy demand increases. Hydropower is also utilized to achieve flexibility requirements of electricity transmission grid to supply peak load electricity by storing capability. Biomass and geothermal are used for both electricity generation and also heating purposes. There is also a climate mitigation technology for biodiesel production using primary biomass. Wind and solar have input load regions defined in the model in order to define them as complementary technologies. Availability of solar is maximum during daytime and wind during morning and evening times due to most of capacity lying on the western Aegean coast affected by temperature changes between sea and land.

Results for installed capacity for electricity generation 4.6 shows that nuclear energy

Energy demand	Hydropower	Biomass	Wind	Solar	Geothermal
Low	5.98	1.83	1.73	5.21	2.25
Medium	5.94	2.00	1.86	6.07	2.32
High	6.05	2.48	1.71	6.34	2.64

Table 4.3: Primary renewable energy demand (GW-year) in 2035

Table 4.4: Primary renewable energy demand (GW-year) in 2050

Energy demand	Hydropower	Biomass	Wind	Solar	Geothermal
Low	5.23	1.64	6.18	6.39	1.97
Medium	5.11	1.86	8.18	9.75	2.17
High	4.76	2.51	13.93	18.08	2.68
High	4.76	2.51	13.93	18.08	2.68

has a potential role for climate mitigation in medium and high baseline scenarios together with renewable energy. Low baseline scenario requires a major paradigm shift which results in saturation of final energy demand favouring intensive penetration of wind and solar with concerns to achieve grid flexibility requirements.

Table 4.5: Installed low carbon electricity capacity (GW) in 2035

Energy demand	Nuclear	Hydro	Wind	Solar	Geothermal	Biomass
Low	0	25.73	10.83	18.92	0.41	0.33
Medium	0	25.73	11.65	24.21	0.41	0.36
High	4.00	25.83	10.73	21.06	0.43	0.36

In order to achieve the most stringent climate targets, additional climate and energy policies besides subsidizing low carbon investments should be used for the reduction of carbon intensity of production. Substitution of fossil fuels in final energy demand are important especially for carbon intensive sectors such as cement and steel production and also transportation sector. Long term climate mitigation strategies could benefit from extended utilization of nuclear energy for substitution of fossil fuels for final energy demand such as process heat and hydrogen production besides electricity generation.

Table 4.6: Installed low carbon electricity capacity (GW) in 2050

Energy demand	Nuclear	Hydro	Wind	Solar	Geothermal	Biomass
Low	5.00	21.23	29.17	15.42	0.19	0.09
Medium	2.00	20.73	40.93	35.76	0.19	0.17
High	4.00	20.73	77.97	85.92	0.21	0.17

### REFERENCES

- [1] W. Abrahamse, L. Steg, C. Vlek, and T. Rothengatter. The effect of tailored information, goal setting, and tailored feedback on household energy use, energy-related behaviors, and behavioral antecedents. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 27(4):265–276, 2007.
- [2] O. Akashi, T. Hanaoka, T. Masui, and M. Kainuma. Halving global GHG emissions by 2050 without depending on nuclear and CCS. *Climatic Change*, 123(3):611–622, Apr 2014.
- [3] N. Apergis, J. E. Payne, K. Menyah, and Y. Wolde-Rufael. On the causal dynamics between emissions, nuclear energy, renewable energy, and economic growth. *Ecological Economics*, 69(11):2255 – 2260, 2010. Special Section -Payments for Ecosystem Services: From Local to Global.
- [4] I. Ari. Investigating the CO2 Emission of Turkish Electricity Sector and its Mitigation Potential. Master's thesis, METU, 2010.
- [5] I. Ari. Voluntary emission trading potential of Turkey. *Energy Policy*, 62:910–919, 2013.
- [6] I. Ari and R. F. Yikmaz. The role of renewable energy in achieving Turkey's INDC. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 105:244–251, 2019.
- [7] T. Asami, M. Uno, N. Matumiya, and S. Niwa. ranking of global energy systems as environmental countermeasure. In J. Gale and Y. Kaya, editors, *Greenhouse Gas Control Technologies - 6th International Conference*, pages 943 – 948. Pergamon, Oxford, 2003.
- [8] Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank. Turkey gas storage expansion project. https://www.aiib.org/en/ projects/approved/2018/\_download/turkey/document/ turkey-gas-storage-expansion.pdf.

- [9] L. Aydın. The possible macroeconomic and sectoral impacts of carbon taxation on Turkey's economy: A computable general equilibrium analyses. *Energy & Environment*, 29:0958305X1875992, 2018.
- [10] N. Bauer, K. Calvin, J. Emmerling, O. Fricko, S. Fujimori, J. Hilaire, J. Eom, V. Krey, E. Kriegler, I. Mouratiadou, H. S. de Boer, M. van den Berg, S. Carrara, V. Daioglou, L. Drouet, J. E. Edmonds, D. Gernaat, P. Havlik, N. Johnson, D. Klein, P. Kyle, G. Marangoni, T. Masui, R. C. Pietzcker, M. Strubegger, M. Wise, K. Riahi, D. P. van Vuuren, H. Sytze de Boer, M. van den Berg, S. Carrara, V. Daioglou, L. Drouet, J. E. Edmonds, D. Gernaat, P. Havlik, N. Johnson, D. Klein, P. Kyle, G. Marangoni, T. Masui, R. C. Pietzcker, M. Strubegger, M. Wise, K. Riahi, D. P. van Vuuren, H. S. de Boer, M. van den Berg, S. Carrara, V. Daioglou, L. Drouet, J. E. Edmonds, D. Gernaat, P. Havlik, N. Johnson, D. Klein, P. Kyle, G. Marangoni, T. Masui, R. C. Pietzcker, M. Strubegger, M. Wise, K. Riahi, D. P. van Vuuren, H. S. de Boer, M. van den Berg, S. Carrara, V. Daioglou, L. Drouet, J. E. Edmonds, D. Gernaat, P. Havlik, N. Johnson, D. Klein, P. Kyle, G. Marangoni, T. Masui, R. C. Pietzcker, M. Strubegger, M. Wise, K. Riahi, and D. P. van Vuuren. Shared Socio-Economic Pathways of the Energy Sector Quantifying the Narratives. *Global Environmental Change*, 42:316–330, jan 2017.
- [11] N. Bauer, J. Hilaire, R. J. Brecha, J. Edmonds, K. Jiang, E. Kriegler, H. H. Rogner, and F. Sferra. Data on fossil fuel availability for Shared Socioeconomic Pathways. *Data in Brief*, 10:44–46, 2017.
- [12] C. Bertram, N. Johnson, G. Luderer, K. Riahi, M. Isaac, and J. Eom. Carbon lock-in through capital stock inertia associated with weak near-term climate policies. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 90, 11 2013.
- [13] S. Bigaret, R. E. Hodgett, P. Meyer, T. Mironova, and A. L. Olteanu. Supporting the multi-criteria decision aiding process: R and the MCDA package. *EURO Journal on Decision Processes*, 5(1-4):169–194, 2017.
- [14] C. Böhringer and T. F. Rutherford. Combining bottom-up and top-down. Energy Economics, 30(2):574–596, 2008.
- [15] N. S. Bolan, R. Thangarajan, B. Seshadri, U. Jena, K. C. Das, H. Wang, and R. Naidu. Landfills as a biorefinery to produce biomass and capture biogas. *Bioresource Technology*, 135:578–587, 2013.

- [16] F. E. Boran, M. Etöz, and E. Dizdar. Is nuclear power an optimal option for electricity generation in turkey? *Energy Sources, Part B: Economics, Planning, and Policy*, 8(4):382–390, 2013.
- [17] V. Bosetti, C. Carraro, M. Galeotti, E. Massetti, and M. Tavoni. WITCH A World Induced Technical Change Hybrid Model. *The Energy Journal*, 27:13– 37, 2006.
- [18] V. Bosetti, C. Carraro, and M. Tavoni. Climate change mitigation strategies in fast-growing countries: The benefits of early action. *Energy Economics*, 31(SUPPL. 2):S144–S151, 2009.
- [19] V. Bosetti, G. Marangoni, E. Borgonovo, L. D. Anadon, R. Barron, H. C. Mc-Jeon, S. Politis, and P. Friley. Sensitivity to energy technology costs: A multimodel comparison analysis. *Energy Policy*, 80:244 – 263, 2015.
- [20] A. Bostrom, R. E. O'connor, G. Böhm, D. Hanss, O. Bodi, F. Ekström, P. Halder, S. Jeschke, B. Mack, M. Qu, L. Rosentrater, A. Sandve, I. Sælensminde, G. Bö Hm, D. Hanss, O. Bodi, F. Ekströ, P. Halder, S. Jeschke, B. Mack, M. Qu, L. Rosentrater, A. Sandve, I. Saelensminde, G. Böhm, D. Hanss, O. Bodi, F. Ekström, P. Halder, S. Jeschke, B. Mack, M. Qu, L. Rosentrater, A. Sandve, I. Sælensminde, R. E. O'Connor, G. Böhm, D. Hanss, O. Bodi, F. Ekström, P. Halder, S. Jeschke, B. Mack, M. Qu, L. Rosentrater, A. Sandve, I. Sælensminde, R. E. O'Connor, G. Böhm, D. Hanss, O. Bodi, F. Ekström, P. Halder, S. Jeschke, B. Mack, M. Qu, L. Rosentrater, A. Sandve, I. Sælensminde, R. E. O'Connor, G. Böhm, D. Hanss, O. Bodi, F. Ekström, P. Halder, S. Jeschke, B. Mack, M. Qu, L. Rosentrater, A. Sandve, and I. Sælensminde. Causal thinking and support for climate change policies: International survey findings. *Global Environmental Change*, 22(1):210–222, 2012.
- [21] L. Bretschger and L. Zhang. Nuclear phase-out under stringent climate policies: A dynamic macroeconomic analysis. *The Energy Journal*, 38, 2016.
- [22] N. J. Brookes and G. Locatelli. Power plants as megaprojects: Using empirics to shape policy, planning, and construction management. *Utilities Policy*, 36:57 – 66, 2015.
- [23] T. Bruckner, I. Bashmakov, Y. Mulugetta, H. Chum, A. D. la Vega Navarro,J. Edmonds, A. Faaij, B. Fungtammasan, A. Garg, E. Hertwich, D. Honnery,D. Infield, M. Kainuma, S. Khennas, S. Kim, H. Nimir, K. Riahi, N. Strachan,

R. Wiser, and X. Zhang. Chapter 7 - energy systems. In *Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change. IPCC Working Group III Contribution to AR5.* Cambridge University Press, November 2014.

- [24] K. Calvin, B. Bond-Lamberty, L. Clarke, J. J. Edmonds, J. Eom, C. Hartin, S. Kim, P. Kyle, R. Link, R. Moss, H. C. McJeon, P. Patel, S. J. Smith, S. Waldhoff, and M. Wise. The SSP4: A world of deepening inequality. *Global Environmental Change*, 42:284–296, 2017.
- [25] D. Campbell. What does the Paris Agreement actually do? Energy & Environment, 27(8):883–895, 2016.
- [26] Canada Energy Research Institute. The Canadian Nuclear Industry: Contributions to the Canadian Economy. https://www.world-nuclear.org/ getattachment/Information-Library/Country-Profiles/ countries-A-F/Canada-Nuclear-Power/CERI\_ ContributionsJune2008.pdf.aspx.
- [27] C. Cany, C. Mansilla, G. Mathonnière, and P. da Costa. Nuclear power supply: Going against the misconceptions. Evidence of nuclear flexibility from the French experience. *Energy*, 151:289–296, 2018.
- [28] S. Capstick, I. Lorenzoni, A. Corner, and L. Whitmarsh. Prospects for radical emissions reduction through behavior and lifestyle change, 2014.
- [29] S. Capstick, L. Whitmarsh, W. Poortinga, N. F. Pidgeon, and P. Upham. International trends in public perceptions of climate change over the past quarter century. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change*, 2015.
- [30] D. G. Carrera and A. Mack. Sustainability assessment of energy technologies via social indicators: Results of a survey among european energy experts. *Energy Policy*, 38(2):1030 – 1039, 2010.
- [31] J. M. Chambers, A. Freeny, and R. M. Heiberger. Statistical Models in S, chapter Analysis of variance; designed experiments. Wadsworth & Brooks/-Cole, 1992.

- [32] Y.-H. H. Chen, S. Paltsev, J. M. Reilly, J. F. Morris, and M. H. Babiker. Longterm economic modeling for climate change assessment. *Economic Modelling*, 52:867 – 883, 2016.
- [33] A. Cherp, V. Vinichenko, J. Jewell, E. Brutschin, and B. Sovacool. Integrating techno-economic, socio-technical and political perspectives on national energy transitions: A meta-theoretical framework. *Energy Research and Social Science*, 37(September):175–190, 2018.
- [34] S. Clayton, P. Devine-Wright, P. C. Stern, L. Whitmarsh, A. Carrico, L. Steg, J. Swim, M. Bonnes, A. Carrico, J. Swim, M. Bonnes, P. Devine-Wright, P. C. Stern, and L. Whitmarsh. Psychological research and global climate change. *Nature Climate Change*, 5(7):640–646, jun 2015.
- [35] P. Criqui, S. Mima, P. Menanteau, and A. Kitous. Mitigation strategies and energy technology learning: An assessment with the POLES model. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 90(PA):119–136, 2015.
- [36] V. Daioglou, B. J. van Ruijven, and D. P. van Vuuren. Model projections for household energy use in developing countries. *Energy*, 37(1):601–615, 2012.
- [37] E. De Cian, S. Carrara, and M. Tavoni. Innovation benefits from nuclear phaseout: can they compensate the costs? *Climatic Change*, 123(3):637–650, Apr 2014.
- [38] E. De Cian, F. Sferra, and M. Tavoni. The influence of economic growth, population, and fossil fuel scarcity on energy investments. *Climatic Change*, 136(1):39–55, May 2016.
- [39] J. I. M. De Groot and L. Steg. Relationships between value orientations, selfdetermined motivational types and pro-environmental behavioural intentions. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 30(4):368–378, 2010.
- [40] S. Deetman, A. F. Hof, and D. P. van Vuuren. Deep CO2 emission reductions in a global bottom-up model approach. *Climate Policy*, 15(2):253–271, 2015.
- [41] R. Dellink, J. Chateau, E. Lanzi, and B. Magné. Long-term economic growth projections in the Shared Socioeconomic Pathways. *Global Environmental Change*, 42:200–214, 2017.

- [42] M. den Elzen, T. Kuramochi, N. Höhne, J. Cantzler, K. Esmeijer, H. Fekete, T. Fransen, K. Keramidas, M. Roelfsema, F. Sha, H. van Soest, and T. Vandyck. Are the G20 economies making enough progress to meet their NDC targets? *Energy Policy*, 126:238 – 250, 2019.
- [43] O. Y. Edelenbosch, K. Kermeli, W. Crijns-Graus, E. Worrell, R. Bibas, B. Fais, S. Fujimori, P. Kyle, F. Sano, and D. P. Van Vuuren. Comparing projections of industrial energy demand and greenhouse gas emissions in long-term energy models. *Energy*, 122:701–710, 2017.
- [44] J. A. Edmonds, J. Clarke, J. Dooley, S. H. Kim, and S. J. Smith. Modeling greenhouse gas energy technology responses to climate change. *Energy*, 29(9):1529 – 1536, 2004. 6th International Conference on Greenhouse Gas Control Technologies.
- [45] S. Erdoğan, A. Gedikli, and S. Yılmaz Genç. An Overview of Turkey's National Energy Policies. 2018.
- [46] A. Eren. Transformation of the water-energy nexus in Turkey: Reimagining hydroelectricity infrastructure. *Energy Research and Social Science*, 41(April):22–31, 2018.
- [47] European Bank for Reconstruction and Development. National Renewable Energy Action Plan of Turkey (in Turkish). https://www.ebrd.com/documents/admin/ trkye-ulusal-yenleneblr-enerj-eylem-plani.pdf.
- [48] M. Fay, M. Poblete-Cazenave, E. Kriegler, J. Després, S. Pachauri, K. Riahi, D. Huppmann, S. Fujimori, S. Busch, N. Rao, D. L. McCollum, A. Schmitz, S. Parkinson, C. Nicolas, H.-S. de Boer, J. Emmerling, G. Iyer, L. Drouet, W. Zhou, M. Harmsen, O. Fricko, C. Bertram, M. Gidden, V. Krey, D. van Vuuren, W. Schoepp, V. Bosetti, J. Rozenberg, P. Rafaj, D. L. McCollum, W. Zhou, C. Bertram, H.-S. de Boer, V. Bosetti, S. Busch, J. Després, L. Drouet, J. Emmerling, M. Fay, O. Fricko, S. Fujimori, M. Gidden, J. H. M. Harmsen, D. Huppmann, G. Iyer, V. Krey, E. Kriegler, C. Nicolas, K. Riahi, K. R. McCollum, David L., Wenji Zhou, Christoph Bertram, Harmen-

Sytze de Boer, Valentina Bosetti, Sebastian Busch, Jacques Després, Laurent Drouet, Johannes Emmerling, Marianne Fay, Oliver Fricko, Shinichiro Fujimori, Matthew Gidden, Mathijs Harmsen, Daniel Hup, D. L. McCollum, W. Zhou, C. Bertram, H.-S. de Boer, V. Bosetti, S. Busch, J. Després, L. Drouet, J. Emmerling, M. Fay, O. Fricko, S. Fujimori, M. Gidden, M. Harmsen, D. Huppmann, G. Iyer, V. Krey, E. Kriegler, C. Nicolas, S. Pachauri, S. Parkinson, M. Poblete-Cazenave, P. Rafaj, N. Rao, J. Rozenberg, A. Schmitz, W. Schoepp, D. van Vuuren, and K. Riahi. Energy investment needs for fulfilling the Paris Agreement and achieving the Sustainable Development Goals. *Nature Energy*, 3(7):589–599, 2018.

- [49] O. Fricko, P. Havlik, J. Rogelj, Z. Klimont, M. Gusti, N. Johnson, P. Kolp, M. Strubegger, H. Valin, M. Amann, T. Ermolieva, N. Forsell, M. Herrero, C. Heyes, G. Kindermann, V. Krey, D. L. McCollum, M. Obersteiner, S. Pachauri, S. Rao, E. Schmid, W. Schoepp, and K. Riahi. The marker quantification of the Shared Socioeconomic Pathway 2: A middle-of-the-road scenario for the 21st century. *Global Environmental Change*, 42:251–267, 2017.
- [50] S. Fujimori, T. Hasegawa, T. Masui, K. Takahashi, D. S. Herran, H. Dai, Y. Hijioka, and M. Kainuma. SSP3: AIM implementation of Shared Socioeconomic Pathways. *Global Environmental Change*, 42:268–283, 2017.
- [51] T. Gelo. Extended input output model for nuclear power plant impact assessment. 01 2017.
- [52] M. J. Gidden, K. Riahi, S. J. Smith, S. Fujimori, G. Luderer, E. Kriegler, D. P. Van Vuuren, M. Van Den Berg, L. Feng, D. Klein, K. Calvin, J. C. J. C. Doelman, S. Frank, O. Fricko, M. Harmsen, T. Hasegawa, P. Havlik, J. Hilaire, R. Hoesly, J. Horing, A. Popp, E. Stehfest, and K. K. Takahashi. Global emissions pathways under different socioeconomic scenarios for use in CMIP6: a dataset of harmonized emissions trajectories through the end of the century. *Geoscientific Model Development Discussions*, 12:1–42, nov 2018.
- [53] GNU Project. GLPK (GNU Linear Programming Kit). https://www. gnu.org/software/glpk/.

- [54] L. Goulder and A. Schein. Carbon taxes versus cap and trade: A critical review. *Climate Change Economics*, 04, 11 2013.
- [55] A. Gravelsins, D. Blumberga, S. Bolwig, G. Bazbauers, A. Blumberga, A. Klitkou, and P. D. Lund. Review of modelling energy transitions pathways with application to energy system flexibility. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 101:440–452, 2018.
- [56] A. Gritsevskyi and N. Nakićenovi. Modeling uncertainty of induced technological change. *Energy Policy*, 28(13):907–921, 2000.
- [57] A. Gritsevskyi and L. Schrattenholzer. Costs of reducing carbon emissions: An integrated modeling framework approach. *Climatic Change*, 56:167–184, 01 2003.
- [58] M. Grubb, J. Köhler, and D. Anderson. Induced Technical Change in Energy and Environmental Modeling: Analytic Approaches and Policy Implications. 2011.
- [59] A. Grübler, M. Jefferson, and N. Nakićenović. Global energy perspectives: A summary of the joint study by the international institute for applied systems analysis and world energy council. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 51(3):237–263, mar 1996.
- [60] A. Grubler, T. Johansson, L. Muncada, N. Nakicenovic, S. Pachauri, K. Riahi, H.-H. Rogner, and L. Strupeit. Chapter 1: Energy primer. In G. W. Team, editor, *Global Energy Assessment: Toward a Sustainable Future*. Cambridge University Press and IIASA, pp.99-150 (October 2012), October 2012.
- [61] A. Grubler, C. Wilson, N. Bento, B. Boza-Kiss, V. Krey, D. L. McCollum, N. D. Rao, K. Riahi, J. Rogelj, S. D. Stercke, J. Cullen, S. Frank, O. Fricko, F. Guo, M. Gidden, P. Havlik, D. Huppmann, G. Kiesewetter, P. Rafaj, W. Schoepp, H. Valin, S. De Stercke, J. Cullen, S. Frank, O. Fricko, F. Guo, M. Gidden, P. Havlik, D. Huppmann, G. Kiesewetter, P. Rafaj, W. Schoepp, H. Valin, P. Havlik, D. Huppmann, G. Kiesewetter, P. Rafaj, W. Schoepp, and H. Valin, A low energy demand scenario for meeting the 1.5 °c target and sus-

tainable development goals without negative emission technologies. *Nature Energy*, 3(6):515–527, 2018.

- [62] G. Güngör. Expert elicitation for the role of nuclear energy in Turkey's climate change mitigation strategy. *Mendeley Data*, v1, 2019.
- [63] G. Gungor and R. Sari. Turkey's energy system development: linking an energy supply model with an industrial simulation model and solving it iteratively. *International Journal of Innovation and Sustainable Development*, 12(1-2):44–66, 2018.
- [64] F. Halicioglu and C. Karatas. A social discount rate for Turkey. *Quality & Quantity*, 47(2):1085–1091, feb 2013.
- [65] S.-Y. Han, S.-H. Yoo, and S.-J. Kwak. The role of the four electric power sectors in the Korean national economy: an input–output analysis. *Energy Policy*, 32(13):1531–1543, 2004.
- [66] M. J. H. M. Harmsen, M. van den Berg, V. Krey, G. Luderer, A. Marcucci, J. Strefler, D. P. V. Vuuren, and D. P. Van Vuuren. How climate metrics affect global mitigation strategies and costs: a multi-model study. *Climatic Change*, 136(2):203–216, may 2016.
- [67] A. F. Hof, K. C. de Bruin, R. B. Dellink, M. G. J. den Elzen, and D. P. van Vuuren. The effect of different mitigation strategies on international financing of adaptation. *Environmental Science and Policy*, 12(7):832–843, 2009.
- [68] A. F. Hof and M. G. Den Elzen. The effect of different historical emissions datasets on emission targets of the sectoral mitigation approach Triptych. *Climate Policy*, 10(6):684–704, 2010.
- [69] A. F. Hof, M. G. den Elzen, A. Admiraal, M. Roelfsema, D. E. Gernaat, and D. P. van Vuuren. Global and regional abatement costs of Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) and of enhanced action to levels well below 2 °C and 1.5 °C. *Environmental Science and Policy*, 71:30–40, 2017.
- [70] A. F. Hof, M. G. den Elzen, and D. P. Van Vuuren. Analysing the costs and benefits of climate policy: Value judgements and scientific uncertainties. *Global Environmental Change*, 18(3):412–424, aug 2008.

- [71] N. Höhne, H. Fekete, M. G. den Elzen, A. F. Hof, and T. Kuramochi. Assessing the ambition of post-2020 climate targets: a comprehensive framework. *Climate Policy*, 18(4):425–441, 2018.
- [72] S. Hong, C. J. Bradshaw, and B. W. Brook. Global zero-carbon energy pathways using viable mixes of nuclear and renewables. *Applied Energy*, 143:451 – 459, 2015.
- [73] M. Howells, K. Jeong, L. Langlois, M. Lee, K.-Y. Nam, and H. Rogner. Incorporating macroeconomic feedback into an energy systems model using an io approach: Evaluating the rebound effect in the korean electricity system. *Energy Policy*, 38:2700–2728, 06 2010.
- [74] IAEA. Assessments of the Potential Role of Nuclear Energy in National Climate Change Mitigation Strategies. https://www.iaea.org/ projects/crp/i12006.
- [75] IAEA. Country Nuclear Power Profiles: Turkey (Updated 2019). https: //cnpp.iaea.org/countryprofiles/Turkey/Turkey.htm.
- [76] IAEA. IAEA Tools and Methodologies for Energy System Planning and Nuclear Energy System Assessments. https://www.iaea.org/ sites/default/files/INPROPESS-brochure.pdf.
- [77] IAEA. Modelling Nuclear Energy Systems with MESSAGE: A User's Guide. Number NG-T-5.2 in IAEA Nuclear Energy Series. IAEA, Vienna, 2016.
- [78] IEA. Energy Policies of IEA Countries: Turkey 2016. 2016.
- [79] IEA. Energy Policies of IEA Countries: Turkey 2016, chapter 7, pages 103– 106. 2016.
- [80] IIASA. RCP Database (version 2.0). http://www.iiasa.ac.at/ web-apps/tnt/RcpDb.
- [81] IIASA. Global Energy Assessment Toward a Sustainable Future. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA and the International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis, Laxenburg, Austria, 2012.

- [82] IIASA. *Global Energy Assessment Toward a Sustainable Future*, chapter Technical Summary. 2012.
- [83] IIASA. SSP Public Database (Version 1.1). https://tntcat.iiasa. ac.at/SspDb, December 2018.
- [84] IPCC. Climate Change 2013 The Physical Science Basis: Working Group I Contribution to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, 2014.
- [85] M. Isaac and D. P. Van Vuuren. Modeling global residential sector energy demand for heating and air conditioning in the context of climate change. *Energy Policy*, 2009.
- [86] G. C. Iyer, L. E. Clarke, J. A. Edmonds, N. E. Hultman, and H. C. McJeon. Long-term payoffs of near-term low-carbon deployment policies. *Energy Policy*, 86:493–505, 2015.
- [87] J. Jenkins, Z. Zhou, R. Ponciroli, R. Vilim, F. Ganda, F. de Sisternes, and A. Botterud. The benefits of nuclear flexibility in power system operations with renewable energy. *Applied Energy*, 222:872 – 884, 2018.
- [88] J. Jewell and A. Cherp. On the political feasibility of climate change mitigation pathways: Is it too late to keep warming below 1.5°C? 11(1), 2020.
- [89] J. Jewell, A. Cherp, and K. Riahi. Energy security under de-carbonization scenarios: An assessment framework and evaluation under different technology and policy choices. *Energy Policy*, 65:743–760, 2014.
- [90] C. D. Jones, P. Ciais, S. J. Davis, P. Friedlingstein, T. Gasser, G. P. Peters, J. Rogelj, D. P. Van Vuuren, J. G. Canadell, A. Cowie, R. B. Jackson, M. Jonas, E. Kriegler, E. Littleton, J. A. Lowe, J. Milne, G. Shrestha, P. Smith, A. Torvanger, and A. Wiltshire. Simulating the Earth system response to negative emissions. *Environmental Research Letters*, 11(9):1–11, 2016.
- [91] P. L. Joskow and J. E. Parsons. The Future of Nuclear Power After Fukushima. Economics of Energy & Environmental Policy, 1(2):99–114, 2012.

- [92] A. B. Karaveli, U. Soytas, and B. G. Akinoglu. Comparison of large scale solar PV (photovoltaic) and nuclear power plant investments in an emerging market. *Energy*, 84:656–665, 2015.
- [93] A. B. Karaveli, U. Soytas, and B. G. Akinoglu. The role of legislations and incentives in the growth of a pv market in a developing country. 2017 International Renewable and Sustainable Energy Conference (IRSEC), Renewable and Sustainable Energy Conference (IRSEC), 2017 Internationall, pages 1 – 6, 2017.
- [94] B. Kat. Mathematical Modeling for Energy Policy Analysis. Master's thesis, METU, 2011.
- [95] B. Kat, S. Paltsev, and M. Yuan. Turkish energy sector development and the Paris Agreement goals: A CGE model assessment. *Energy Policy*, 122(July):84–96, 2018.
- [96] G. Klaassen and K. Riahi. Internalizing externalities of electricity generation: An analysis with MESSAGE-MACRO. *Energy Policy*, 35(2):815–827, 2007.
- [97] R. Kline, N. Seltzer, E. Lukinova, and A. Bynum. Differentiated responsibilities and prosocial behaviour in climate change mitigation. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 2(9):653–661, 2018.
- [98] A. Knol, P. Slottje, J. Sluijs, and E. Lebret. The use of expert elicitation in environmental impact assessment: A seven step procedure. *Environmental health : a global access science source*, 9:19, 04 2010.
- [99] L. R. Kosnik. Cap-and-trade versus carbon taxes: which market mechanism gets the most attention? *Climatic Change*, 151(3-4):605–618, 2018.
- [100] V. Krey, F. Guo, P. Kolp, W. Zhou, R. Schaeffer, A. Awasthy, C. Bertram, H. S. de Boer, P. Fragkos, S. Fujimori, C. He, G. Iyer, K. Keramidas, A. C. Köberle, K. Oshiro, L. A. Reis, B. Shoai-Tehrani, S. Vishwanathan, P. Capros, L. Drouet, J. E. Edmonds, A. Garg, D. E. Gernaat, K. Jiang, M. Kannavou, A. Kitous, E. Kriegler, G. Luderer, R. Mathur, M. Muratori, F. Sano, and D. P. van Vuuren. Looking under the hood: A comparison of techno-economic as-
sumptions across national and global integrated assessment models. *Energy*, 172:1254–1267, 2019.

- [101] E. Kriegler, N. Bauer, A. Popp, F. Humpenöder, M. Leimbach, J. Strefler, L. Baumstark, B. L. Bodirsky, J. Hilaire, D. Klein, I. Mouratiadou, I. Weindl, C. Bertram, J. P. Dietrich, G. Luderer, M. Pehl, R. C. Pietzcker, F. Piontek, H. Lotze-Campen, A. Biewald, M. Bonsch, A. Giannousakis, U. Kreidenweis, C. Müller, S. Rolinski, A. Schultes, J. Schwanitz, M. Stevanovic, K. Calvin, J. Emmerling, S. Fujimori, and O. Edenhofer. Fossil-fueled development (SSP5): An energy and resource intensive scenario for the 21st century. *Global Environmental Change*, 42:297–315, 2017.
- [102] J. R. Lamarsh and A. J. Baratta. *Introduction to nuclear engineering*. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, N.J. :, 3rd ed. edition, c2014.
- [103] F. Lange, A. Steinke, and S. Dewitte. The Pro-Environmental Behavior Task: A laboratory measure of actual pro-environmental behavior. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 56:46–54, apr 2018.
- [104] Y. Le Page, G. Hurtt, A. M. Thomson, B. Bond-Lamberty, P. Patel, M. Wise, K. Calvin, P. Kyle, L. Clarke, J. Edmonds, and A. Janetos. Sensitivity of climate mitigation strategies to natural disturbances. *Environmental Research Letters*, 8(1), 2013.
- [105] M. Lehtveer, M. Makowski, F. Hedenus, D. McCollum, and M. Strubegger. Multi-criteria analysis of nuclear power in the global energy system: Assessing trade-offs between simultaneously attainable economic, environmental and social goals. *Energy Strategy Reviews*, 8:45 – 55, 2015.
- [106] B. D. Leibowicz, V. Krey, and A. Grubler. Representing spatial technology diffusion in an energy system optimization model, feb 2016.
- [107] T. Levin and V. Thomas. Can developing countries leapfrog the centralized electrification paradigm? *Energy for Sustainable Development*, 31:97–107, 04 2016.
- [108] S. Y. Liao, W. C. Tseng, and C. C. Chen. Eliciting public preference for nuclear

energy against the backdrop of global warming. *Energy Policy*, 38(11):7054–7069, nov 2010.

- [109] W. Lise. Towards a higher share of distributed generation in Turkey. *Energy Policy*, 37(11):4320–4328, 2009.
- [110] W. Lise and J. van der Laan. Investment needs for climate change adaptation measures of electricity power plants in the EU. *Energy for Sustainable Development*, 28(April 2014):10–20, 2015.
- [111] J. R. Lovering, A. Yip, and T. Nordhaus. Historical construction costs of global nuclear power reactors. *Energy Policy*, 91:371 – 382, 2016.
- [112] A. Marcucci, S. Kypreos, and E. Panos. The road to achieving the long-term Paris targets: energy transition and the role of direct air capture. *Climatic Change*, 144(2):181–193, sep 2017.
- [113] E. Masanet, Y. Chang, A. Gopal, P. Larsen, W. R. Morrow, R. Sathre, A. Shehabi, and P. Zhai. Life-Cycle Assessment of Electric Power Systems. 2013.
- [114] D. McCollum, V. Krey, P. Kolp, Y. Nagai, and K. Riahi. Transport electrification: A key element for energy system transformation and climate stabilization. *Climatic Change*, 123(3-4):651–664, apr 2014.
- [115] D. L. McCollum, V. Krey, K. Riahi, P. Kolp, A. Grubler, M. Makowski, and N. Nakicenovic. Climate policies can help resolve energy security and air pollution challenges. *Climatic Change*, 119(2):479–494, 2013.
- [116] M. Meinshausen, S. C. B. Raper, and T. M. L. Wigley. Emulating coupled atmosphere-ocean and carbon cycle models with a simpler model, MAGICC6
  Part 1: Model description and calibration. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 11(4):1417–1456, 2011.
- [117] M. Meinshausen, S. J. Smith, K. Calvin, J. S. Daniel, M. L. T. Kainuma, J.-F. Lamarque, K. Matsumoto, S. A. Montzka, S. C. B. Raper, K. Riahi, A. Thomson, G. J. M. Velders, and D. P. van Vuuren. The RCP greenhouse gas concentrations and their extensions from 1765 to 2300. *Climatic Change*, 109(1):213, Aug 2011.

- [118] J. F. Mercure, H. Pollitt, U. Chewpreecha, P. Salas, A. M. Foley, P. B. Holden, and N. R. Edwards. The dynamics of technology diffusion and the impacts of climate policy instruments in the decarbonisation of the global electricity sector. *Energy Policy*, 73(September 2013):686–700, 2014.
- [119] K. Michaelowa and A. Michaelowa. Transnational climate governance initiatives: Designed for effective climate change mitigation? *International Interactions*, 43(1):129–155, 2017.
- [120] A. I. Miller, S. Suppiah, and R. B. Duffey. Climate change gains more from nuclear substitution than from conservation. *Nuclear Engineering and Design*, 236(14):1657 – 1667, 2006. 13th International Conference on Nuclear Energy.
- [121] Ministry of Energy and Natural Resources of the Republic of Turkey. Balance Sheets. http://www.eigm.gov.tr/en-US/Balance-Sheets.
- [122] Ministry of Energy and Natural Resources of the Republic of Turkey. Turkey Energy Statistics Report 2013. http://www.enerji.gov.tr/File/ ?path=ROOT/1/Documents/EİGM%20Periyodik%20Rapor/ 2013\_Yili\_Enerji\_Istatistikleri\_Raporu.pdf.
- [123] R. H. Moss, J. A. Edmonds, K. A. Hibbard, M. R. Manning, S. K. Rose, D. P. van Vuuren, T. R. Carter, S. Emori, M. Kainuma, T. Kram, G. A. Meehl, J. F. B. Mitchell, N. Nakicenovic, K. Riahi, S. J. Smith, R. J. Stouffer, A. M. Thomson, J. P. Weyant, and T. J. Wilbanks. The next generation of scenarios for climate change research and assessment. *Nature*, 463(7282):747–756, 2010.
- [124] I. Mouratiadou, A. Biewald, M. Pehl, M. Bonsch, L. Baumstark, D. Klein, A. Popp, G. Luderer, and E. Kriegler. The impact of climate change mitigation on water demand for energy and food: An integrated analysis based on the Shared Socioeconomic Pathways. *Environmental Science and Policy*, 64:48– 58, oct 2016.
- [125] B. Murray, P. Maniloff, and E. Murray. Why have greenhouse emissions in rggi states declined? an econometric attribution to economic, energy market, and policy factors. SSRN Electronic Journal, 51, 01 2014.

- [126] T. Nakata, D. Silva, and M. Rodionov. Application of energy system models for designing a low-carbon society, aug 2011.
- [127] N. Nakicenovic and R. Swart. Emissions scenarios special report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change, Jul 2000.
- [128] NEA and IAEA. Uranium 2018. 2019.
- [129] NEI. The Impact of Exelon's Nuclear Fleet on the Illinois Economy. https://www.nei.org/CorporateSite/ media/filefolder/resources/reports-and-briefs/ impact-exelon-nuclear-fleet-illinois-economy-201410. pdf.
- [130] E. H. Noppers, K. Keizer, J. W. Bolderdijk, and L. Steg. The adoption of sustainable innovations: Driven by symbolic and environmental motives. *Global Environmental Change*, 25(1):52–62, 2014.
- [131] W. Nordhaus. A review of the stern review on the economics of climate change. *Journal of Economic Literature*, 45:686–702, 02 2007.
- [132] NSG. NSG Part 1 Guidelines June 2019. http://
  nuclearsuppliersgroup.org/images//2019NSG\_Part\_1.
  pdf.
- [133] Official Gazette of the Reoublic of Turkey. Intergovernmental Agreement between Republic of Turkey and Russian Federation for Cooperation on Construction and Operation of a NPP on Akkuyu site in Republic of Turkey. https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2010/ 10/20101006-6.htm.
- [134] B. C. O'Neill, E. Kriegler, K. L. Ebi, E. Kemp-Benedict, K. Riahi, D. S. Rothman, B. J. van Ruijven, D. P. van Vuuren, J. Birkmann, K. Kok, M. Levy, and W. Solecki. The roads ahead: Narratives for shared socioeconomic pathways describing world futures in the 21st century. *Global Environmental Change*, 42:169 – 180, 2017.
- [135] O. Onenli. Emission Reductions and Future of Energy Policies in Turkey. Are Renewables an Alternative? Master's thesis, METU, 2011.

- [136] B. Önol and Y. S. Unal. Assessment of climate change simulations over climate zones of Turkey. *Regional Environmental Change*, 14(5):1921–1935, Oct 2014.
- [137] F. C. Pampel. Support for nuclear energy in the context of climate change: Evidence from the European Union. *Organization and Environment*, 24(3):249– 268, 2011.
- [138] H. Pan and J. Köhler. Technological change in energy systems: Learning curves, logistic curves and input-output coefficients. *Ecological Economics*, 2007.
- [139] S. C. Parkinson, M. Makowski, V. Krey, K. Sedraoui, A. H. Almasoud, and N. Djilali. A multi-criteria model analysis framework for assessing integrated water-energy system transformation pathways. *Applied Energy*, 210:477–486, 2018.
- [140] G. Perlaviciute and L. Steg. Contextual and psychological factors shaping evaluations and acceptability of energy alternatives: Integrated review and research agenda. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 35:361–381, 2014.
- [141] G. Perlaviciute and L. Steg. The influence of values on evaluations of energy alternatives. *Renewable Energy*, 77:259–267, 2015.
- [142] S. Pfenninger, A. Hawkes, and J. Keirstead. Energy systems modeling for twenty-first century energy challenges, 2014.
- [143] N. F. Pidgeon, I. Lorenzoni, and W. Poortinga. Climate change or nuclear power-No thanks! A quantitative study of public perceptions and risk framing in Britain. *Global Environmental Change*, 18(1):69–85, 2008.
- [144] R. S. Pindyck. Climate change policy: What do the models tell us? *Journal of Economic Literature*, 51(3):860–72, September 2013.
- [145] PM Group. Technical Assistance for Improving Emissions Control. https://webdosya.csb.gov.tr/db/necen/editordosya/ file/NEC/TA\_Project/Final\_Report\_Part\_2\_Eng.pdf.

- [146] W. Poortinga, L. Steg, and C. Vlek. Values, environmental concern, and environmental behavior: A study into household energy use. *Environment and Behavior*, 36(1):70–93, jan 2004.
- [147] A. Popp, K. Calvin, S. Fujimori, P. Havlik, F. Humpenöder, E. Stehfest, B. L. Bodirsky, J. P. Dietrich, J. C. Doelmann, M. Gusti, T. Hasegawa, P. Kyle, M. Obersteiner, A. Tabeau, K. Takahashi, H. Valin, S. Waldhoff, I. Weindl, M. Wise, E. Kriegler, H. Lotze-Campen, O. Fricko, K. Riahi, and D. P. Vuuren. Land-use futures in the shared socio-economic pathways. *Global Environmental Change*, 42:331–345, 2017.
- [148] G. Prati, L. Pietrantoni, and C. Albanesi. Human values and beliefs and concern about climate change: a Bayesian longitudinal analysis. *Quality and Quantity*, 52(4):1613–1625, 2018.
- [149] Republic of Turkey. Intended Nationally Determined Contribution. https://www4.unfccc.int/sites/submissions/INDC/ Published%20Documents/Turkey/1/The\_INDC\_of\_TURKEY\_v. 15.19.30.pdf.
- [150] W. Revelle. Hierarchical cluster analysis and the internal structure of tests. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, 14(1):57–74, 1979. PMID: 26766619.
- [151] K. Riahi, P. Havlik, D. Bernie, L. Drouet, T. Napp, A. Gambhir, O. Fricko,
   D. McCollum, V. Bosetti, A. Hawkes, and J. Lowe. Assessing the Feasibility of Global Long-Term Mitigation Scenarios. *Energies*, 10(1):89, 2017.
- [152] K. Riahi, S. Rao, V. Krey, C. Cho, V. Chirkov, G. Fischer, G. Kindermann, N. Nakicenovic, and P. Rafaj. RCP 8.5-A scenario of comparatively high greenhouse gas emissions. *Climatic Change*, 109(1):33–57, 2011.
- [153] K. Riahi, D. P. van Vuuren, E. Kriegler, J. Edmonds, B. C. O'Neill, S. Fujimori, N. Bauer, K. Calvin, R. Dellink, O. Fricko, W. Lutz, A. Popp, J. C. Cuaresma, S. KC, M. Leimbach, L. Jiang, T. Kram, S. Rao, J. Emmerling, K. Ebi, T. Hasegawa, P. Havlik, F. Humpenöder, L. A. Da Silva, S. Smith, E. Stehfest, V. Bosetti, J. Eom, D. Gernaat, T. Masui, J. Rogelj, J. Strefler, L. Drouet, V. Krey, G. Luderer, M. Harmsen, K. Takahashi, L. Baumstark,

J. C. Doelman, M. Kainuma, Z. Klimont, G. Marangoni, H. Lotze-Campen, M. Obersteiner, A. Tabeau, M. Tavoni, B. C. O'Neill, S. Fujimori, N. Bauer, K. Calvin, R. Dellink, O. Fricko, W. Lutz, A. Popp, J. C. Cuaresma, S. KC, M. Leimbach, L. Jiang, T. Kram, S. Rao, J. Emmerling, K. Ebi, T. Hasegawa, P. Havlik, F. Humpenöder, L. A. D. Silva, S. Smith, E. Stehfest, V. Bosetti, J. Eom, D. Gernaat, T. Masui, J. Rogelj, J. Strefler, L. Drouet, V. Krey, G. Luderer, M. Harmsen, K. Takahashi, L. Baumstark, J. C. Doelman, M. Kainuma, Z. Klimont, G. Marangoni, H. Lotze-Campen, M. Obersteiner, A. Tabeau, and M. Tavoni. The Shared Socioeconomic Pathways and their energy, land use, and greenhouse gas emissions implications: An overview. *Global Environmental Change*, 42:153–168, 2017.

- [154] K. Ricke, L. Drouet, K. Caldeira, and M. Tavoni. Country-level social cost of carbon. *Nature Climate Change*, 8(10):895–900, oct 2018.
- [155] H. K. Ringkjøb, P. M. Haugan, and I. M. Solbrekke. A review of modelling tools for energy and electricity systems with large shares of variable renewables. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 96(July):440–459, 2018.
- [156] M. Roelfsema, M. den Elzen, N. Höhne, A. F. Hof, N. Braun, H. Fekete, H. Böttcher, R. Brandsma, and J. Larkin. Are major economies on track to achieve their pledges for 2020? An assessment of domestic climate and energy policies. *Energy Policy*, 67:781–796, 2014.
- [157] J. Rogelj, O. Fricko, M. Meinshausen, V. Krey, J. J. Zilliacus, and K. Riahi. Understanding the origin of Paris Agreement emission uncertainties. *Nature Communications*, 8:1–12, 2017.
- [158] M. Rogner and K. Riahi. Future nuclear perspectives based on MESSAGE integrated assessment modeling. *Energy Strategy Reviews*, 1(4):223–232, 2013.
- [159] S. Roth, S. Hirschberg, C. Bauer, P. Burgherr, R. Dones, T. Heck, and W. Schenler. Sustainability of electricity supply technology portfolio. *Annals* of Nuclear Energy, 36(3):409 – 416, 2009. PHYSOR 2008.
- [160] R. Rousseau, L. Egghe, and R. Guns. Chapter 4 statistics. In R. Rousseau,

L. Egghe, and R. Guns, editors, *Becoming Metric-Wise*, Chandos Information Professional Series, pages 67 – 97. Chandos Publishing, 2018.

- [161] T. Sainati, G. Locatelli, and N. Brookes. Small Modular Reactors: Licensing constraints and the way forward. *Energy*, 82:1092 – 1095, 2015.
- [162] N. Schenk and S. Lensink. Communicating uncertainty in the IPCC's greenhouse gas emissions scenarios. *Climatic Change*, 82:293–308, 04 2007.
- [163] D. Schimel, K. Hibbard, D. Costa, P. Cox, and S. van der Leeuw. Analysis, Integration and Modeling of the Earth System (AIMES): Advancing the postdisciplinary understanding of coupled human–environment dynamics in the Anthropocene. *Anthropocene*, 12:99 – 106, 2015.
- [164] S. I. Seneviratne, R. Wartenburger, B. P. Guillod, A. L. Hirsch, M. M. Vogel, V. Brovkin, D. P. Van Vuuren, N. Schaller, L. Boysen, K. Calvin, J. Doelman, P. Greve, P. Havlik, F. Humpenöder, T. Krisztin, D. Mitchell, A. Popp, K. Riahi, J. Rogelj, C.-F. Schleussner, J. Sillmann, and E. Stehfest. Climate extremes, land climate feedbacks and land-use forcing at 1.5 °C. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences*, 376(2119), 2018.
- [165] K. Shrader-Frechette. Climate Change, Nuclear Economics, and Conflicts of Interest. Science and Engineering Ethics, 17(1):75–107, 2011.
- [166] B. K. Sovacool, J. Axsen, and S. Sorrell. Promoting novelty, rigor, and style in energy social science: Towards codes of practice for appropriate methods and research design, 2018.
- [167] D. Süsser and A. Kannen. 'renewables? yes, please!': perceptions and assessment of community transition induced by renewable-energy projects in north frisia. *Sustainability Science*, 12, 04 2017.
- [168] P. Sullivan, V. Krey, and K. Riahi. Impacts of considering electric sector variability and reliability in the MESSAGE model. *Energy Strategy Reviews*, 1(3):157–163, 2013.

- [169] J. K. Swim, S. Clayton, and G. S. Howard. Human Behavioral Contributions to Climate Change: Psychological and Contextual Drivers. *American Psychol*ogist, 66(4):251–264, 2011.
- [170] J. Symons. Realist climate ethics: Promoting climate ambition within the Classical Realist tradition. *Review of International Studies*, 45(1):141–160, 2019.
- [171] M. Tavoni, E. Kriegler, K. Riahi, D. P. Van Vuuren, T. Aboumahboub,
  A. Bowen, K. Calvin, E. Campiglio, T. Kober, J. Jewell, G. Luderer,
  G. Marangoni, D. Mccollum, M. Van Sluisveld, A. Zimmer, and B. Van Der
  Zwaan. Post-2020 climate agreements in the major economies assessed in the
  light of global models. *Nature Climate Change*, 5(2):119–126, jan 2015.
- [172] P. Terlikowski, J. Paska, K. Pawlak, J. Kaliński, and D. Urbanek. Modern financial models of nuclear power plants. *Progress in Nuclear Energy*, 110:30 33, 2019.
- [173] F. L. Toth and H.-H. Rogner. Oil and nuclear power: Past, present, and future. *Energy Economics*, 28(1):1–25, 2006.
- [174] UNFCCC. Climate Get the Big Picture. https://unfccc.int/ resource/bigpicture/.
- [175] U.S. NRC. Stages of the Nuclear Fuel Cycle. https://www.nrc.gov/ materials/fuel-cycle-fac/stages-fuel-cycle.html.
- [176] N. J. van den Berg, H. L. van Soest, A. F. Hof, M. G. J. den Elzen, D. P. van den Vuuren, W. Chen, L. Drouet, J. Emmerling, S. Fujimori, N. Höhne, A. Köberle, D. McCollum, R. Schaeffer, S. Shekhar, S. S. Vishwanathan, Z. Vrontisi, and K. Blok. Implications of various effort-sharing approaches for national carbon budgets and emission pathways. *Climatic Change*, submitted(February), 2019.
- [177] J. van Vliet, A. F. Hof, A. Mendoza Beltran, M. van den Berg, S. Deetman, M. G. J. den Elzen, P. L. Lucas, and D. P. van Vuuren. The impact of technology availability on the timing and costs of emission reductions for achieving long-term climate targets. *Climatic Change*, 123(3-4):559–569, apr 2014.

- [178] D. P. van Vuuren and T. R. Carter. Climate and socio-economic scenarios for climate change research and assessment: Reconciling the new with the old. *Climatic Change*, 122(3):415–429, feb 2014.
- [179] D. P. Van Vuuren and H. J. De Vries. Mitigation scenarios in a world oriented at sustainable development: The role of technology, efficiency and timing. *Climate Policy*, 1(2):189–210, 2001.
- [180] D. P. Van Vuuren, J. Edmonds, M. Kainuma, K. Riahi, A. Thomson, K. Hibbard, G. Hurtt, T. Kram, V. Krey, J. F. Lamarque, T. Masui, M. Meinshausen, N. Nakicenovic, S. J. Smith, and S. K. Rose. The representative concentration pathways: An overview. *Climatic Change*, 109(1):5–31, 2011.
- [181] D. P. Van Vuuren, A. F. Hof, M. Van Sluisveld, and K. Riahi. Open discussion of negative emissions is urgently needed, 2017.
- [182] D. P. Van Vuuren, K. Riahi, R. Moss, J. Edmonds, A. Thomson, N. Nakicenovic, T. Kram, F. Berkhout, R. Swart, A. Janetos, S. K. Rose, and N. Arnell. A proposal for a new scenario framework to support research and assessment in different climate research communities. *Global Environmental Change*, 22(1):21–35, 2012.
- [183] D. P. van Vuuren, E. Stehfest, D. E. Gernaat, J. C. Doelman, M. van den Berg, M. Harmsen, H. S. de Boer, L. F. Bouwman, V. Daioglou, O. Y. Edelenbosch, B. Girod, T. Kram, L. Lassaletta, P. L. Lucas, H. van Meijl, C. Müller, B. J. van Ruijven, S. van der Sluis, and A. Tabeau. Energy, land-use and greenhouse gas emissions trajectories under a green growth paradigm. *Global Environmental Change*, 42:237–250, 2017.
- [184] D. P. van Vuuren, J. van Vliet, and E. Stehfest. Future bio-energy potential under various natural constraints. *Energy Policy*, 37(11):4220–4230, 2009.
- [185] T. Vandyck, K. Keramidas, B. Saveyn, A. Kitous, and Z. Vrontisi. A global stocktake of the Paris pledges: Implications for energy systems and economy. *Global Environmental Change*, 41:46–63, 2016.
- [186] Vidas Lekavičius and Arvydas Galinis. External Economic Effects of the Development of Energy Sector: Evaluation Methodologies and their Application.

*Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 213:142 – 147, 2015. 20th International Scientific Conference "Economics and Management 2015 (ICEM-2015)".

- [187] V. H. M. Visschers, C. Keller, and M. Siegrist. Climate change benefits and energy supply benefits as determinants of acceptance of nuclear power stations: Investigating an explanatory model. *Energy Policy*, 39(6):3621–3629, 2011.
- [188] H. Ward, A. Radebach, I. Vierhaus, A. Fügenschuh, and J. C. Steckel. Reducing global CO2 emissions with the technologies we have. *Resource and Energy Economics*, 49:201 – 217, 2017.
- [189] S. Weber and H. Wiesmeth. Environmental awareness: The case of climate change. *Russian Journal of Economics*, 4(4):328–345, 2019.
- [190] D. Weisser, M. Howells, and H.-H. Rogner. Nuclear power and post-2012 energy and climate change policies. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 11(6):467 – 477, 2008.
- [191] M. Yamazaki and S. Takeda. An assessment of nuclear power shutdown in Japan using the computable general equilibrium model. *Journal of Integrated Disaster Risk Management*, 3(1):36–55, 2013.
- [192] S. Yıldız. Multiple Objective Energy and Environmental Policy Analysis. Master's thesis, METU, 2015.
- [193] Y. Yılmaz, O. Sen, and U. Turuncoglu. Modeling the Hydroclimatic Effects of Local Land Use and Land Cover Changes on the Water Budget in the upper Euphrates - Tigris Basin. *Journal of Hydrology*, 06 2019.
- [194] S. H. Yoo and T. H. Yoo. The role of the nuclear power generation in the Korean national economy: An input-output analysis. *Progress in Nuclear Energy*, 51(1):86–92, 2009.
- [195] I. Yucel, A. Güventürk, and O. L. Sen. Climate change impacts on snowmelt runoff for mountainous transboundary basins in eastern Turkey. *International Journal of Climatology*, 35(2):215–228, 2015.

## **APPENDIX A**

## MESSAGE CODE FOR ENERGY SYSTEM MODELING

```
1 tdb: empty
2 adb: Turkey
3 problem: Turkey
4 description:
5 # TR
6 # Baseline scenario using SSP3 and GEA-Supply scenario parameters
7 drate: 5.04
8 timesteps: 2014 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 2050 2055
  loadregions:
9
  ltype
                  ordered seasonal 1 0
10
  year
                2015 1 60
11
                   aaa aab aac \setminus
   name
12
             aba abb \setminus
13
             baa bab bac \setminus
14
             bba bbb \setminus
15
             caa cab cac \setminus
16
             cba cbb \setminus
17
             daa dab dac \setminus
18
             dba dbb \
19
             eaa eab eac \setminus
20
             eba ebb \setminus
21
             faa fab fac \setminus
22
             fba fbb \setminus
23
             gaa gab gac \
24
             gba gbb \
25
             haa hab hac \setminus
26
             hba hbb \setminus
27
```

28	iaa iab	iac \		
29	iba ibb	\		
30	jaa jab	jac \		
31	jba jbb	\		
32	kaa kab	kac \		
33	kba kbb	\		
34	laa lab	lac \		
35	lba lbb			
36	length 0	.015068 0.0	)30137 0.0	)15068 \
37	0.01232	9 0.012329	\	
38	0.01369	9 0.027397	0.013699	$\setminus$
39	0.01095	9 0.010959	\	
40	0.015068	3 0.030137	0.015068	$\setminus$
41	0.01232	9 0.012329	$\setminus$	
42	0.015068	3 0.030137	0.015068	$\setminus$
43	0.01095	9 0.010959	\	
44	0.014384	4 0.028767	0.014384	$\setminus$
45	0.013699	9 0.013699	\	
46	0.015068	3 0.030137	0.015068	$\setminus$
47	0.01095	9 0.010959	\	
48	0.015753	3 0.031507	0.015753	$\setminus$
49	0.01095	9 0.010959	\	
50	0.014384	1 0.028767	0.014384	$\setminus$
51	0.013699	9 0.013699	\	
52	0.015068	3 0.030137	0.015068	$\setminus$
53	0.01095	9 0.010959	\	
54	0.015068	3 0.030137	0.015068	$\setminus$
55	0.01232	9 0.012329	\	
56	0.014384	1 0.028767	0.014384	$\setminus$
57	0.01232	9 0.012329	\	
58	0.015753	3 0.031507	0.015753	$\setminus$
59	0.01095	9 0.010959		
60	energyforms:			
61	NUCLEAR N			
62	<pre># Nuclear energy</pre>			
63	LWR_fuel w			
64	# LWR fuel			

SWU s 65 # Seperative work unit 66 U\_en u 67 # Enriched uranium 68 Uranium r 69 # Natural uranium 70 71 FINAL F 72 # Final energy 73 Electricity e l 74 # Final electricity 75 Coke o 76 # Final coke 77 Petro\_coke p 78 # Final petroleum coke 79 Coal c 80 # Final coal 81 Fuel\_oil f 82 # Final fuel oil 83 Diesel d 84 # Final diesel 85 Gasoline g 86 # Final gasoline 87 Kerosene j 88 # Final jet-fuel 89 Feedstock b 90 # Final petrochemical feedstock 91 Gas a l 92 # Final gas 93 Residential\_heat s l 94 # Final residential hear 95 Biomass i 96 # Final biomass 97 Process\_heat t l 98 # Final process heat 99 LPG l 100 # Final LPG 101

```
102
    *
    SECONDARY S
103
    # Secondary energy
104
        Electricity e l
105
         # Secondary electricity
106
107
    *
   PRIMARY P
108
    # Primary energy
109
        Coal_Dom c
110
         # Domestic coal
111
         Coal_Imp 1
112
         # Imported hard coal
113
        Oil o
114
         # Primary oil
115
        Gas g
116
         # Primary gas
117
        Biomass b
118
         # Primary biomass
119
         Solar s l
120
         # Primary solar
121
         Geothermal e
122
         # Primary geothermal
123
        Wind w l
124
         # Primary wind
125
126
    *
   RESOURCES R
127
    # Energy resources
128
        Coal_Dom c
129
         # Domestic coal
130
        Lignite l
131
         # Domestic lignite
132
    *
133
   DUMMY D
134
    # Dummy energy
135
        LWR_cool l
136
         # Spent fuel in final core
137
        LWR_dummy k
138
```

```
# Spent fuel transfer
139
       Oil_dummy o
140
       # Oil refinery output
141
142
   demand:
143
   i-F pg 1311 1.0339 1.0227 1.0149 1.0099 1.0079 1.0058 1.0043 1.0043
144
   c-F pg 13591 1.0339 1.0227 1.0149 1.0099 1.0079 1.0058 1.0043
145
    → 1.0043
   o-F pg 3886 1.0339 1.0227 1.0149 1.0099 1.0079 1.0058 1.0043 1.0043
146
   d-F pg 11497 1.0339 1.0227 1.0149 1.0099 1.0079 1.0058 1.0043
147
    → 1.0043
   e-F pg 23723 1.0382 1.027 1.0191 1.0142 1.0122 1.0101 1.0085 1.0085
148
   b-F pg 5869 1.0329 1.0217 1.0138 1.0089 1.0069 1.0048 1.0033 1.0033
149
   f-F pg 4849 1.0339 1.0227 1.0149 1.0099 1.0079 1.0058 1.0043 1.0043
150
   a-F pg 28809 1.0339 1.0227 1.0149 1.0099 1.0079 1.0058 1.0043
151
    → 1.0043
  q-F pq 6804 1.0339 1.0227 1.0149 1.0099 1.0079 1.0058 1.0043 1.0043
152
   j-F pg 6687 1.0339 1.0227 1.0149 1.0099 1.0079 1.0058 1.0043 1.0043
153
  1-F pg 1838 1.0339 1.0227 1.0149 1.0099 1.0079 1.0058 1.0043 1.0043
154
   p-F pg 3835 1.0339 1.0227 1.0149 1.0099 1.0079 1.0058 1.0043 1.0043
155
   t-F pg 1570 1.0339 1.0227 1.0149 1.0099 1.0079 1.0058 1.0043 1.0043
156
   s-F pg 3050 1.0339 1.0227 1.0149 1.0099 1.0079 1.0058 1.0043 1.0043
157
   loadcurve:
158
   year 2015
159
   relations2.1river.1riv.upper 0.126465 0.160955 0.095806 0.111310
160
    ↔ 0.078387 \
       0.028286 0.036000 0.021429 0.024343 0.017143 0.079626
161
       0.101342 0.060323 0.070084 0.049355 0.023627 0.030378 \
162
       0.030378 0.015562 0.010959 0.022554 0.028997 0.028997 \
163
       0.019452 0.013699 0.023627 0.030378 0.030378 0.015562 \
164
       0.010959 0.024702 0.031759 0.031759 0.015562 0.010959
165
       0.022554 0.028997 0.028997 0.019452 0.013699 0.023627 \
166
       0.030378 0.030378 0.015562 0.010959 0.023628 0.030378 \
167
       0.030378 0.017507 0.012329 0.022553 0.028997 0.028997 \
168
       0.017507 0.012329 0.024702 0.031759 0.031759 0.015562 \
169
       0.010959
170
   e-F 0.012135 0.034490 0.017245 0.011758 0.014371 \
171
```

```
207
```

172	0.010857	0.030857	0.015429	0.010743	0.012114	0.010787	$\setminus$
173	0.030658	0.015329	0.010684	0.012542	0.011733	0.031093	\
174	0.015840	0.010240	0.011093	0.010839	0.028723	0.014632	\
175	0.011871	0.013935	0.011733	0.031680	0.015253	0.010027	\
176	0.011307	0.014023	0.034723	0.018029	0.010916	0.012310	\
177	0.012194	0.032923	0.015852	0.013645	0.015387	0.011733	\
178	0.031680	0.015253	0.009813	0.011520	0.011355	0.030658	\
179	0.014761	0.010916	0.012310	0.011200	0.029680	0.015120	\
180	0.011280	0.012720	0.013355	0.036058	0.017361	0.010684	\
181	0.012542						
182	relations2.2	river.2riv	v.upper 0	.015069 0.	.030137 0.	.015069 0.	.012329
	↔ 0.012329	$\setminus$					
183	0.013699	0.027397	0.013699	0.010959	0.010959	0.015069	\
184	0.030137	0.015069	0.012329	0.012329	0.015069	0.030137	\
185	0.015069	0.010959	0.010959	0.014384	0.028767	0.014384	\
186	0.013699	0.013699	0.015069	0.030137	0.015069	0.010959	\
187	0.010959	0.015754	0.031507	0.015754	0.010959	0.010959	\
188	0.014384	0.028767	0.014384	0.013699	0.013699	0.015069	\
189	0.030137	0.015069	0.010959	0.010959	0.015069	0.030137	\
190	0.015069	0.012329	0.012329	0.014384	0.028767	0.014384	\
191	0.012329	0.012329	0.015754	0.031507	0.015754	0.010959	\
192	0.010959						
193	a-F 0.021290	0.042581	0.021290	0.017419	0.017419	\	
194	0.017857	0.035714	0.017857	0.014286	0.014286	0.015968	\
195	0.031935	0.015968	0.013065	0.013065	0.014667	0.029333	\
196	0.014667	0.010667	0.010667	0.011855	0.023710	0.011855	\
197	0.011290	0.011290	0.011000	0.022000	0.011000	0.008000	\
198	0.008000	0.011129	0.022258	0.011129	0.007742	0.007742	\
199	0.010161	0.020323	0.010161	0.009677	0.009677	0.014667	\
200	0.029333	0.014667	0.010667	0.010667	0.014194	0.028387	\
201	0.014194	0.011613	0.011613	0.015750	0.031500	0.015750	\
202	0.013500	0.013500	0.020403	0.040806	0.020403	0.014194	\
203	0.014194						
204	relations2.1	river.1riv	v.outflow	0.015069	0.030137	0.015069	
	↔ 0.012329	0.012329	\				
205	0.013699	0.027397	0.013699	0.010959	0.010959	0.015069	\
206	0.030137	0.015069	0.012329	0.012329	0.015069	0.030137	$\backslash$

207	0.015069	0.010959	0.010959	0.014384	0.028767	0.014384 \
208	0.013699	0.013699	0.015069	0.030137	0.015069	0.010959 \
209	0.010959	0.015754	0.031507	0.015754	0.010959	0.010959 \
210	0.014384	0.028767	0.014384	0.013699	0.013699	0.015069 \
211	0.030137	0.015069	0.010959	0.010959	0.015069	0.030137 \
212	0.015069	0.012329	0.012329	0.014384	0.028767	0.014384 \
213	0.012329	0.012329	0.015754	0.031507	0.015754	0.010959 \
214	0.010959					
215	relations2.2r	iver.2riv	v.inflow (	).017742 (	).035484 (	0.017742 0.014516
	→ 0.014516	\				
216	0.021429	0.042857	0.021429	0.017143	0.017143	0.021290 \
217	0.042581	0.021290	0.017419	0.017419	0.025667	0.051333 \
218	0.025667	0.018667	0.018667	0.018629	0.037258	0.018629 \
219	0.017742	0.017742	0.007333	0.014667	0.007333	0.005333 \
220	0.005333	0.001855	0.003710	0.001855	0.001290	0.001290 \
221	0.001694	0.003387	0.001694	0.001613	0.001613	0.003667 \
222	0.007333	0.003667	0.002667	0.002667	0.017742	0.035484 \
223	0.017742	0.014516	0.014516	0.021000	0.042000	0.021000 \
224	0.018000	0.018000	0.020403	0.040806	0.020403	0.014194 \
225	0.014194					
226	relations2.1r	iver.1riv	v.inflow (	).017742 (	0.035484 (	0.017742 0.014516
	→ 0.014516	\				
227	0.021429	0.042857	0.021429	0.017143	0.017143	0.021290 \
228	0.042581	0.021290	0.017419	0.017419	0.025667	0.051333 \
229	0.025667	0.018667	0.018667	0.018629	0.037258	0.018629 \
230	0.017742	0.017742	0.007333	0.014667	0.007333	0.005333 \
231	0.005333	0.001855	0.003710	0.001855	0.001290	0.001290 \
232	0.001694	0.003387	0.001694	0.001613	0.001613	0.003667 \
233	0.007333	0.003667	0.002667	0.002667	0.017742	0.035484 \
234	0.017742	0.014516	0.014516	0.021000	0.042000	0.021000 \
235	0.018000	0.018000	0.020403	0.040806	0.020403	0.014194 \
236	0.014194					
237	relations2.1r	iver.1riv	v.lower 0.	.015069 0.	.030137 0.	.015069 0.012329
	↔ 0.012329	\				
238	0.013699	0.027397	0.013699	0.010959	0.010959	0.015069 \
239	0.030137	0.015069	0.012329	0.012329	0.015069	0.030137 \
	0 01 5 0 6 0	0 010050	0 010050	0 01/20/	0 028767	0 01/38/

```
0.013699 0.013699 0.015069 0.030137 0.015069 0.010959 \
241
        0.010959 0.015754 0.031507 0.015754 0.010959 0.010959 \
242
        0.014384 0.028767 0.014384 0.013699 0.013699 0.015069 \
243
        0.030137 0.015069 0.010959 0.010959 0.015069 0.030137 \
244
        0.015069 0.012329 0.012329 0.014384 0.028767 0.014384 \
245
        0.012329 0.012329 0.015754 0.031507 0.015754 0.010959 \
246
        0.010959
247
   systems.Solar.x.moutp 0.015968 0.031935 0.015968 0.013065
248
       0.013065 \
        0.016071 0.032143 0.016071 0.012857 0.012857 0.015968 \
249
        0.031935 0.015968 0.013065 0.013065 0.014667 0.029333 \
250
        0.014667 0.010667 0.010667 0.013548 0.027097 0.013548 \
251
        0.012903 0.012903 0.014667 0.029333 0.014667 0.010667
252
        0.010667 0.014839 0.029677 0.014839 0.010323 0.010323 \
253
        0.013548 0.027097 0.013548 0.012903 0.012903 0.014667 \
254
        0.029333 0.014667 0.010667 0.010667 0.014194 0.028387 \
255
        0.014194 0.011613 0.011613 0.014000 0.028000 0.014000
256
        0.012000 0.012000 0.016694 0.033387 0.016694 0.011613 \
257
        0.011613
258
   systems.Solar.a.moutp 0.000000 0.063871 0.000000 0.026129
259
       0.000000 \
        0.000000 0.064286 0.000000 0.025714 0.000000 0.000000 \
260
        0.063871 0.000000 0.026129 0.000000 0.000000 0.058667 \
261
        0.000000 0.021333 0.000000 0.000000 0.054194 0.000000 \
262
        0.025806 0.000000 0.000000 0.058667 0.000000 0.021333 \
263
        0.000000 0.000000 0.059355 0.000000 0.020645 0.000000 \
264
        0.000000 0.054194 0.000000 0.025806 0.000000 0.000000 \
265
        0.058667 0.000000 0.021333 0.000000 0.000000 0.056774 \
266
        0.000000 0.023226 0.000000 0.000000 0.056000 0.000000 \
267
        0.024000 0.000000 0.000000 0.066774 0.000000 0.023226 \
268
        0.000000
269
   t-F 0.015069 0.030137 0.015069 0.012329 0.012329 \
270
        0.013699 0.027397 0.013699 0.010959 0.010959 0.015069 \
271
        0.030137 0.015069 0.012329 0.012329 0.015069 0.030137 \
272
        0.015069 0.010959 0.010959 0.014384 0.028767 0.014384 \
273
        0.013699 0.013699 0.015069 0.030137 0.015069 0.010959 \
274
        0.010959 0.015754 0.031507 0.015754 0.010959 0.010959 \
275
```

276		0.014384	0.028767	0.014384	0.013699	0.013699	0.015069	\
277		0.030137	0.015069	0.010959	0.010959	0.015069	0.030137	\
278		0.015069	0.012329	0.012329	0.014384	0.028767	0.014384	$\backslash$
279		0.012329	0.012329	0.015753	0.031506	0.015753	0.010958	$\backslash$
280		0.010958						
281	syst	ems.Wind.	.a.moutp (	).028387 (	0.000000 (	).028387 (	.000000	0.023226 \
282		0.032143	0.000000	0.032143	0.000000	0.025714	0.028387	$\setminus$
283		0.000000	0.028387	0.000000	0.023226	0.029333	0.000000	\
284		0.029333	0.000000	0.021333	0.027097	0.000000	0.027097	$\setminus$
285		0.000000	0.025806	0.033000	0.000000	0.033000	0.000000	$\setminus$
286		0.024000	0.033387	0.000000	0.033387	0.000000	0.023226	\
287		0.030484	0.000000	0.030484	0.000000	0.029032	0.029333	$\setminus$
288		0.000000	0.029333	0.000000	0.021333	0.028387	0.000000	$\setminus$
289		0.028387	0.000000	0.023226	0.028000	0.000000	0.028000	$\setminus$
290		0.000000	0.024000	0.029677	0.000000	0.029677	0.000000	$\setminus$
291		0.020645						
292	s-F	0.021290	0.042581	0.021290	0.017419	0.017419	\	
293		0.017857	0.035714	0.017857	0.014286	0.014286	0.015968	$\setminus$
294		0.031935	0.015968	0.013065	0.013065	0.014667	0.029333	$\setminus$
295		0.014667	0.010667	0.010667	0.011855	0.023710	0.011855	$\setminus$
296		0.011290	0.011290	0.011000	0.022000	0.011000	0.008000	$\setminus$
297		0.008000	0.011129	0.022258	0.011129	0.007742	0.007742	$\setminus$
298		0.010161	0.020323	0.010161	0.009677	0.009677	0.014667	$\setminus$
299		0.029333	0.014667	0.010667	0.010667	0.014194	0.028387	$\setminus$
300		0.014194	0.011613	0.011613	0.015750	0.031500	0.015750	\
301		0.013500	0.013500	0.020403	0.040806	0.020403	0.014194	$\setminus$
302		0.014194						
303	rela	ations2.21	river.2riv	v.lower 0	.015068 0.	.030137 0	.015068 0	.012329
	$\hookrightarrow$	0.012329	\					
304		0.013699	0.027397	0.013699	0.010959	0.010959	0.015068	$\setminus$
305		0.030137	0.015068	0.012329	0.012329	0.015068	0.030137	$\setminus$
306		0.015068	0.010959	0.010959	0.014384	0.028767	0.014384	$\setminus$
307		0.013699	0.013699	0.015068	0.030137	0.015068	0.010959	$\setminus$
308		0.010959	0.015753	0.031507	0.015753	0.010959	0.010959	\
309		0.014384	0.028767	0.014384	0.013699	0.013699	0.015068	\
310		0.030137	0.015068	0.010959	0.010959	0.015068	0.030137	\
311		0.015068	0.012329	0.012329	0.014384	0.028767	0.014384	$\setminus$

```
0.012329 0.012329 0.015753 0.031507 0.015753 0.010959 \
312
        0.010959
313
   costlims:
314
   investments lo annual c 0
315
   relations1 lo annual c 0
316
   relationsc:
317
   FIT FIT O
318
                     c -1165
        cost
319
        units
                      group: activity, type: energy, cost:US$'00/kWyr,
320
        → upper:MWyr, lower:MWyr
        for ldr
                       none
321
                      c 32918
        upper
322
        lower
                     с О
323
        type
                     None
324
325
    *
   relationsp:
326
   relationss:
327
   1stor 1sto o O
328
        units
                      type: energy, cost:US$'00/kWyr, inv:US$'00/kW,
329
        → fom:US$'00/kW/yr, pll:yr, cmix:MW, hisccap:MW, ctime:yr,

→ reten:yr, retenhist:MWyr, upper:MWyr, lower:MWyr

        for_ldr
                       all
330
                      c 6800
        upper
331
        lower
                      с О
332
                         continuous
        stortype
333
                     hydro
        type
334
        inflow
                      plriv
                                    c 1
335
        overflow
                                  c 1.
                         pnone
336
337
   *
   2stor 2sto o 0
338
                      type: energy, cost:US$'00/kWyr, inv:US$'00/kW,
        units
339
        → fom:US$'00/kW/yr, pll:yr, cmix:MW, hisccap:MW, ctime:yr,
        → reten:yr, retenhist:MWyr, upper:MWyr, lower:MWyr,

→ transfac:%

        for_ldr
                        all
340
        upper
                      c 18200
341
        lower
                      с 0
342
```

```
stortype
                       continuous
343
                    hydro
        type
344
                      p2riv
                                    c 1
        inflow
345
        overflow
                        pnone
                                     c 1.
346
347
   LWR_cool_st q o
348
               с 5
        cost
349
                     type: energy, cost:US$'00/kWyr, inv:US$'00/kW,
350
        units
        → fom:US$'00/kW/yr, pll:yr, cmix:MWyr, hisccap:MWyr,
        ↔ ctime:yr, reten:yr, retenhist:MWyr, upper:MWyr,
        → lower:MWyr, transfac:%
        for_ldr
                      none
351
                     с 5
        reten
352
        upper
                     c 1000
353
        lower
                     с О
354
        stortype
                        continuous
355
                    None
        type
356
357
   L_int_stor L_in o
358
                    c 200
        cost
359
                     type: energy, cost:US$'00/kWyr, inv:US$'00/kW,
        units
360
        → fom:US$'00/kW/yr, pll:yr, cmix:MWyr, hisccap:MWyr,
        ↔ ctime:yr, reten:yr, retenhist:MWyr, upper:MWyr,
        → lower:MWyr, transfac:%
        for ldr
                       none
361
                     c 10000
        upper
362
        lower
                     с 0
363
        stortype
                    continuous
364
        type
                    None
365
366
   depleted_U_st depl o
367
                     type: energy, cost:US$'00/kWyr, inv:US$'00/kW,
        units
368
        → fom:US$'00/kW/yr, pll:yr, cmix:MWyr, hisccap:MWyr,
        → ctime:yr, reten:yr, retenhist:MWyr, lower:MWyr, transfac:%
        for ldr
                       none
369
                     с О
        lower
370
        stortype
                        continuous
371
```

```
None
372
        type
373
    *
   LILW_stor LILW o
374
                    c 8.05
        cost
375
                      type: energy, cost:US$'00/kWyr, inv:US$'00/kW,
        units
376
         → fom:US$'00/kW/yr, pll:yr, cmix:MWyr, hisccap:MWyr,
         ↔ ctime:yr, reten:yr, retenhist:MWyr, upper:MWyr,
         → lower:MWyr, transfac:%
        for_ldr
                        none
377
        lower
                     с О
378
        stortype
                          continuous
379
                     None
        type
380
381
    *
   relations1:
382
   CO2 CO2 o
383
        units
                       group: activity, type: weight, upper:kton,
384
         → lower:kton
        for_ldr
385
                       none
        lower
                     с 0
386
387
        type
                     None
388
   NOx NOx o
389
                     c 1750
        cost
390
        units
                      group: activity, type: weight, cost:EUR'00/ton,
391
         \hookrightarrow upper:kton, lower:kton
        for_ldr
                       none
392
        lower
                     с 0
393
        type
                     None
394
    *
395
   SO2 SO2 o
396
                     c 480
        cost
397
                      group: activity, type: weight, cost:EUR'00/ton,
        units
398
         \hookrightarrow upper:kton, lower:kton
        for_ldr
                       none
399
                     с 0
        lower
400
401
   FLEX FLEX 0 0
402
```

```
units
                   group: activity, type: energy, cost:US$'00/kWyr,
403
        → upper:MWyr, lower:MWyr
       for_ldr
                    all
404
                   с О
       lower
405
406
       type
                  None
407
   relations2:
408
   1river 1riv o 0
409
       units
                    group: activity, type: energy, cost:US$'00/kWyr,
410
        → upper:MWyr, lower:MWyr
                     all
       for ldr
411
                   с О.
       lower
412
                   river
       type
413
       inflow
                    pnatural
                                   c 6800
414
       outflow
                    pnatural
                                    c 1
415
416
   2river 2riv o 0
417
                   group: activity, type: energy, cost:US$'00/kWyr,
418
       units
        → upper:MWyr, lower:MWyr
       for_ldr
                    all
419
       lower
                   с О
420
                  river
       type
421
                    pnatural c 11400
       inflow
422
                    pnatural
                                    c 1
       outflow
423
424
   *
   variables:
425
   systems:
426
   Elec_S_F a
427
       minp
                  e-S 1.
428
                   e-F c 0.82
       moutp
429
       pll
                  c 50
430
                 c 118
       inv
431
       fom c 4.83
432
```

```
hisc
                     23723.
                                   hc 1970 985 1971 131 1972 167 1973
433
         → 135 1974 119 1975 245 1976 228 1977 197 1978 131 1979 91
            1980 86 1981 159 1982 213 1983 91 1984 373 1985 411 1986
         \hookrightarrow
            471 1987 531 1988 422 1989 456 1990 627 1991 308 1992 809
         \hookrightarrow
            1993 738 1994 516 1995 904 1996 983 1997 962 1998 882
         \hookrightarrow
            1999 618 2000 967 2002 511 2003 1277 2004 1155 2005 1643
         \hookrightarrow
            2006 1638 2007 1741 2008 783 2010 1460 2011 2076 2012
         1153 2013 74 2014 1348
         \hookrightarrow
        ctime
                     c 2
434
        conla FLEX c -0.1
435
436
    #
    *
437
   Gas_TD a
438
        minp
                     g-P 1.
439
        moutp
                     a-F c 1
440
                     28809.
        hisc
441
        conla CO2
                     c 1.77
442
443
    #
    *
444
   Nuclear_PP a
445
                    w-N 0.01788500000000002
        minp
446
        moutp
                     e-S c 1
447
        plf
                    c 0.85
448
        pll
                    c 60
449
                    ts 5211 4977 4977 4747 4747 4460 4460 4184 4184
        inv
450
                    ts 153 145 145 139 139 129 129 122 122
        fom
451
                    c 26.28
        vom
452
                     2 1000
        cmix
453
        ctime
                     с 5
454
        bdc up
                      c 1000
455
        corin w-N
                          c 0.054047
456
        corout l-D
                           c 0.054047
457
                          c 0.569
        conla CO2
458
                         c 0.017885
        consa q
459
        consa LILW
                          c 0.1
460
    #
461
   *
462
```

Gas\_PP o 463 g-P 1. minp 464 e-S c 0.52 moutp 465 c 0.85 plf 466 pll c 30 467 ts 522 460 460 420 420 394 394 377 377 inv 468 ts 8 7 7 6 6 6 6 6 6 fom 469 13764. hc 1993 1061 1994 1061 1995 1061 hisc 470 → 1996 1061 1997 1061 1998 1061 1999 1061 2000 1061 2001 ·→ 1061 2002 1061 2003 1771 2004 1126 2005 977 2006 461 2007 229 2008 389 2009 1391 2010 1750 2011 999 2012 895 2013  $\hookrightarrow$ → 3610 2014 1550 2 600 cmix 471 ctime с 2 472 conla FLEX c 1 473 conla CO2 c 3.04 474 c 0.017 conla NOx 475 476 # 2. activity p 477 minp g-P 1. 478 moutp e-S c 0.34 479 hisc 1570. 480 outp t-F c 0.51 481 conla FLEX c 0.5 482 conla CO2 c 3.04 483 conla NOx c 0.017 484 485 Oil\_PP a 486 minp o-P 1. 487 e-S c 0.34 moutp 488 plf c 0.85 489 pll c 30 490 c 600 inv 491 c 46 fom 492 hc 1993 84 1994 84 1995 84 1996 84 hisc 245. 493 → 1997 84 1998 84 1999 84 2000 84 2001 84 2002 84 2003 88  $\rightarrow$  2005 7 2007 30 2008 15 2009 39 2010 10 2011 32

```
cmix
                   2 100
494
                    c 2
        ctime
495
        conla FLEX
                       c 1
496
        conla SO2
                         c 0.043
497
        conla NOx
                         c 0.021
498
        conla CO2
                         c 5.91
499
    #
500
501
   Coal_Dom_PP a
502
                   c-P 1.
        minp
503
                    e-S c 0.4
        moutp
504
                    c 0.85
        plf
505
                    c 40
        pll
506
                   ts 1279 1060 1060 925 925 843 843 792 792
        inv
507
                   ts 51 42 42 37 37 34 34 32 32
        fom
508
                                  hc 1993 627 1994 627 1995 627 1996
                    4180.
        hisc
509
        → 627 1997 627 1998 627 1999 627 2000 627 2001 627 2002 627
        → 2003 20 2004 50 2005 680 2006 1080 2007 16 2009 135 2010
        → 30 2012 41 2013 37 2014 57
                   2 160
        cmix
510
        ctime
                    с 4
511
        conla FLEX
                      c 0.15
512
                         c 0.035
        conla SO2
513
        conla NOx
                         c 0.035
514
        conla CO2
                         c 3.19
515
    #
516
   2. activity v
517
                   c-P 1.
       minp
518
        moutp
                     e-S c 0.4
519
                    c 3.07
        vom
520
        conla FLEX
                         c 0.15
521
        conla SO2
                         c 0.0035
522
        conla NOx
                         c 0.0175
523
        conla CO2
                         c 3.19
524
525
   *
   Coal_Imp_PP c
526
       minp
                    1-P 1.
527
```

```
moutp
                     e-S c 0.47
528
        plf
                     c 0.85
529
        pll
                     с 40
530
                     ts 2213 1783 1783 1518 1518 1356 1356 1255 1255
        inv
531
                     ts 89 71 71 61 61 54 54 50 50
        fom
532
                                   hc 2002 1012 2003 1320 2004 45 2005
        hisc
                      4417.
533
         \hookrightarrow \quad 141 \ 2009 \ 270 \ 2010 \ 1360 \ 2011 \ 625 \ 2012 \ 75 \ 2014 \ 1550
                      2 320
        cmix
534
        ctime
                      с 4
535
        conla FLEX
                           c 0.15
536
        conla SO2
                           c 0.035
537
        conla NOx
                           c 0.035
538
        conla CO2
                           c 3.07
539
    #
540
    2. activity b
541
        minp
                     l-P 1.
542
        moutp
                      e-S c 0.47
543
                     c 6.93
544
        vom
        conla FLEX
                           c 0.15
545
        conla SO2
                           c 0.0035
546
        conla NOx
                           c 0.0175
547
        conla CO2
                           c 3.07
548
549
    Hydro_PP_Res p
550
                     e-S c 1
        moutp
551
        plf
                     c 0.3
552
        pll
                     c 60
553
                    c 3175
        inv
554
        fom
                     c 70
555
                                    hc 1979 500 1982 69 1984 138 1987
        hisc
                      3283.
556
         ·→ 2503 1988 138 1989 54 1990 152 1991 340 1992 2529 1993 46
         ·→ 1994 159 1996 62 1997 169 1998 95 1999 359 2000 142 2001
         → 38 2002 897 2003 337 2004 63 2005 261 2006 157 2007 332
            2008 425 2009 636 2010 1251 2011 1252 2012 2417 2013 2298
         \hookrightarrow
         → 2014 1084
                    2 100
        cmix
557
        ctime
                      с 4
558
```

```
conla FLEX
                        c 0.5
559
       conla CO2
                       c 0.420
560
                      c -1
       consa 2sto
561
   #
562
   *
563
   Hydro_PP_ROR s
564
       moutp e-S c 1
565
                 c 0.3
       plf
566
       pll
                  c 60
567
       inv
                  c 2175
568
                  c 70
       fom
569
                               hc 1986 7 1992 8 2003 23 2004 4 2005
       hisc
                   1357.
570
        → 593 2006 593 2007 593 2008 600 2009 682 2010 642 2011 646
        → 2012 711 2013 908 2014 719
               2 20
       cmix
571
       ctime c 2
572
       conla CO2
                    c 0.157
573
                        с 1
       con2a 1riv
574
       consa 1sto
                        c -1
575
                     c 6800
       abda up
576
577
   #
   *
578
   Wind_PP z
579
       minp
                  w-P 1.
580
                   e-S c 1
       moutp
581
       plf
                  c 0.3
582
       pll
                  c 25
583
                  ts 1523 1323 1323 1196 1196 1114 1114 1062 1062
       inv
584
       fom
                  ts 35 30 30 27 27 25 25 24 24
585
                   975.
                               hc 2002 136 2005 1 2006 39 2007 76
       hisc
586
        → 2008 217 2009 439 2010 529 2011 409 2012 532 2013 498
        → 2014 755
       ctime c 3
587
       conla FLEX
                     c -0.08
588
       conla CO2
                  c 0.07
589
590
   #
   *
591
```

```
Solar_PP x
592
                   s-P 1.
        minp
593
                     e-S c 1
        moutp
594
        plf
                   c 0.3
595
        pll
                   c 25
596
                   ts 3264 2851 2851 2585 2585 2415 2415 2305 2305
        inv
597
                   ts 21 18 18 16 16 15 15 15 15
        fom
598
                    2.
                             hc 2014 40
        hisc
599
        ctime
                    c 1
600
                         c -0.05
        conla FLEX
601
                         c 0.14
        conla CO2
602
603
604
   Geo PP c
605
        minp
                   e-P 1.
606
                    e-S c 0.35
        moutp
607
                   c 0.3
        plf
608
                   c 40
609
        pll
                   ts 3411 3334 3334 3276 3276 3231 3231 3196 3196
        inv
610
                   ts 178 174 174 171 171 168 168 166 166
        fom
611
                                hc 2002 15 2006 8 2008 7 2009 47 2010
                    270.
        hisc
612
        → 17 2011 20 2012 48 2013 149 2014 94
                    2 1
        cmix
613
        ctime
                     с 4
614
        conla CO2
                   c 0.876
615
616
    #
    *
617
   Bio_PP n
618
        minp
                   b-P 1.
619
                     e-S c 0.35
        moutp
620
        plf
                   c 0.3
621
        pll
                   с 40
622
                   ts 1491 1361 1361 1273 1273 1214 1214 1175 1175
        inv
623
                   ts 60 54 54 51 51 49 49 47 47
        fom
624
                     164.
                                 hc 2002 100 2006 6 2007 1 2008 17
        hisc
625
        → 2009 22 2010 17 2011 19 2012 37 2013 37 2014 44
        cmix
                     23
626
```

```
ctime c 3
627
       conla FLEX c 0.3
628
       conla CO2 c 0.219
629
   #
630
631
   *
   Gas_Imp a
632
       moutp
                  g-P c 1.0
633
       pll
                  c 50
634
       inv
                  c 846
635
                  c 17
       fom
636
                 c 157.68
       vom
637
       hisc
                   53407. hc 1988 5192 1995 1534 1996 11328
638
        → 1997 18880 1998 4720 2001 7788 2011 7080
       ctime
                   с 3
639
       mpa up
               c 0 c 1.03
640
   #
641
   *
642
643
   Oil_Imp a
       moutp
                   o-P c 1.0
644
                 c 173.45
       vom
645
                   39107.
       hisc
646
       mpa up
                    c 0 c 1.03
647
   #
648
   *
649
   Oil_Ref a
650
       minp
                  o-P 1.
651
       moutp
                   o-D c 1
652
                  c 60
       pll
653
       inv
                  c 59.8
654
                  c 81
       fom
655
```

656	hisc 36708. hc 1961 1766 1962 339 1963 339 1	964				
	→ 339 1965 339 1966 339 1967 339 1968 339 1969 339 1970	339				
	→ 1971 339 1972 4322 1973 493 1974 493 1975 493 1976 493					
	→ 1977 493 1978 493 1979 493 1980 493 1981 493 1982 493					
	→ 1983 493 1984 493 1985 493 1986 7131 1987 493 1988 493					
	→ 1989 493 1990 493 1991 493 1992 493 1993 493 1994 493					
	→ 1995 493 1996 493 1997 493 1998 493 1999 493 2000 493					
	$\hookrightarrow$ 2001 493 2002 493 2003 493 2004 493 2005 493 2006 493					
	→ 2007 493 2008 493 2009 493 2010 493 2011 493 2012 493					
	→ 2013 493 2014 493					
657	ctime c 2					
658	outp b-F c 0.142					
659	outp d-F c 0.294					
660	outp g-F c 0.174					
661	outp p-F c 0.048					
662	outp f-F c 0.124					
663	outp j-F c 0.171					
664	outp 1-F c 0.047					
665	conla CO2 c 2.31					
666	#					
667	*					
668	Coal_Imp a					
669	moutp l-P c 1					
670	vom c 94.61					
671	hisc 26412.					
672	mpa up c 0 c 1.03					
673	#					
674	*					
675	Coal_Dom_F a					
676	minp c-P 1.					
677	moutp c-F c 1					
678	hisc 13591.					
679	conla CO2 c 3.19					
680	#					
681	*					
682	Coke_Prod a					
683	minp c-P 1.					

```
moutp
                  o-F c 0.7
684
       hisc
                  3886.
685
       outp t-F c 0.3
686
   #
687
688
   *
   LWR_dummy a
689
       minp
                  1-D 1.
690
       moutp
                  k-D c 1.0
691
                  c 1
       consa q
692
   #
693
   *
694
   LWR_fuel_prod a
695
             u-N 1.
       minp
696
       moutp
                   w-N c 1.0
697
                c 275
       vom
698
   #
699
   *
700
   Enrichment a
701
       minp
            r-N 1.
702
                  u-N c 0.10758
       moutp
703
                 с 8
       vom
704
                 c 0.753
       inp s-N
705
       consa depl c 0.892
706
707
   #
708
   *
   SWU a
709
       moutp
               s-N c 1.0
710
            c 110
       vom
711
   #
712
713
   *
   Uranium_imp a
714
       moutp r-N c 1.0
715
            c 150
       vom
716
717
   #
718
   *
   Spent_fuel_Trans a
719
             k-D c 1
720
      moutp
```

```
c -1
721
        consa q
        consa L_in
                       c 1
722
    #
723
    *
724
   Coal_Dom_Ext a
725
        minp
                    c-R 1.
726
                     с-Рс1
        moutp
727
        vom
                    c 94.61
728
                    1486.940000000000
        hisc
729
        mpa up
                     c 0 c 1.03
730
731
    #
    *
732
   Lignite_Ext a
733
        minp
                    l-R 1.
734
                     с-Рс1
        moutp
735
        vom
                    c 94.61
736
        hisc
                    20270.529999999999
737
        mpa up
                   c 0 c 1.03
738
739
    #
740
    *
   Petrocoke_Imp h
741
        moutp
                    р-F с 1
742
        vom
                    c 346.9
743
        hisc
                   4123.
744
        conla CO2 c 2.98
745
746
    #
747
    *
   Solar_heat a
748
        minp
                    s-P 1.
749
                     s-F c 1
        moutp
750
        hisc
                     1067.
751
752
    #
753
    ¥
   Bio_TD a
754
                    b-P 1.
        minp
755
        moutp
                     i-F c 1
756
                         c 3.15
757
        conla CO2
```

```
758
   #
759
   *
   Feedstock_Imp a
760
                    b-F c 1
       moutp
761
                  c 346.9
       vom
762
                   316.
       hisc
763
   #
764
765
    *
   Biodiesel s
766
       minp
                   b-P 1.
767
       moutp
                    d-F c 0.49
768
       pll
                   c 60
769
                   ts 2025 2025 2025 1846 1846 1725 1725 1642 1642
        inv
770
                   ts 81 81 81 74 74 69 69 66 66
        fom
771
                   102.
                          hc 2012 31 2013 42 2014 30
       hisc
772
        ctime
                    c 2
773
        conla CO2
                    c 1.72
774
775
   #
   *
776
   Biomass a
777
                    b-P c 1
       moutp
778
       vom
                  c 47.30
779
                   1881.
       hisc
780
                   c 13433
       abda up
781
   #
782
783
    *
   Solar a
784
       moutp
                  s-P c 1
785
       hisc
                   1069.
786
       abda up
                   c 8208000
787
    #
788
   *
789
   Geothermal a
790
                    e-P c 1
       moutp
791
       hisc
                   4686.
792
        abda up
                    c 31500
793
   #
794
```
```
795
  *
   Geo_heat a
796
                 e-P 1.
      minp
797
      moutp
                  s-F c 1
798
       hisc
                 1983.
799
       con1a CO2 c 0.876
800
   #
801
802
   Wind a
803
      moutp
                  w-P c 1
804
      hisc
                 975.
805
       abda up
                  c 48000
806
   #
807
   *
808
   LPG_Imp a
809
      moutp
                 1-F c 1
810
      vom c 346.9
811
      conla CO2 c 1.99
812
813
   #
814
   *
   Kerosene_Imp a
815
     moutp j-F c 1
816
       vom c 346.9
817
      con1a CO2 c 2.25
818
   #
819
820
   Gasoline_Imp a
821
      moutp g-F c 1
822
       vom c 346.9
823
      conla CO2 c 2.19
824
825
   #
   *
826
   Diesel_Imp a
827
      moutp
                  d-F c 1
828
       vom c 346.9
829
       conla CO2 c 2.34
830
831 #
```

```
832 *
  Fuel_Oil_Imp a
833
      moutp f-F c 1
834
      vom c 346.9
835
      conla CO2 c 2.44
836
   #
837
   *
838
  Elec_Imp a
839
                 e-S c 1
      moutp
840
     vom c 2000
841
   #
842
   *
843
  resources:
844
   fuel l-R
845
   # Lignite/RESOURCES
846
   grade a
847
     volume 2465753.
848
849
   *
  fuel c-R
850
   # Coal_Dom/RESOURCES
851
   grade a
852
     volume 440925.
853
854
  *
855 endata
```

# **APPENDIX B**

# **ENERGY LOAD REGIONS**

```
1 loadregions:
2 ltype
           seasonal
3 year
            2015 January February March April May June July
   \hookrightarrow August September October November December
              2015-01-01 2015-02-01 2015-03-01 2015-04-01
4 range
   → 2015-05-01 2015-06-01 2015-07-01 2015-08-01 2015-09-01
   → 2015-10-01 2015-11-01 2015-12-01 2016-01-01
5 season
              January Workday SSH
  day Workday 22
6
             aaa aab aac
  name
7
  length
               0.25 0.5 0.25
8
          SSH 9
  day
9
             aba abb
  name
10
               0.5 0.5
  length
11
              February Workday SSH
  season
12
           Workday 20
  day
13
 name
            baa bab bac
14
             0.25 0.5 0.25
15
  length
  day SSH 8
16
            bba bbb
  name
17
  length
               0.5 0.5
18
              March Workday SSH
  season
19
           Workday 22
  day
20
             caa cab cac
21 name
            0.25 0.5 0.25
22 length
23 day
           SSH 9
24 name cba cbb
```

```
length
                 0.5 0.5
25
                 April Workday SSH
   season
26
             Workday 22
   day
27
               daa dab dac
   name
28
              0.25 0.5 0.25
   length
29
             SSH 8
   day
30
               dba dbb
   name
31
                 0.5 0.5
   length
32
                 May Workday SSH
   season
33
              Workday 21
   day
34
               eaa eab eac
   name
35
                 0.25 0.5 0.25
   length
36
              SSH 10
   day
37
   name
               eba ebb
38
                 0.5 0.5
   length
39
                 June Workday SSH
   season
40
             Workday 22
   day
41
               faa fab fac
42
   name
                 0.25 0.5 0.25
   length
43
              SSH 8
   day
44
               fba fbb
   name
45
   length
                 0.5 0.5
46
                 July Workday SSH
   season
47
             Workday 23
   day
48
   name
               gaa gab gac
49
   length
                 0.25 0.5 0.25
50
             SSH 8
   day
51
   name
                gba gbb
52
   length
                 0.5 0.5
53
   season
                 August Workday SSH
54
   day
              Workday 21
55
   name
               haa hab hac
56
                 0.25 0.5 0.25
   length
57
              SSH 10
   day
58
               hba hbb
   name
59
                 0.5 0.5
   length
60
  season
                September Workday SSH
61
```

62	day	Workday 22
63	name	iaa iab iac
64	length	0.25 0.5 0.25
65	day	SSH 8
66	name	iba ibb
67	length	0.5 0.5
68	season	October Workday SSH
69	day	Workday 22
70	name	jaa jab jac
71	length	0.25 0.5 0.25
72	day	SSH 9
73	name	jba jbb
74	length	0.5 0.5
75	season	November Workday SSH
76	day	Workday 21
77	name	kaa kab kac
78	length	0.25 0.5 0.25
79	day	SSH 9
80	name	kba kbb
81	length	0.5 0.5
82	season	December Workday SSH
83	day	Workday 23
84	name	laa lab lac
85	length	0.25 0.5 0.25
86	day	SSH 8
87	name	lba lbb
88	length	0.5 0.5

# **APPENDIX C**

# EXPERT ELICITATION SURVEY

METUSurvey - Nuclear energy and climate change

Page 1 of 9

### Nuclear energy and climate change

The objective of this survey is to receive expert opinion for the study conducted by the Middle East Technical University (METU) under the Coordinated Research Project (CRP) of International Atomic Energy Agency titled "Assessments of the potential role of nuclear energy for climate change mitigation strategies". The questions are grouped under three sections: "Global development pathways", "Energy and climate change mitigation strategies" and "Energy and environmental behaviour". Finally there are questions related to the demographics of the sample group. Answering all the questions and reading the additional explanations would take approximately 30 minutes.

Your participation is on a voluntary basis and the necessary permission has been received from METU Applied Ethics Research Center. Answers will be kept confidential and only will be used by the researchers. The information will be elaborated together and used in scientific publications. The information provided will not be matched with your identity information. In case you feel uncomfortable you can stop the survey at any time. At the end of the survey, there is a link to the web page of the CRP where you can get more information on the study.

There are 14 questions in this survey

#### Global development pathways

1 [1]Thinking about the causes of climate change, which, if any, of the following describes your opinion?

Please choose only one of the following:

- O There is no such thing as climate change
- Climate change is not happening now, we are experiencing climate variability
- Climate change is happening now, and is entirely related to natural processes
- Climate change is happening now, and is neither related to natural processes or human activities
- Climate change is happening now, and is entirely related to human activities

### 2 [2]

Which of these two issues, if at all, do you think is more important?

- Climate change reducing the carbon emissions from human activities to prevent irreversible damage to the environment.
- Energy security ensuring the supply and access of uninterrupted, secure and affordable energy for all.

Please choose only one of the following:

- C Energy security is the only important issue
- Both but energy security has higher priority
- O Both are equally important
- O Both but climate change has higher priority
- Climate change is the only important issue

## 3 [3]

How important, if at all, do you perceive the following for responding to global climate change and sustainable development?

Please choose the	e appropriate response fo	r each item:				
	Not relevant/applicable	Not at all important	Slightly important	Moderately important	Very important	Extremely important
Investment for public education and health	0	0	0	0	0	0
Empowerment of national and international institutions	0	0	O	0	0	0
Reduction of inequalities between and within countries	0	0	0	0	0	0
Investment for technological development and innovation	0	0	0	0	0	0
Prevention of international and regional conflicts	0	0	0	0	0	0
Reduction of material and resource consumption	0	0	0	0	0	0
the natural environment and other species	0	0	0	0	0	0

# 4 [4]Thinking about nuclear energy as an option for climate change mitigation, which, if any, of the following describes your opinion?

Please choose only one of the following:

 $\bigcirc$  We should not use nuclear energy as the risks far outweigh those of climate change

O We should explore all other energy options to reduce our carbon emissions before building a new nuclear power plant

O Nuclear power plants should be built irrespective of any other energy options

I am willing to support nuclear energy if it would be helpful to support climate change mitigation

We need nuclear energy because we are not able to reduce our carbon emissions by using all other energy options

5 [1]								
How important, if at all, are the following for responding to climate change?								
Please choose the	e appropriate response fo	or each item:						
	Not relevant/applicable	Not important	Slightly important	Moderately important	Important	Very important		
Strengthening of cultural identity	0	0	0	0	0	0		
Strengthening environmental rule-of-law	0	0	0	0	0	0		
Empowerment of social charities and relief agencies	0	0	0	0	0	0		
Investment for nature based services	0	0	0	0	0	0		
Empowerment of businesses and citizens for nature management	0	0	0	0	0	0		

## Energy and climate change mitigation strategies

### 6 [2]

How important, if at all, do you perceive the following energy sources for safe and reliable electricity generation?

Please choose the appropriate response for each item:

	Not important	Slightly important	Moderately important	Important	Very important
Bio-energy	0	0	0	0	0
Domestic coal	0	0	0	0	0
Imported coal	0	0	0	0	0
Natural gas	0	0	0	0	0
Geothermal power	0	0	0	0	0
Hydro-power	0	0	0	0	0
Wind energy	0	0	0	0	0
Solar energy	0	0	0	0	0
Fuel-oil	0	0	0	0	0
Nuclear energy	0	0	$\odot$	$\odot$	0

Page 4 of 9

## 7 [3]

How safe, if at all, would you feel if any of the following installations were built near where you live?

	Not at all safe	Slightly safe	Moderately safe	Very safe	Extremely safe
Coal power plant	0	0	0	0	0
Natural gas power plant	0	0	0	0	0
Biomass power plant	0	0	0	0	0
Wind or solar power plant	0	0	0	$\odot$	0
Hydro power plant	0	0	0	0	0
Nuclear power plant	0	0	0	0	0
Nuclear fuel cycle facility	0	0	0	0	0
Oil refinery	0	0	0	0	0
Natural gas processing and storage facility	0	O	0	0	0
Solid waste landfill	0	0	0	0	0
Radioactive waste processing and storage facility	0	0	0	0	0

## Energy and environmental behavior

8 [1]Which transport mode do you mainly use for coming to and from your workplace?

Please choose only one of the following:

- O Private car
- O Commercial vehicle
- O Personnel/public bus
- O Metro/train
- O Pedestrian/bicycle

# 9 [2]How often, if at all, do you apply the following for household energy efficiency and conservation?

Please choose the appropriate response for each item:

	Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Most of the time	Always
Optimize the flow and temperature of water during daily activities	0	0	0	0	0
Turn off lights and other appliances when leaving the room	0	0	0	0	0
Make sure the dish washer/washing machine is full before using it	0	0	0	0	0
Decide what you want to do before opening the refrigerator door	0	0	0	0	0
Store disposable materials in seperate trash bins	0	0	0	0	0
Repair and reuse materials first instead of replacing them	0	0	0	0	0
Keep windows and doors closed when heating/cooling the house	0	0	0	0	0

### 10 [3]

How much, if at all, are you satisfied of the following for making things better by getting involved in responding to climate change and promoting sustainable development?

Please choose the appropriate response for each item:

National government Local authorities	Very dissatisfied	Dissatisfied	Neutral O	Satisfied	Very satisfied
Scientists working for universities	0	0	0	0	0
Scientists working for government	0	0	0	0	0
Experts working for government	0	0	0	0	0
Non-governmental organizations	0	0	0	0	0
Community leaders Private companies	00	0	00	00	0

## Demographics

What is your gender?

Please choose only one of the following:

O Female

🔘 Male

### 12 [3]

What is your age?

Please choose only one of the following:

- 18-24 years old
- 25-34 years old
- 35-44 years old
- 45 years or older

### 13 [2]

#### What is your professional background?

Please choose only one of the following:

- C Engineering
- 🔘 Law
- O Social sciences
- Statistical sciences
- Other (specify)

Make a comment on your choice here:

METUSurvey - Nuclear energy and climate change

### Page 8 of 9

## 14 [4]

What is the highest degree in school you have completed?

Please choose only one of the following:

O Bachelor's degree

Ø Master's degree

O Doctorate degree

Other (specify)

Make a comment on your choice here:

## METUSurvey - Nuclear energy and climate change

Page 9 of 9

Thank you for participating in our survey. If you want to receive further information you can contact Chief Scientific Investigator of the Coordinated Research Project Prof. Dr. Ramazan Sari (rsari@metu.edu.tr) by e-mail.

Please submit by 31.07.2019 - 00:00

Submit your survey. Thank you for completing this survey.

# **APPENDIX D**

# **R CODE FOR MCA OF MODELING RESULTS**

```
1 library (MCDA)
2
  # load csv file
3
4
  pT <- read.csv(file = "ssp3_mcda.csv", header=TRUE, row.names=1)
5
6
   # the criteries for MCA variables
7
8
   criteriaMinMax <- c("min", "max", "min", "min")</pre>
9
10
  names(criteriaMinMax) <- colnames(pT)</pre>
11
12
  plotRadarPerformanceTable(pT[1:4], criteriaMinMax, overlay=FALSE,
13
   \rightarrow bw=TRUE, lwd =5)
14
  15
  # second attempt
                                    #
16
  # normalization and weighted sum #
17
   *****
18
19
20 # 5 barplots
21 par(mfrow=c(2,2))
  for (i in 1:dim(pT)[2]) {
22
    yaxis <- range(pT[,i])*c(0.90,1.1)</pre>
23
     if (criteriaMinMax[i] =="min")
24
      oPT <- pT[order(pT[,i],decreasing=FALSE),]</pre>
25
     else
26
```

```
oPT <- pT[order(pT[,i],decreasing=TRUE),]</pre>
27
     name <-paste(colnames(pT)[i]," (",criteriaMinMax[i],")", sep="")</pre>
28
     barplot(oPT[,i], main=name, names.arg = rownames(oPT), density
29
      \rightarrow = i*10, ylim = yaxis, xpd=FALSE, cex.names = 0.8)
30
   }
31
   # normalization of the data from the performance table
32
33
   normalizationTypes <- c("percentageOfMax","percentageOfMax","perc ___</pre>
34
    ↔ entageOfMax", "percentageOfMax")
35
   names(normalizationTypes) <- c("g1", "g2", "g3", "g4")</pre>
36
37
   nPT <- normalizePerformanceTable(pT, normalizationTypes)</pre>
38
39
   # weights from expert elicitation survey using 5-point Likert scale
40
41
   w <- c(-5,3,-4,-3)
42
   names(w) <- colnames(pT)</pre>
43
   ws<-weightedSum(nPT,w)
44
45
   # rank the scores of the alternatives
46
  rank(-ws)
47
```